q-Witt vectors and q-Hodge complexes

Ferdinand Wagner

November 7, 2024

Abstract. — In this article, we'll introduce a "q-variant" of Witt vectors and de Rham–Witt complexes. This variant is closely related to the Habiro ring of a number field constructed by Garoufalidis, Scholze, Wheeler, and Zagier [GSWZ], to q-Hodge cohomology, and to THH(-/ku). While most of these connections will only be explored in forthcoming work [MW24; W-Hab], the goal of this article is to provide the necessary technical foundation.

Contents

1.	Introduction	2
2.	<i>q</i> -Witt vectors	8
	2.1. Some technical preliminaries	8
	2.2. Definitions and basic properties	10
	2.3. Injectivity of $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$	23
	2.4. q-Witt vectors of Λ -rings	26
	2.5. Relative q -Witt vectors	29
	2.6. q -Witt vectors and étale morphisms $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	32
3.	q-de Rham–Witt complexes	36
	3.1. Three non-equivalent categories	36
	3.2. Construction of q-de Rham–Witt complexes	39
	3.3. Construction of Frobenii	41
	3.4. Étale base change	49
4.	q-de Rham Witt complexes in the smooth case	52
	4.1. <i>p</i> -Torsion freeness of q -de Rham–Witt complexes $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	53
	4.2. The <i>q</i> -Hodge complex I: Additive Structure	55
	4.3. The <i>q</i> -Hodge complex II: Multiplicative Structure	59
	4.4. Proof of the main results I: The <i>p</i> -typical case	64
	4.5. Proof of the main results II: The global case	71
5.	A no-go result for functoriality of the q-Hodge complex	74
Re	References	

§1. Introduction

In p-adic geometry, one often encounters the ring of (p-typical) Witt vectors W(k), where k is an \mathbb{F}_p -algebra. This ring comes equipped with two natural endomorphisms: A Frobenius $F_p: W(k) \to W(k)$ and a Verschiebung $V_p: W(k) \to W(k)$. These satisfy the well-known relations $F_p \circ V_p = p = V_p \circ F_p$.

The *p*-typical Witt vector ring W(k) has a global analogue, given by the ring of *big Witt* vectors. This ring still admits Frobenii F_p and Verschiebungen V_p for all primes p, but the commutativity of F_p and V_p is lost. The idea that we'll explore in this paper is that upon introducing an auxiliary variable q, one can force F_p and V_p to commute "up to q-twist", without losing any information.

1.1. q-Witt vectors. — Let us now explain this idea in more detail. Fix a positive integer m, a commutative ring R, and let $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ denote the ring of big Witt vectors of R with respect to the truncation set $T_m := \{ \text{divisors of } m \}$. Here the terminology is taken from [Hes15, §1]; we'll review it in 2.5. If d is a divisor of m, then the rings $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ and $\mathbb{W}_d(R)$ are related via a Frobenius $F_{m/d} : \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_d(R)$ and a Verschiebung $V_{m/d} : \mathbb{W}_d(R) \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)$. The Frobenius $F_{m/d}$ is a morphism of rings, whereas the Verschiebung $V_{m/d}$ is only a morphism of abelian groups. These morphisms satisfy

$$F_{m/d} \circ V_{m/d} = m/d;$$

however, there is no equally nice formula for the composition $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d}$. It can be described as multiplication by the element $V_{m/d}(1)$; still, this element is not very explicit. But we can make it explicit as follows. Let $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ be the initial system of $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebras equipped with the following structure:

- (a) For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra map $\mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]/(q^m 1) \to q \mathbb{W}_m(R)$.
- (b) For all divisors $d \mid m$, a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra morphism $F_{m/d} \colon W_m \to W_d$ and a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -module morphism $V_{m/d} \colon W_d \to W_m$. These must be compatible with the usual Frobenii and Verschiebungen on ordinary Witt vectors and satisfy

$$F_{m/d} \circ V_{m/d} = m/d$$
 and $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = [m/d]_{q^d} \coloneqq \frac{q^m - 1}{q^d - 1}$

It'll be shown in Lemma 2.8 that such an initial system does indeed exist and that $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is given by an explicit quotient of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]/(q^m-1)$. We call $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ the ring of *m*-truncated big q-Witt vectors over R.

1.2. Remark. — Despite the name, $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is not a q-deformation of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$. Indeed, in $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)/(q-1)$ the condition $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = m/d$ is enforced. In fact, if $(\overline{\mathbb{W}}_m(R))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ denotes the universal quotient of $(\mathbb{W}_m(R))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that Frobenius and Verschiebung commute, then it's straightforward to check $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)/(q-1) \cong \overline{\mathbb{W}}_m(R)$, so $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is a q-deformation of $\overline{\mathbb{W}}_m(R)$ instead.

There's also a clash of terminology with a construction of Andre Chatzistamatiou. In unpublished work, he introduces q-Witt vectors and q-de Rham-Witt complexes of Λ -rings and uses them to obtain a partial result towards coordinate-independence of the q-de Rham complex (see 1.4 and Theorem 1.5 below). In particular, he was able to construct a homotopy equivalence q- $\Omega^*_{\mathbb{Z}[T]/\mathbb{Z},\square_1} \simeq q$ - $\Omega^*_{\mathbb{Z}[T]/\mathbb{Z},\square_2}$, where \square_1 is the identical framing and $\square_2 \colon \mathbb{Z}[T] \to \mathbb{Z}[T]$ is the framing that maps $T \mapsto T - 1$.

In construct to our constructions, Chatzistamatiou's q-Witt vectors and q-de Rham–Witt complexes are honest q-deformations of their classical counterparts. The author doesn't know whether there is a connection between the constructions in this paper and Chatzistamatiou's.

q-Witt vectors have a number of nice properties. First of all, it can be shown that the canonical map $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is always injective (Proposition 2.27), so we really don't lose any information by enforcing $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = [m/d]_{q^d}$. Second, formulas often become easier than for ordinary Witt vectors. For example, q- $\mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1)$ couldn't be simpler (Corollary 2.36). Third, it turns out that most constructions with and properties of ordinary Witt vectors have analogues for q-Witt vectors, as we'll see throughout §§2–3.

1.3. A theory without restrictions. — The only real exception is that the restriction maps for ordinary Witt vectors do not extend to maps $\operatorname{Res}_{m/d}: q-\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q-\mathbb{W}_d(R)$. In particular, we can't define a big q-Witt ring $q-\mathbb{W}(R) \coloneqq \lim_{m \in \mathbb{N}, \operatorname{Res}} q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$. It is then perhaps a little surprising that the classical theory of de Rham–Witt complexes, as developed by Illusie [Ill79] (building on earlier work of Bloch, Deligne, and Lubkin) for \mathbb{F}_p -algebras and by Langer–Zink [LZ04] in an arbitrary relative setting, should have an analogue for q-Witt vectors. Nevertheless, it works, as we'll demonstrate in §3. What this really shows is that the restrictions weren't actually necessary to set up the classical theory: You can take the universal property from [LZ04] and delete all restrictions from it—this will still give you the same truncated relative de Rham–Witt complexes. The restrictions were only used a posteriori to combine all the truncated complexes into one single complex by taking the limit.

Nevertheless, the lack of restrictions can be annoying. But there seems to be at least some use in considering the limit $\lim_{m \in \mathbb{N}, F} q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ along the Frobenius maps; see [W-Hab].

We've made a point why the study of q-Witt vectors and q-de Rham–Witt complexes can be of independent interest, but the real reason we're interested in them is that they do appear in nature.^(1.1) For one, they can be used to construct the generalised Habiro rings of Garoufalidis and Zagier [GSWZ]. We won't discuss this here (although the name Habiro ring will appear again and be defined below), but refer to the forthcoming paper [W-Hab] instead. What we will discuss is the connection between q-de Rham–Witt complexes and q-Hodge complexes. Before we introduce the latter, let's briefly review the q-de Rham complex.

1.4. q-de Rham complexes. — Jackson [Jac10] defined the q-derivative of a function f(T) via the formula

$$q - \partial f(T) \coloneqq \frac{f(qT) - f(T)}{qT - T}$$

For example, if $f(T) = T^m$ for some integer $m \ge 0$, then $q - \partial f(T) = [m]_q T^{m-1}$, where $[m]_q = 1 + q + \cdots + q^{m-1}$ denotes Gauß's q-analogue of m. Given some base ring A, for a polynomial ring in several variables $A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$, one can consider partial q-derivatives $q - \partial_i$ as well as a q-gradient $q - \nabla := \sum_{i=1}^d q - \partial_i dT_i$: $A[T_1, \ldots, T_n, q] \to \Omega^1_{A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]/A}[q]$; furthermore, these can be organised into a q-de Rham complex. This was first done by Aomoto [Aom90].

Unfortunately, the q-derivative does not interact well with coordinate transformations and so there's no way to make Aomoto's q-de Rham complex independent of the choice of coordinates. An insight how to fix this came from Scholze [Sch17]: First, he observed that after completion at (q-1), the q-de Rham complex can be defined in more general situations. A framed smooth

^(1.1)In fact, the definition was guessed from a computation of $H^0(q-Hdg_{R,\Box}^*/(q^m-1))$; see Theorem 1.7 below.

A-algebra is a pair (R, \Box) , where R is smooth over A and $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \to R$ is an étale map from a polynomial ring; we'll often call \Box an *étale framing* and think of it as a choice of coordinates on Spec R. Using the infinitesimal lifting properties of étale morphisms, one can show that the q-gradient for $A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ extends to a map $q - \nabla : R[[q-1]] \to \Omega^1_{R/A}[[q-1]].^{(1.2)}$ The precise construction will be recalled in 4.8. One can then form the q-de Rham complex of (R, \Box)

$$q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box} \coloneqq \left(R\llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{q - \nabla} \Omega^1_{R/A} \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{q - \nabla} \cdots \xrightarrow{q - \nabla} \Omega^n_{R/A} \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \right).$$

One immediately checks $q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q-1) \cong \Omega^*_{R/A}$, so we get a q-deformation of the de Rham complex. As a complex, $q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}$ suffers from the same coordinate-dependence as before. However, Scholze observed that if A is a Λ -ring, then $q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}$ is coordinate-independent as an object in the derived category D(A[[q-1]])! More precisely, Bhatt and Scholze were able to show the following theorem:

1.5. Theorem (see [BS19, §16] for the essential case). — If A is equipped with a Λ -structure and \mathbb{Z} -torsion free, then there exists a functor

$$q - \Omega_{-/A} \colon \mathrm{Sm}_A \longrightarrow \mathrm{CAlg}\Big(\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{(q-1)}\big(A\llbracket q - 1\rrbracket\big)\Big)$$

from the category of smooth A-algebras into the ∞ -category of (q-1)-complete \mathbb{E}_{∞} -algebras over $A[\![q-1]\!]$, such that $q \cdot \Omega_{-/A}/(q-1) \simeq \Omega_{-/A}$ agrees with the de Rham complex functor and for every framed smooth \mathbb{Z} -algebra (R, \Box) , the underlying object of $q \cdot \Omega_{R/A}$ in the derived ∞ -category of $A[\![q-1]\!]$ can be represented by the complex $q \cdot \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}$.

1.6. *q*-Hodge complexes. — Given a framed smooth *A*-algebra (R, \Box) as above, one can also form the *q*-Hodge complex

$$q\operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^* \coloneqq \left(R\llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{(q-1) q - \nabla} \Omega_{R/A}^1 \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{(q-1) q - \nabla} \cdots \xrightarrow{(q-1) q - \nabla} \Omega_{R/A}^n \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \right)$$

by multiplying all differentials in $q-\Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}$ with (q-1). It's not immediately obvious why that would be an interesting construction—or even a sensible one—so let's give some motivation why one should look at the q-Hodge complex.

The q-Hodge complex was first introduced by Pridham $[Pri19]^{(1.3)}$ who used it to obtain a partial result towards Theorem 1.5. Many results in Pridham's paper are proved for the q-Hodge complex first and then deduced for the q-de Rham complex via $q - \Omega_{R/A,\Box}^* \cong \eta_{(q-1)} q$ -Hdg $_{R/A,\Box}^*$, where $\eta_{(q-1)}$ denotes the Berthelot–Ogus décalage functor (see [BO78] or [Stacks, Tag 0F7N]). This is a first hint that q-Hdg $_{R,\Box}^*$ might be a more fundamental object. A second hint comes from Waßmuth's paper [Waß19]: He introduced a version of the prismatic site in characteristic 0 and showed that the cohomology of that site can be computed by a similar complex as above. A third piece of motivation is the following question:

(\boxtimes) Can the q-de Rham complex, or some modification of it, be descended along $\mathcal{H} \to \mathbb{Z}\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket$? Here \mathcal{H} denotes the Habiro ring

$$\mathcal{H} \coloneqq \lim_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{Z}[q]^{\wedge}_{(q^m - 1)}$$

 $^{^{(1.2)}}$ Here it's crucial that we complete at (q-1) or the lifting wouldn't work.

 $^{^{(1.3)}}$ While Pridham used the notation " $^{\widehat{qDR}}$ ", we've opted for the perhaps more descriptive "q-Hdg".

One reason why (\boxtimes) is a natural question is the general philosophy that whenever you have a deformation at q = 1, you should try to evaluate it at other roots of unity. In general, it's not possible to evaluate arbitrary power series in $\mathbb{Z}[[q-1]]$ at roots of unity. But for power series in the Habiro ring it works—by design.^(1.4) Some more evidence for the existence of a Habiro descent as in (\boxtimes) comes from the construction of generalised Habiro rings in [GSWZ].

While (\boxtimes) probably doesn't work for unmodified q- $\Omega_{R/A}$, there's reason to hope it works for q-Hodge complexes. In Theorem 4.28, we'll show a very promising result, which, for the sake of simplicity, we'll restate here in slightly less precise and less general form:

1.7. Theorem (see Theorem 4.28). — For all framed smooth \mathbb{Z} -algebras (R, \Box) and all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, there is an isomorphism of commutative differential-graded $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebras

$$\left(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}\right)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathrm{H}^*\left(q - \mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}/(q^m - 1)\right)$$

Here $q - W_m \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^*$ denotes the q-de Rham–Witt complex from Definition 3.13, $(-)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$ refers to degree-wise (q-1)-completion, and we turn the cohomology $H^*(q-Hdg_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}^*/(q^m-1))$ into a commutative differential-graded $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra via the Bockstein differential.

1.8. Remark. — There's a similar isomorphism $\mathrm{H}^*(q - \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}/\Phi_p(q)) \cong (\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p])_p^{\wedge}$ for all primes p, see [Sch17, Proposition 3.4]. More generally, Molokov [Mol22] relates $\mathrm{H}^*(q - \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}/[p^{\alpha}]_q)$ to $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ for all $\alpha \ge 1$. But note the shift in the index! This shift prevents us from, say, relating $\mathrm{H}^*(q - \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}/[m]_q)$ to $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$, and so it's entirely unclear whether these results for q-de Rham cohomology can be globalised.

In contrast, replacing $q - \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}$ with $q - \text{Hdg}^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}$ and $[m]_q$ with $q^m - 1$ has the effect of "introducing another ghost component", which makes a global result like Theorem 1.7 possible.

Theorem 1.7 looks like q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/\mathbb{Z},\square$} could be made coordinate-independent (at least in the derived category). And even better: The fact that H^{*}(q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/\mathbb{Z},\square}/(<math>q^m - 1$)) is canonically the (q-1)-completion of something else seems to hint that q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/\mathbb{Z},\square$} might indeed be the (q-1)-completion of an object over the Habiro ring! But something strange goes wrong:</sub>

1.9. Theorem (see Theorem 5.1). — There is no functor q-Hdg_{$-/\mathbb{Z}$}: Sm_{\mathbb{Z}} $\rightarrow \mathcal{D}_{(q-1)}(\mathbb{Z}\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket)$ that also makes the identifications from Theorem 1.7 functorial.

Theorem 1.9 is a very unwelcome surprise. It doesn't rule out that the construction $q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/\mathbb{Z},\square}$ can somehow be made functorial, but such a functor would be very weird and probably of limited use. In forthcoming work [W-Hab], we'll explain a partial fix, showing that a functorial *derived* q-Hodge complex exists on a certain full subcategory of all commutative rings, satisfies a derived version of Theorem 1.7, and we'll relate it to $\mathrm{THH}(-/\mathrm{ku})$. Furthermore, we'll show that this functor does descend to the Habiro ring, thus giving at least a partial affirmative answer to question (\boxtimes).

1.10. Notation and conventions. — As usual, we'll write $[m]_q = 1 + q + \cdots + q^{m-1}$ for the Gaußian *q*-analogue of an integer $m \ge 0$. More generally, if *d* is any positive divisor of *m*, we'll use the notation

$$[m/d]_{q^d} \coloneqq 1 + q^d + (q^d)^2 \dots + (q^d)^{m/d-1} = \frac{q^m - 1}{q^d - 1}$$

^(1.4)In fact, \mathcal{H} can be viewed as as the ring of those power series in $\mathbb{Z}[\![q-1]\!]$ that can also be Taylor-expanded around each root of unity.

We also let $\Phi_m(q)$ denote the m^{th} cyclotomic polynomial. So $[p]_q = \Phi_p(q)$ and we'll sometimes switch back and forth between these two notations.

Since we're mostly working with cochain complexes, we'll use cohomological indexing. We'll also use some ∞ -categoric language. If R is a ring, the derived ∞ -category of R will be denoted $\mathcal{D}(R)$. If M^* is a cochain complex, then its image in $\mathcal{D}(R)$ will usually be denoted M. We'll usually say that a sequence $K \to L \to M$ in $\mathcal{D}(R)$ is a *fibre/cofibre sequence* instead of writing that $K \to L \to M \to K[1]$ is a distinguished triangle in the ordinary derived category $\mathcal{D}(R)$. Following Clausen–Scholze, we'll say that an object $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$ is *static* ("*un-animated*") if Mis concentrated in degree 0. Furthermore, we often use the derived quotient notation: If $f \in R$ and $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$,

$$M/^{\mathrm{L}}f \coloneqq \operatorname{cofib}(f \colon M \to M)$$

denotes the cofibre taken in $\mathcal{D}(R)$, or equivalently the cone in D(R), of the multiplication map $f: M \to M$. For multiple elements $f_1, \ldots, f_r \in R$, we let

$$M/^{\mathrm{L}}(f_1,\ldots,f_r) \coloneqq \left(\ldots (M/^{\mathrm{L}}f_1)/^{\mathrm{L}}\ldots\right)/^{\mathrm{L}}f_r.$$

In the case where M is static, so that it can be regarded as an R-module, the object $M/^{L}(f_{1}, \ldots, f_{r}) \in \mathcal{D}(R)$ has an explicit representative given by the homological Koszul complex Kos_{*} $(M, (f_{1}, \ldots, f_{r}))$, which, according to our indexing conventions, we regard as a cochain complex in nonpositive degrees.

Finally, the notion of derived I-completeness for finitely generated ideals $I \subseteq R$ will be ubiquitous throughout the text. If I = (f) is principal, we say that $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$ is derived f-complete if $M \simeq \lim_{n \ge 1} M/^{L} f^{n}$, where the limit is taken in the derived ∞ -category (so it corresponds to a derived limit in the ordinary derived category). In general, M is called derived I-complete if it is derived f-complete for all $f \in I$, or equivalently, for all f in a generating set of I, see [Stacks, Tag 091Q]. We'll use the following (abuse of) notation: If $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$, we denote its derived I-completion by \widehat{M}_{I} (or $(-)_{I}^{\wedge}$ for larger expressions). If, instead, M^{*} is a cochain complex, then \widehat{M}_{I}^{*} denotes its degree-wise underived I-completion. However, whenever we use the latter notation in this paper, it will always be true that \widehat{M}_{I}^{*} represents the derived I-completion of M (which we'll usually have to justify), so the notation will never be inconsistent! We also denote by $\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{I}(R)$ the full sub- ∞ -category of $\mathcal{D}(R)$ spanned by the derived I-complete objects.

A complex $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$ is called *I*-completely flat if $M \otimes_R^L R/I$ is discrete and flat over R/I. A ring morphism $R \to S$ is called *I*-completely smooth if S is derived *I*-complete, *I*-completely flat over R, and $S \otimes_R^L R/I$ is smooth over R/I. In the same way, the terms *I*-completely étale and *I*-completely ind-smooth/étale are defined. It can be shown that S is *I*-completely smooth/étale over R if and only if it is the derived *I*-completion of a smooth/étale R-algebra, see [BS19, footnote 6 on page 11].

1.11. Leitfaden of this paper. — The main ideas in this paper are already contained in the author's master thesis [Wag21], but here we develop the theory of q-Witt vectors and q-de Rham–Witt complexes in a much more systematic way, in more generality, and most importantly, without the (q-1)-completeness assumption. This results in quite some additional work, but also in a much simpler proof of Theorem 1.7, and the additional generality will be needed in [W-Hab].

In \$2, we'll introduce q-Witt vectors and prove many technical results about them that will be needed later on. If you're mainly interested in the application to q-Hodge complexes, you

may want read up to Proposition 2.14 and then skip the rest of §2.2 as well as §2.3. In §3, we'll introduce q-de Rham–Witt complexes. The most work in that section goes into proving that q-de Rham–Witt complexes carry a natural choice of Frobenius operators. Again, this is technical, and if you're willing to take it on faith, you can skip §3.3 to save you some time. In §4, we'll study q-de Rham–Witt complexes for smooth \mathbb{Z} -algebras. This includes a proof of Theorem 1.7, but we'll also show that they are degree-wise p-torsion free. Finally, in §5 we'll give a proof of Theorem 1.9.

1.12. Acknowledgements. — Due to the unsatisfying nature of Theorem 1.9, I've long hesitated to turn my master thesis into a paper. With at least a partial fix in sight [MW24; W-Hab], I've now finally decided to put these ideas forward. I'd like to thank my advisor Peter Scholze for his support throughout this project. I'd also like to thank Johannes Anschütz and Quentin Gazda for their interest in my work and their encouragement to finally turn this work into a preprint.

This work was carried out while I was a master/Ph.D. student at the University/Max Planck Institute for Mathematics in Bonn and I'd like to thank these institutions for their hospitality. I was supported by DFG through Peter Scholze's Leibniz-Preis.

§2. *q*-Witt vectors

In this section we'll introduce a functor which associates to any ring R a system of rings $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, called the *truncated* q-*Witt vectors of* R. After a brief recollection of some facts about cyclotomic polynomials in §2.1, we'll give the definition of $q-\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ and study some basic properties in §2.2. In §2.4 and §2.6 we'll study the behaviour of $q-\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ on Λ -rings and under étale ring morphisms.

§2.1. Some technical preliminaries

We record some elementary facts about cyclotomic polynomials that will be used throughout the text.

2.1. Lemma. — Let m and n be positive integers and let $R = \mathbb{Z}[q]/(\Phi_m(q), \Phi_n(q))$. Let $d = \gcd(m, n)$. If p is a prime factor of m/d or n/d, then p = 0 in R. In particular, the ring R vanishes unless $m/n = p^{\alpha}$ for some prime p and some $\alpha \in \mathbb{Z}$. In the latter case, $R \cong \mathbb{F}_p[q]/\Phi_{\min\{m,n\}}(q)$.

Proof. Clearly $q^m = q^n = 1$ in R, hence also $q^d = 1$ in R. If p divides m/d, then this implies $q^{m/p} = 1$. But also

$$[p]_{q^{m/p}} = 1 + q^{m/p} + (q^{m/p})^2 + \dots + (q^{m/p})^{p-1} = 0$$

in R, because $\Phi_m(q)$ divides the left-hand side. Thus p = 0, as claimed. The case where p divides n/d is analogous. This immediately implies the second assertion. For the third one, assume $\alpha \ge 0$ without restriction and use that

$$\Phi_n(q) \equiv \Phi_{mp^{\alpha}}(q) \equiv \begin{cases} \Phi_m(q)^{p^{\alpha}} & \text{if } p \mid m \\ \Phi_m(q)^{(p-1)p^{\alpha}} & \text{if } p \nmid m \end{cases} \mod p$$

holds in this case.

2.2. Lemma. — Let m be a positive integer. Then the following ideals of $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ are equal:

 $([p]_{q^{m/p}} \mid p \text{ prime factor of } m) = (\Phi_m(q)).$

Proof. The inclusion " \subseteq " is clear, so it suffices to show that $[p]_{q^{m/p}}/\Phi_m(q)$ generate the unit ideal in $\mathbb{Z}[q]$. If m has only one prime factor, this is trivial because then $[p]_{q^{m/p}}/\Phi_m(q) = 1$. So assume m has at least two prime factors. For any prime factor p of m, let I_p be the set of divisors $d \mid m$ such that $d \neq m$ and $v_p(d) = v_p(m)$. Then

$$\frac{\lfloor p \rfloor_{q^{p^m}}}{\Phi_m(q)} = \prod_{d \in I_p} \Phi_d(q) \,.$$

We wish to apply Lemma 2.3 below. To verify the condition, we have to check that for any choice of elements $(d_p \in I_p)_p$ prime factor of m, the ideal $(\Phi_{d_p}(q) \mid p)$ prime factor of m) is the unit ideal in $\mathbb{Z}[q]$. In fact, we claim that there must be prime factor $p \neq \ell$ of m such that $d_p \nmid d_\ell$ and $d_\ell \nmid d_p$, so that already $\Phi_{d_p}(q)$ and $\Phi_{d_\ell}(q)$ generate the unit ideal by Lemma 2.1. Indeed, if no such p and ℓ exist, then the set $\{d_p \mid p \text{ prime factor of } m\}$ would be totally ordered with respect to division, but then the maximal d_p would have $v_\ell(d_p) \ge v_\ell(d_\ell) = v_\ell(m)$ for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$, forcing $d_p = m$, in contradiction to our assumptions. This shows that Lemma 2.3 can be applied and we're done.

2.3. Lemma. — Let $(I_j)_{j \in J}$ be finite sets indexed by another finite set J. Let $((x_{i_j})_{i_j \in I_j})_{j \in J}$ be a J-tuple of I_j -tuples of elements of a ring R. Suppose that for any choice of indices $(i_j \in I_j)_{j \in J}$ the ideal $(x_{i_j} \mid j \in J)$ is the unit ideal in R. Then $(\prod_{i_j \in I_j} x_{i_j} \mid j \in J)$ is the unit ideal as well.

Proof. We do induction on $\sum_{j \in J} |I_j|$. If $|I_j| = 1$ for all $j \in J$, the assertion is trivial. So choose elements $s, t \in I_k, x \neq y$, for some index $k \in J$ such that $|I_k| \ge 2$. We claim that the condition still holds if we remove x_s and x_t from the tuple $(x_{i_k})_{i_k \in I_k}$ and add $x_s x_t$ instead. Indeed, the only thing we have to check is the following: For any choice of indices $(i_j \in I_j)_{j \in J, j \neq k}$, the ideal $(x_s x_t, x_{i_j} \mid j \in J, j \neq k)$ is the unit ideal in R. But this follows from

$$(x_s x_t, x_{i_j} \mid j \in J, j \neq k) \supseteq (x_s, x_{i_j} \mid j \in J, j \neq k) (x_t, x_{i_j} \mid j \in J, j \neq k)$$

and the fact that the right-hand side is R by assumption.

Furthermore, we'll frequently use the following technical lemma.

2.4. Lemma. — Let R be a ring. Let I_1, \ldots, I_r be finitely many finitely generated ideals of R and let f_1, \ldots, f_s be a finitely many elements of A such that on the level of underlying sets we have $\operatorname{Spec} R = \bigcup_{j=1}^r \operatorname{Spec} R/I_j \cup \bigcup_{k=1}^s \operatorname{Spec} R[1/f_k]$. Then the functors

$$(-)_{I_j}^{\wedge} \colon \mathcal{D}(R) \longrightarrow \mathcal{D}(R) \quad and \quad (-) \left[\frac{1}{f_k}\right] \colon \mathcal{D}(R) \to \mathcal{D}(R)$$

are jointly conservative for $j = 1, \ldots, r, k = 1, \ldots, s$.

Proof. We do induction on r. The case r = 0 follows from the case r = 1 by choosing I_1 to be the unit ideal. So let's first consider r = 1. In this case we're given a finitely generated ideal $I \coloneqq I_1$ and elements f_1, \ldots, f_s such that $\operatorname{Spec} R = \operatorname{Spec} R/I \cup \bigcup_{k=1}^s \operatorname{Spec} R[1/f_k]$. Then I is contained in the radical of the ideal (f_1, \ldots, f_s) , hence derived (f_1, \ldots, f_s) -adic completion factors through derived I-adic completion. So we may assume that I is generated by the f_k .

Now let $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$. It suffices to show that $M_I \simeq 0$ and $M[1/f_k] \simeq 0$ for all $k = 1, \ldots, s$ together imply $M \simeq 0$. Write $U = \operatorname{Spec} R \smallsetminus V(I)$ and let

$$\mathrm{R}\Gamma(U,\mathcal{O}_U) \simeq \left(\prod_k R\left[\frac{1}{f_k}\right] \to \prod_{k < \ell} R\left[\frac{1}{f_k f_\ell}\right] \to \ldots \to R\left[\frac{1}{f_1 \cdots f_s}\right]\right)$$

denote the derived global sections of U, which can be computed by an alternating Čech complex as indicated. Let $M \in \mathcal{D}(R)$. Then $\widehat{M}_I \simeq \operatorname{RHom}_R(\operatorname{cofib}(R \to \operatorname{R\Gamma}(U, \mathcal{O}_U)), M)$, see e.g. [Stacks, Tag 091V]. Hence $\widehat{M}_I \simeq 0$ implies that $R \to \operatorname{R\Gamma}(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$ induces an equivalence

$$\operatorname{RHom}_R(\operatorname{R\Gamma}(U,\mathcal{O}_U),M) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{RHom}_R(R,M) \simeq M$$

Applying $\operatorname{RHom}_R(M, -)$ shows $\operatorname{RHom}_R(M \otimes_R^L \operatorname{R}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U), M) \simeq \operatorname{RHom}_R(M, M)$. In particular, the identity on M factors through $M \otimes_R^L \operatorname{R}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$, which means that M must be a direct summand of $M \otimes_R^L \operatorname{R}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$. Since $\operatorname{R}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$ is an idempotent \mathbb{E}_{∞} -R-algebra, one can even show $M \simeq M \otimes_A^L \operatorname{R}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U)$, but we won't need that. Using the above representation as a Čech complex, we see that $M[1/f_k] \simeq 0$ for all $k = 1, \ldots, s$ implies $M \otimes_R^L \operatorname{R}\Gamma(U, \mathcal{O}_U) \simeq 0$. Hence also its direct summand M must vanish, as claimed.

Now let $r \ge 2$ and assume that the assertion has been proved for r-1 many ideals. Again, it's enough to show that $\widehat{M}_{I_j} \simeq 0$ and $M[1/f_k] \simeq 0$ jointly imply $M \simeq 0$. By the case r = 1it's enough to show $M[1/f] \simeq 0$, where f ranges through a finite generating set of I_r . But $\operatorname{Spec} R[1/f] = \bigcup_{j=1}^{r-1} \operatorname{Spec} R[1/f]/I_j \cup \bigcup_{k=1}^s \operatorname{Spec} R[1/(f_k f)]$, so the desired vanishing of M[1/f]follows by applying the induction hypothesis to the ring R[1/f].

§2.2. Definitions and basic properties

2.5. Truncated big Witt vectors à la [Hes15, §1]. — We'll briefly recall the construction of truncated big Witt vectors, as well as the Frobenius and Verschiebung maps, following Hesselholt's exposition.

Let R be an arbitrary commutative, but not necessarily unital ring, and $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ a subset which is closed under divisors (a *truncation set* in Hesselholt's terminology). The (*S*-truncated) big Witt ring $\mathbb{W}_S(R)$ is constructed as follows: As a set, $\mathbb{W}_S(R)$ is given by R^S . Its ring structure is uniquely determined by the condition that for all $n \in S$ the ghost map $gh_n: \mathbb{W}_S(R) \to R$ given by

$$\operatorname{gh}_n((x_i)_{i\in S}) \coloneqq \sum_{d|n} dx_d^{n/a}$$

is a morphism of rings and functorial in R.

For us, S will always be the set T_m of positive divisors of some integer m, and we'll write $\mathbb{W}_m(R) = \mathbb{W}_{T_m}(R)$ for short. By [Hes15, Lemmas 1.3–1.5], for every divisor $d \mid m$ there are Frobenius and Verschiebung maps

$$F_{m/d} \colon \mathbb{W}_m(R) \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}_d(R) \quad \text{and} \quad V_{m/d} \colon \mathbb{W}_d(R) \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}_d(R)$$

such that $F_{m/d}$ is a ring map and $V_{m/d}$ is a map of abelian groups (in fact, a map of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ modules if we equip $\mathbb{W}_d(R)$ with the $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -module structure induced by $F_{m/d}$). If n = m/dand the numbers m and d are clear from the context (or irrelevant), we abuse notation and write just $F_n \coloneqq F_{m/d}$ and $V_n \coloneqq V_{m/d}$. These maps fulfil the following relations: For all chains of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$ we have

$$F_{d/e} \circ F_{m/d} = F_{m/e}$$
 and $V_{m/d} \circ V_{d/e} = V_{m/e}$.

Furthermore, if $n \ge 1$ is arbitrary and k is coprime to n, then $F_n \circ V_n = n$ and $F_n \circ V_k = V_k \circ F_n$, where we use the abuse of notation we just warned about. Finally, there's a multiplicative section of $gh_m \colon \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R$, called the *Teichmüller lift*^(2.1)

$$\tau_m(-)\colon R\to \mathbb{W}_m(R)$$
.

The Teichmüller lift interacts with the Frobenius and the Verschiebung via the formulas

$$F_{m/d}\tau_m(r) = \tau_d(r)^{m/d}$$
 and $x = \sum_{d|m} V_{m/d}\tau_d(x_{m/d})$

for all $r \in R$ and all $x = (x_d)_{d|m} \in \mathbb{W}_m(R)$.

2.6. Remark. — If $m = p^n$ is a prime power, then $\mathbb{W}_{p^n}(R) \cong W_{n+1}(R)$ equals the ring of truncated *p*-typical Witt vectors of length n+1. Furthermore, the Frobenii and Verschiebungen F_p and V_p coincide with their *p*-typical namesakes F and V, as does the Teichmüller lift.

Now we can start to define what q-Witt vectors are.

2.7. Definition. — Fix a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring R. A q-FV-system of rings over R is a system of $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebras $(W_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$, together with the following structure:

^(2.1)We choose $\tau_m(-)$ over the standard-notation [-] to distinguish between Teichmüller lifts to $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ for various m, but also to avoid confusion with the elements $[m/d]_{q^d} = (q^m - 1)/(q^d - 1)$ in $\mathbb{Z}[q]$

- (a) For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra map $\mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]/(q^m 1) \to W_m$.
- (b) For all divisors $d \mid m$, a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra morphism $F_{m/d} \colon W_m \to W_d$ and a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -module morphism $V_{m/d} \colon W_d \to W_m$. These must be compatible with the usual Frobenii and Verschiebungen on ordinary Witt vectors (via the morphisms from (a)) and satisfy

 $F_{m/d} \circ V_{m/d} = m/d$ and $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = [m/d]_{q^d}$.

These objects form an obvious category, which we denote $\operatorname{CRing}_{R}^{q-FV}$.

2.8. Lemma. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring. The category $\operatorname{CRing}_{R}^{q-FV}$ has an initial object $(q-\mathbb{W}_{m}(R))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. It can be explicitly described as

$$q$$
- $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]/\mathbb{I}_m$

where \mathbb{I}_m is the ideal generated by the following two kinds of generators:

- (a) $(q^d 1) \operatorname{im} V_{m/d}$ for all divisors $d \mid m$, and
- (b) $\operatorname{im}([d/e]_{a^e}V_{m/d} V_{m/e}F_{d/e})$ for all chains of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$.

2.9. Definition. — Let R a commutative but not necessarily unital ring and let m be a positive integer. The ring q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ from Lemma 2.8 is called the ring of *m*-truncated big q-Witt vectors over R.^(2.2)

2.10. Remark. — Despite the name, $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is almost never a q-deformation of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$. Indeed, we have $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = m/d$ in the quotient $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)/(q-1)$. This is usually not satisfied for ordinary Witt vectors, so $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)/(q-1)$ fails to be injective. By contrast, $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is always injective, as we'll see in Proposition 2.27. So enforcing the condition $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d}$ doesn't lose any information.

Proof of Lemma 2.8. If we can show that the $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linearly extended Frobenii and Verschiebungen $F_{m/d}: \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q] \to \mathbb{W}_d(R)[q]$ and $V_{m/d}: \mathbb{W}_d(R)[q] \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]$ descend to maps between $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ and $q-\mathbb{W}_d(R)$, then the claimed universal property will follow in a straightforward way from the definition. Furthermore, it's immediate from the definition of \mathbb{I}_m that the Verschiebungen descend as required. So it remains to prove the same for the Frobenii. It'll be enough to show $F_p(\mathbb{I}_m) \subseteq \mathbb{I}_{m/p}$ for all prime factors $p \mid m$.

Let's first consider generators of the form $(q^d - 1)V_{m/d}x$ for $x \in W_d(R)$. Depending on whether $n \coloneqq m/d$ is coprime to p or not, the relations from 2.5 yield, respectively,

$$F_p((q^d - 1)V_n x) = (q^d - 1)V_n(F_p x) \quad \text{or} \quad F_p((q^d - 1)V_n x) = p(q^d - 1)V_{(m/p)/d} x$$

In either case, we get an element of $\mathbb{I}_{m/p}$. Now let's consider the second type of generators of the form $[d/e]_{q^e}V_{m/d}x - V_{m/e}F_{d/e}x$ for some $x \in \mathbb{W}_d(R)$. Once again we need to do a case distinction.

Case 1: p divides both m/d and m/e. In this case we can use an easy computation as above to show that F_p sends the element into $\mathbb{I}_{m/p}$.

^(2.2)Beware that this definition is not consistent with [Wag21, Definition 5.3]. The ring that was denoted q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ there coincides with q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}$, at least under mild hypothesis (namely those of Corollary 2.25); indeed, this follows from a simple comparison of universal properties. Since we want to develop our theory in a non-(q-1)-completed setting (which we'll need for the upcoming applications [W-Hab; MW24]), it seemed the right thing to change the notation, despite the confusion this may cause.

Case 2: p is coprime to both m/d and m/e. Let's write $m_0 \coloneqq m/p$, $d_0 \coloneqq d/p$, and $e_0 \coloneqq e/p$ for short. Using the relations from 2.5, we can compute

$$F_p([d/e]_{q^e}V_{m/d}x - V_{m/e}F_{d/e}x)$$

$$= [d/e]_{q^e}V_{m_0/d_0}(F_px) - V_{m_0/e_0}F_{d_0/e_0}(F_px)$$

$$= [d_0/e_0]_{q^{e_0}}V_{m_0/d_0}(F_px) - V_{m_0/e_0}F_{d_0/e_0}(F_px) + ([d/e]_{q^e} - [d_0/e_0]_{q^{e_0}})V_{m_0/d_0}(F_px)$$

The first summand is contained in $\mathbb{I}_{m/p}$ by definition. Regarding the second summand, observe that our assumptions imply that p is coprime to $d/e = d_0/e_0$ and therefore the sequences $\{1, q^{e/p}, (q^{e/p})^2 \dots, (q^{e/p})^{d/e-1}\}$ and $\{1, q^e, (q^e)^2 \dots, (q^e)^{d/e-1}\}$ coincide modulo $q^{d/p} - 1$ up to permutation. Thus $[d/e]_{q^e} - [d_0/e_0]_{q^{e_0}}$ is divisible by $q^{d/p} - 1 = q^{d_0} - 1$ and so the second summand is also contained in $\mathbb{I}_{m/p}$.

Case 3: p is coprime to m/d, but not to m/e. Put $m_0 \coloneqq m/p$ and $d_0 \coloneqq d/p$ again. Using the relations from 2.5, we can compute

$$\begin{split} F_p([d/e]_{q^e}V_{m/d}x - V_{m/e}F_{d/e}x) \\ &= [d/e]_{q^e}V_{m_0/d_0}(F_px) - pV_{m_0/e}F_{d/e}x \\ &= p([d_0/e]_{q^e}V_{m_0/d_0}(F_px) - V_{m_0/e}F_{d_0/e}(F_px)) + ([p]_{q^{d_0}} - p)[d_0/e]_{q^e}V_{m_0/d_0}(F_px) \,. \end{split}$$

The first summand is again contained in $\mathbb{I}_{m/p}$ by definition. Regarding the second summand, we observe $[p]_{q^{d_0}} \equiv p \mod q^{d_0} - 1$ and so $[p]_{q^{d_0}}[d_0/e]_{q^e} \equiv p[d_0/e]_{q^e} \mod q^{d_0} - 1$. Hence the second summand is contained in $(q^{d_0} - 1) \operatorname{im} V_{m_0/d_0}$, which is in turn contained in $\mathbb{I}_{m/p}$ by definition. This finishes the proof.

2.11. Remark. — The proof of Lemma 2.8 shows that a similar universal property also holds for every truncated sequence: If $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ is any truncation set (in the sense of 2.5), we define an *S*-truncated *q*-FV-system of rings to be a system $(W_m)_{m\in S}$ equipped with the structure from Definition 2.7(*a*), (*b*) for all $m \in S$. Then $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R))_{m\in S}$ is initial among such systems. This observation will often be used, as its often easier to verify this "truncated" version of the universal property.

2.12. Ghost maps and Teichmüller lifts for q-Witt vectors. — We can construct analogues of the ghost maps for q-Witt vectors as follows: Recall that the classical ghost map $\operatorname{gh}_1: \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R$ can be identified with quotienting out the images of all Verschiebungen. For q-Witt vectors, we compute:

$$q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_p \mid p \text{ prime factor of } m) \cong \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]/(\mathbb{I}_m, \operatorname{im} V_p \mid p \text{ prime factor of } m)$$

 $\cong R[q]/([p]_{q^{m/p}} \mid p \text{ prime factor of } m)$
 $\cong R[q]/\Phi_m(q).$

The isomorphism in the second line follows from $\mathbb{W}_m(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_p \mid p)$ prime factor of $m) \cong R$ and the third isomorphism follows from Lemma 2.2. Therefore we obtain a canonical projection

$$\operatorname{gh}_1: q\operatorname{-W}_m(R) \longrightarrow R[\zeta_m]$$

where $R[\zeta_m] := R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ (so that ζ_m denotes an m^{th} root of unity). The map gh_1 will be regarded as the first ghost map. In general, we define

$$\operatorname{gh}_{m/d} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_m(R) \longrightarrow R[\zeta_d]$$

as the composition of $F_{m/d}: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_d(R)$ with $gh_1: q - \mathbb{W}_d(R) \to R[\zeta_d]$. One immediately verifies that the ghost maps for q-Witt vectors are compatible with the ordinary ghost maps in the sense that

commutes. Furthermore, there is also a Teichmüller lift

$$\tau_m(-) \colon R \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$$

given as the composition of $\tau_m(-): R \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ with the canonical map $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$.

2.13. What about Restrictions? — Unfortunately, it turns out that the usual restriction maps $\operatorname{Res}_{m/d} : \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_d(R)$ do not extend to $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra morphisms between $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ and $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R)$. Indeed, such a morphism would necessarily commute with the Verschiebungen and thus induce a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra morphism

$$R[\zeta_m] = R[q]/\Phi_m(q) \longrightarrow R[q]/\Phi_d(q) = R[\zeta_d],$$

which fails to exist even in very simple cases (e.g. $m = p^{\alpha}$ is a prime power, R is not a ring of characteristic p). So it seems that there are no analogues of restrictions in our theory, and in particular, there is no ring $q - W(R) = \lim_{m \in \mathbb{N}, \operatorname{Res}_{m/d}} q - W_m(R)$ of un-truncated q-Witt vectors.

In the rest of this subsection, we'll show that various properties of ordinary Witt vectors carry over to q-Witt vectors. Our main technical tool will be the following proposition.

2.14. Proposition. — Let R a commutative but not necessarily unital ring and let m be a positive integer. Let p_1, \ldots, p_r be the prime factors of m (assumed to be distinct). Then the following "augmented Koszul complex" is exact:

$$\dots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{i < j} q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p_i p_j}(R) \xrightarrow{(V_{p_i} - V_{p_j})} \bigoplus_i q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p_i}(R) \xrightarrow{(V_{p_i})} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{gh}_1} R[\zeta_m] \longrightarrow 0.$$

2.15. Remark. — For the sake of clarity, let us give a precise description of the "augmented Koszul complex" in Proposition 2.14. For every subset $S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$, put $p_S = \prod_{i \in S} p_i$. Then the complex above is given by $\bigoplus_{\#S=i} q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(R)$ in homological degree i-1 (so that $R[\zeta_m]$ sits in homological degree -2). Furthermore, the differentials are determined as follows: For a subset $S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$ and an element $j \notin S$, the component $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S \cup \{j\}}(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(R)$ of the differential is given by

$$\pm V_{p_j} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_{m/p_S p_j}(R) \longrightarrow q \operatorname{-W}_{m/p_S}(R) ,$$

where the sign follows a "Koszul-like" sign rule. That is, the sign is +1 if $\#\{i \in S \mid i < j\}$ is even and -1 if that number is odd.

More succinctly, let T be the set of all positive integers whose prime factors are a subset of $\{p_1, \ldots, p_r\}$. Let $q - \mathbb{W}_T(R) \coloneqq \bigoplus_{t \in T} q - \mathbb{W}_t(R)$. The Verschiebungen V_{p_i} can be viewed as endomorphisms of $q - \mathbb{W}_T(R)$ which respect the direct sum decomposition (up to an indexing shift). One can form the Koszul complex of the commuting endomorphisms $(V_{p_1}, \ldots, V_{p_r})$; furthermore, this comes with a canonical augmentation to $R[\zeta_T] \coloneqq \bigoplus_{t \in T} R[\zeta_t]$. The complex from Proposition 2.14 is then a direct summand of this augmented Koszul complex.

§2. q-Witt vectors

The proof of Proposition 2.14 that we'll present avoids most calculations, at the cost of using some ∞ -categorical trickery. We don't know if there is any direct proof that avoids this heavy machinery. The first step will be to handle the case when m is a prime power, which is fairly explicit and the only real calculation we'll have to do.

2.16. Lemma. — Let R a commutative but not necessarily unital ring and let $m = p^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \ge 1$, be a prime power. Then the following sequence is exact:

$$0 \longrightarrow q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R) \xrightarrow{V_p} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \xrightarrow{\mathrm{gh}_1} R[\zeta_{p^{\alpha}}] \longrightarrow 0.$$

Proof. Exactness on the right is clear from the discussion in 2.12, so it's enough to show that $V_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$ is injective. Let $x \in \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)[q]$ and assume that the element $V_p(x) \in W_{p^{\alpha}}(R)[q]$ vanishes in $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$, i.e., $V_p(x)$ is contained in $\mathbb{I}_{p^{\alpha}}$. Recall from Definition 2.9 that the ideal $\mathbb{I}_{p^{\alpha}}$ has two kinds of generators: First the elements in the image of $(q^d - 1)V_{m/d}$ for every divisor $d \mid m$; then d must be of the form $d = p^i$ for $0 \leq i \leq \alpha$. And second the elements in the image of $[d/e]_{q^e}V_{m/d} - V_{m/e}F_{d/e}$ for every chain of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$; then $d = p^i$ and $e = p^j$ for some $0 \leq j \leq i \leq \alpha$. We may furthermore assume j < i, as the corresponding generators are 0 in the case e = d. In total, we see that we can write

$$V_p(x) = \sum_{0 \le i \le \alpha} (q^{p^i} - 1) V_{p^{\alpha - i}}(y_i) + \sum_{0 \le j < i \le \alpha} ([p^{i-j}]_{q^{p^j}} V_{p^{\alpha - i}}(z_{i,j}) - V_{p^{\alpha - j}} F_{p^{i-j}}(z_{i,j}))$$

for some $y_i \in \mathbb{W}_{p^i}(R)[q]$ and some $z_{i,j} \in \mathbb{W}_{p^i}(R)[q]$. We're free to change x by elements from $\mathbb{I}_{p^{\alpha-1}}$, so let's do that to simplify the equation above. If $0 \leq i < \alpha$, then $p^i \mid p^{\alpha-1}$, hence x and $x - (q^{p^i} - 1)V_{p^{\alpha-1-i}}(y_i)$ agree modulo $\mathbb{I}_{p^{\alpha-1}}$. Replacing x by the latter, the corresponding summand in the equation above cancels, so we may assume $y_i = 0$ for all $0 \leq i < \alpha$. Furthermore, if $0 \leq j < i < \alpha$, then $p^j \mid p^i \mid p^{\alpha-1}$ is a chain of divisors. Consequently, we may replace x by $x - [p^{i-j}]_{q^{p^j}}V_{p^{(\alpha-1)-i}}(z_{i,j}) - V_{p^{(\alpha-1)-j}}F_{p^{i-j}}(z_{i,j})$ to assume $z_{i,j} = 0$. Finally, if we replace x by $x - \sum_{0 \leq j < \alpha} ([p^{(\alpha-1)-j}]_{q^{p^j}}F_p(z_{\alpha,j}) - V_{p^{(\alpha-1)-j}}F_{p^{(\alpha-1)-j}}(F_pz_{\alpha,j}))$, then the summands corresponding to $z_{\alpha,j}$ won't quite cancel, but at least the equation above can be simplified to

$$V_p(x) = (q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)y + \Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)z - V_pF_p(z),$$

where $y = y_{\alpha}$ and $z = \sum_{0 \leq j < \alpha} [p^{(\alpha-1)-j}]_{q^{p^j}} z_{\alpha,j}$.

This is now much easier to work with. We see that $V_p(x + F_p(z)) \in \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)[q]$ is divisible by $\Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)$. The cokernel of $V_p \colon \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)[q] \to \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)[q]$ is isomorphic to R[q] (using the well-known analogue of Lemma 2.16 for ordinary Witt vectors) and thus $\Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)$ -torsionfree, since the latter is a monic polynomial. It follows that $x + F_p(z) = \Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)w$ for some $w \in \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)[q]$. Then

$$\Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)V_p(w) = V_p(x + F_p(z)) = \Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)((q^{p^{\alpha-1}} - 1)y + z).$$

Since the monic polynomial $\Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)$ is a nonzerodivisor in $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)[q]$ as well, we get $V_p(w) = (q^{p^{\alpha-1}}-1)y+z$. Using that the ring $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)$ is $(q^{p^{\alpha-1}}-1)$ -torsion, we obtain the following equations in $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)$:

$$\Phi_{p^{\alpha-1}}(q)w = pw = F_p V_p(w) = \left(q^{p^{\alpha-1}} - 1\right)F_p(y) + F_p(z) = F_p(z).$$

This implies x = 0 in $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)$, thus completing the proof that the Verschiebung map $V_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$ is injective. \Box

To tackle the general case, we will interpret the "Koszul complex" from Proposition 2.14 as an "*r*-dimensional pushout" in the derived ∞ -category of abelian groups. This is possible thanks to the following technical lemma.

2.17. Lemma. — Let $\Box^r = \mathcal{P}(\{1, \ldots, r\})^{\text{op}}$ denote the "r-dimensional hypercube category", that is, the poset of subsets of $\{1, \ldots, r\}$, partially ordered by reverse inclusion (so that $\{1, \ldots, r\}$ is the initial object and \emptyset is the final object). Furthermore, let $\Box^r = \Box^r \setminus \{\{1, \ldots, r\}\}$ be the category obtained given by removing the final object of \Box^r . Finally, let $X : \Box^r \to \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$ be a diagram indexed by \Box^r and valued in the category of chain complexes.

(a_r) The colimit colim_{S∈Γ} X(S), taken in the derived ∞-category $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$, can be identified with the total complex of the "Koszul double complex"

$$T^{(r)}(X) \coloneqq \left(X(\{1,\ldots,r\}) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{|S|=r-1} X(S) \longrightarrow \ldots \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{|S|=2} X(S) \longrightarrow \bigoplus_{|S|=1} X(S)\right),$$

where each complex $X(S)_*$ sits in homological bi-degrees (|S| - 1, *) and we employ the same "Koszul-like" sign rule as in Remark 2.15. Furthermore, this identification of the colimit can be chosen in such a way that conditions (\mathbf{b}_r) and (\mathbf{c}_r) below are satisfied.

- (b_r) If $Y : \Box^r \to \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$ is another diagram and $\alpha \colon X \Rightarrow Y$ is a natural transformation (also valued in $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$), then the induced map $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^r} X(S) \to \operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^r} Y(S)$ is given by $\operatorname{Tot} T^{(r)}(X) \to \operatorname{Tot} T^{(r)}(Y)$.
- (c_r) If $X^{\triangleright} : \Box^r \to \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$ is another diagram such that $X^{\triangleright}|_{\Box^r} = X$, then the induced map $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^r} X(S) \to X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset)$ is given by

$$\operatorname{Tot} T^{(r)}(X) \longrightarrow \operatorname{Tot} \left(X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset)[0] \right) \cong X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset) \,.$$

Here $X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset)[0]$ denotes the double complex obtained by placing $X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset)_{*}$ in homological bidegrees (0,*) and the map $T^{(r)}(X) \to X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset)[0]$ is induced by $X(\{i\}) = X^{\triangleright}(\{i\}) \to X^{\triangleright}(\emptyset)$ for i = 1, ..., r in bi-degrees (0,*) and the zero map in all other bi-degrees.

Proof. We prove all three assertions simultaneously using induction on r. The case r = 1 is trivial. If r = 2, then $X : \Box^2 \to \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$ is a pushout diagram. By a well-known characterisation of pushouts in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$, we obtain a cofibre sequence

$$X\bigl(\{1,2\}\bigr) \longrightarrow X\bigl(\{1\}\bigr) \oplus X\bigl(\{2\}\bigr) \longrightarrow \operatornamewithlimits{colim}_{S \in \square^2} X(S) \,.$$

Thus, we may identify $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \square^2} X(S)$ with the cone of the first map, which is (upon choosing the right sign convention) precisely $T^{(2)}(X)$. Then (a_2) , (b_2) , and (c_2) are easily checked.

Now let r > 2 and assume that (a_{r-1}) , (b_{r-1}) , and (c_{r-1}) are satisfied. We can write \Box^r as a pushout $\Box^r = (\Box^{r-1} \times \Delta^1) \sqcup_{(\Box^{r-1} \times \{0\})} (\Box^{r-1} \times \{0\})$, where we view $\Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}$ as the full subcategory of \Box^r spanned by those $S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$ such that $r \in S$, and likewise $\Box^{r-1} \times \{1\}$ as the full subcategory spanned by those S such that $r \notin S$. By [L-HTT, Proposition 4.4.2.2], we may thus compute any \Box^r -indexed colimit in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ as a pushout of the corresponding colimits indexed by $\Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}, \Box^{r-1} \times \Delta^1$, and $\Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}$ respectively. Let's identify these one by one. Let $X_0 = X|_{\Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}}$. Applying (a_{r-1}) , we see that

$$\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}} X(S) \simeq \operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_0) \,.$$

Next, observe that the inclusion $\Box^{r-1} \times \{1\} \subseteq \Box^{r-1} \times \Delta^1$ is cofinal (it is even right-anodyne, as the same is true for $\{1\} \subseteq \Delta^1$). Therefore, putting $X_1 = X|_{\Box^{r-1} \times \{1\}}$ and using (a_{r-1}) again, we obtain

$$\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^{r-1} \times \Delta^1} X(S) \simeq \operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_1) \,.$$

Moreover, (\mathbf{b}_{r-1}) ensures that $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \square^{r-1} \times \{0\}} X(S) \to \operatorname{colim}_{S \in \square^{r-1} \times \Delta^1} X(S)$ is identified with the canonical map Tot $T^{(r-1)}(X_0) \to \operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_1)$. Finally, $\square^{r-1} \times \{0\}$ has a final object, and thus

$$\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}} X(S) \simeq X(\{r\});$$

furthermore, (c_{r-1}) implies that $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}} X(S) \to \operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Box^{r-1} \times \{0\}} X(S)$ is identified with the canonical map Tot $T^{(r-1)}(X_0) \to X(\{r\})$. Putting everything together and using the r = 2 case, we conclude

$$\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \mathbb{T}^r} X(S) \simeq \operatorname{cone} \left(\operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_0) \to \operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_0) \oplus X(\{r\}) \right).$$

The right-hand side is precisely $T^{(r)}(X)$, which settles (a_r) . Assertion (b_r) is an immediate consequence of (b_{r-1}) and the functoriality of cones. It remains to show that (c_r) is true. Using (c_{r-1}) , we see that $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \square^{r-1} \times \{0\}} X(S) \to X(\emptyset)$ is given by the canonical map $\operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_0) \to X(\emptyset)$ and likewise $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \square^{r-1} \times \Delta^1} X(S) \to X(\emptyset)$ is given by the canonical map $\operatorname{Tot} T^{(r-1)}(X_1) \to X(\emptyset)$. Furthermore, the diagram

commutes in $\operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$. In particular, its commutativity in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ is witnessed by a trivial homotopy, and so the map from the homotopy pushout to $X(\emptyset)$ is precisely the map $\operatorname{Tot} T^{(r)}(X) \to X(\emptyset)$ considered in (c_r) . This finishes the induction.

Proof of Proposition 2.14. Consider the diagram $\Box^r \to \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$ that sends $\emptyset \neq S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$ to $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(R)$, where $p_S = \prod_{i \in S} p_i$, and sends \emptyset to the complex $(q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R[\zeta_m])$ concentrated in homological degrees 0 and -1 (we will frequently use that this complex is quasi-isomorphic to ker $(q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R[\zeta_m])$). Morphisms in \Box^r are sent to the respective Verschiebungen. By Lemma 2.17, what we have to show is precisely that this diagram is a colimit diagram in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$, or equivalently, in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$.

As a consequence of Lemma 2.4, the following exact endofunctors of $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$ are jointly conservative:

$$(-)\left[\frac{1}{p_1\cdots p_r}\right], \quad (-)^{\wedge}_{(p_i,q^{m/p_j}-1)} \quad \text{for all } i \neq j, \quad (-)\left[\frac{1}{q^{m/p_j}-1} \mid j \neq i\right] \quad \text{for all } i \neq j.$$

So it suffices to check that we get a colimit diagram after applying each of these functors.

Proof after localisation at $p_1 \cdots p_r$. After localising $p_1 \cdots p_r$, all occurring Verschiebungen become split injective, with V_{p_i} having left-inverse $p_i^{-1}F_{p_i}$. In general, by [L-HA, Lemma 1.2.4.15], a diagram $X : \Box^r \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ is a colimit diagram if and only if the diagram $\Box^{r-1} \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ given by $S \mapsto \operatorname{cofib}(X(S) \to X(S \sqcup \{r\}))$ for all $S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r-1\}$ is a colimit diagram. In our situation, all these maps are split injective, hence the cofibres are just the ordinary quotients. Furthermore, the new diagram $\Box^{r-1} \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ still has the property that all transition maps are split injective, because F_{p_i} commutes with V_{p_j} for $i \neq j$ and so the splittings pass to cofibres. Iterating this argument r times, we reduce to showing that

$$\left(\ker\left(q\operatorname{-W}_m(R)\xrightarrow{\operatorname{gh}_1} R[\zeta_m]\right)/\left(\operatorname{im} V_{p_i} \mid i=1,\ldots,r\right)\right)\left[\frac{1}{p_1\cdots p_r}\right]$$

is a colimit of the empty diagram $\overline{\square}^0 \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$. This is clear since the quotient above is 0 by our calculation in 2.12.

Proof after $(p_i, q^{m/p_j} - 1)$ -adic completion. Put $p := p_i$ and $\ell := p_j$ for convenience. Let's first see what happens after p-adic completion. Note that $(-)_p^{\wedge} \simeq ((-)_{(p)})_p^{\wedge}$. After applying $(-)_{(p)}$, the Verschiebungen V_{ℓ} for $\ell \neq p$ become split injective. Applying [L-HA, Lemma 1.2.4.15] once again, we can pass to cofibres r - 1 times and therefore reduce our assertion to proving that

$$(q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell} \mid \ell \neq p))_{p}^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{V_{p}} (q-\mathbb{W}_{m}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell} \mid \ell \neq p))_{p}^{\wedge} \longrightarrow R[\zeta_{m}]_{p}^{\wedge}$$

is a cofibre sequence. In fact, we only need to show that this is a cofibre sequence after $(q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -adic completion. To this end, note that the left and the middle term in the above sequence can be rewritten as

$$\operatorname{cofib}\left(\left(q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell'} \mid \ell' \neq \ell, p)\right)_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{V_{\ell}} \left(q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell'} \mid \ell' \neq \ell, p)\right)_p^{\wedge}\right)$$
$$\operatorname{cofib}\left(\left(q-\mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell'} \mid \ell' \neq \ell, p)\right)_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{V_{\ell}} \left(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell'} \mid \ell' \neq \ell, p)\right)_p^{\wedge}\right).$$

After $(q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -adic completion, these maps are not only split, but actually equivalences. Indeed, $V_{\ell}F_{\ell}$ is equal to $[\ell]_{q^{m/p\ell}}$ in the first case and $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}$ in the second case, and both of them are units in $\mathbb{Z}[q]^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}$. So the first two terms in our would-be cofibre sequence vanish. Furthermore, we compute

$$R[\zeta_m]^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)} \simeq \left(R[q]/{}^{\mathrm{L}}\Phi_m(q) \right)^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)} \simeq R[q]^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}/{}^{\mathrm{L}}\Phi_m(q)$$

and the right-hand side is 0 because $\Phi_m(q)$ divides the unit $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}$ in $\mathbb{Z}[q]^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}$. So we obtain a cofibre sequence for trivial reasons.

Proof after localisation at $(q^{m/p_j} - 1)$ for all $j \neq i$. Again, we put $p = p_i$ for convenience. Furthermore, the letter ℓ will be used to denote prime factors $\neq p$ of m. Note that almost all terms in our complex are $(q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -torsion for some $\ell \neq p$ and thus die in our localisation. The only surviving terms are

$$q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R) \left[\frac{1}{q^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \right] \xrightarrow{V_p} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \left[\frac{1}{q^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \right] \longrightarrow R[\zeta_m] \left[\frac{1}{\zeta_m^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \right]$$

and we must show that this is a cofibre sequence in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$. Our strategy will be to show that this sequence is a flat base change of the sequence from Lemma 2.16. To achieve this, write $m = p^{\alpha}n$, where α is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of m; we wish to show

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \left[\frac{1}{q^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \right] \cong q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q], \psi^n} \mathbb{Z} \left[q, \frac{1}{q^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \right],$$

§2. q-Witt vectors

where ψ^n is the map that sends $q \mapsto q^n$. This follows by a comparison of universal properties: Let T_m denote the truncation set of divisors of m. Then Remark 2.11, together with the universal property of localisation, shows that $(q-\mathbb{W}_d(R)[1/(q^{m/\ell}-1) \mid \ell \neq p])_{d\in T_m}$ is universal among all system of rings $(W_d)_{d\in T_m}$ equipped with a $\mathbb{W}_d(R)[q, 1/(q^{m/\ell}-1) \mid \ell \neq p]/(q^d-1)$ -structure on W_d as well as Frobenii and Verschiebungen satisfying the conditions from Definition 2.7(b). Consider such a system $(W_d)_{d\in T_m}$. Since $\mathbb{W}_d(R)[q, 1/(q^{m/\ell}-1) \mid \ell \neq p]/(q^d-1)$ vanishes unless d is of the form $d = p^i n$ for some $0 \leq i \leq \alpha$, we see that only $W_n, W_{pn}, \ldots, W_{p^{\alpha_n}}$ can be non-zero. Furthermore, compatibility with the usual Verschiebungen then shows that the $\mathbb{W}_{p^i n}(R)$ -algebra structure on $W_{p^i n}$ must factor over $\mathbb{W}_{p^i n}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_\ell \mid \ell \neq p) \cong \mathbb{W}_{p^i}(R)$. Now Remark 2.11 again, together with the universal property of base change along ψ^n , shows that the sequence $(q-\mathbb{W}_{p^i}(R)\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q],\psi^n}\mathbb{Z}[q,1/(q^{m/\ell}-1)\mid \ell \neq p])_{i=0,\ldots,\alpha}$ is universal among all sequences of rings $(W_{p^i n})_{i=0,\ldots,\alpha}$ equipped with a $\mathbb{W}_{p^i}(R)[q,1/(q^{m/\ell}-1)\mid \ell \neq p]/(q^{p^i n}-1)$ -structure on $W_{p^i n}$ as well as compatible Frobenii and Verschiebungen. This finishes the proof of the isomorphism claimed above, as it is now apparent that both sides satisfy the same universal property.

So we've succeeded in writing the localisation $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) [(q^{m/\ell} - 1)^{-1} | \ell \neq p]$ as a base change of $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$ along the flat map ψ^n . By the same argument, we can do the same for $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$. To reduce to Lemma 2.16, it remains to see that

$$R[q]/\Phi_m(q)\left[\frac{1}{q^{m/\ell}-1} \mid \ell \neq p\right] \cong R[q]/\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q],\psi^n} \mathbb{Z}\left[q, \frac{1}{q^{m/\ell}-1} \mid \ell \neq p\right].$$

In other words, we must show that $\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q^n)$ and $\Phi_m(q)$ agree up to unit in the localisation $\mathbb{Z}[q, (q^{m/\ell} - 1)^{-1} \mid \ell \neq p]$. This follows inductively from

$$\Phi_{d\ell}(q) = \begin{cases} \Phi_d(q^\ell) & \text{if } \ell \mid d \\ \Phi_d(q^\ell) / \Phi_d(q) & \text{if } \ell \nmid d \end{cases}$$

for all $d \mid m$ and noting that $\Phi_d(q)$ is a unit in the second case, because it divides $q^{m/\ell} - 1$. \Box

Having proved Proposition 2.14, we can now establish a bunch of pleasant properties of the q-Witt vector functors. We start with the fact that the Verschiebungen are injective, which—at least to the author—seems not at all trivial from Definition 2.9.

2.18. Corollary. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring. For all positive integers m and all divisors $d \mid m$, the Verschiebung $V_{m/d}: q-\mathbb{W}_d(R) \to q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is injective.

Proof. We use induction on m. The case where m is a prime power is clear from Lemma 2.16. In the general case, we may assume without restriction that m/d = p is a prime factor of m. Every element $x \in \ker(V_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R))$ is p-torsion since $0 = F_p V_p(x) = px$. Since the p-torsion part of $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$ maps bijectively to the the p-torsion part of $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)_{(p)}$, it suffices to see that $V_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)_{(p)} \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(p)}$ is injective. Suppose this was wrong; then $\operatorname{cofib}(V_p)$ would acquire a nonzero H^{-1} .

Now let p_1, \ldots, p_r denote the prime factors of m, where $p_r = p$. Consider the diagram $X : \Box^r \to \operatorname{Ch}(\mathbb{Z})$ sending $\emptyset \neq S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$ to $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(R)_{(p)}$, where $p_S = \prod_{i \in S} p_i$, and \emptyset to $\ker(q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(p)} \to R[\zeta_m]_{(p)})$; all morphisms in \Box^r are sent to the corresponding Verschiebungen. We know from the proof of Proposition 2.14 that X is a colimit diagram in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$. Furthermore, [L-HA, Lemma 1.2.4.15] tells us that X is a colimit diagram if and only if the diagram $X' \colon \Box^{r-1} \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ given by $S \mapsto \operatorname{cofib}(V_p \colon q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S p}(R)_{(p)} \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(R)_{(p)})$ for all $S \subseteq$

 $\{1, \ldots, r-1\}$ is a colimit diagram. From the induction hypothesis, we know that these cofibres are static, except for $\operatorname{cofib}(V_p: q - W_{m/p}(R)_{(p)} \to q - W_m(R)_{(p)})$, which we're assuming has a nonzero H⁻¹. Furthermore, X' maps every morphism in \Box^{r-1} to a split morphism, because V_{p_i} for $p_i \neq p$ has a left inverse given by $p_i^{-1}F_{p_i}$ and these left inverses persist after taking cofibres, since V_p and F_{p_i} commute for $p_i \neq p$. Therefore, if we pass to cofibres again, then everything stays static, except for the nonzero H_1 , which remains unchanged. Furthermore, the diagram $X'': \Box^{r-2} \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ obtained by passing to cofibres still has the property that all morphisms in \Box^{r-2} are sent to split morphisms, since again the splittings in X' pass to cofibres. Iterating this argument r times, we see that the nonzero H⁻¹ persists, contradicting the fact that the original diagram X is a colimit diagram. \Box

Next, we will study the interaction with localisation.

- **2.19.** Corollary. Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring, and let m be a positive integer.
- (a) For any multiplicative subset $U \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$, we have $q \mathbb{W}_m(R)[U^{-1}] \cong q \mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}])$.
- (b) For any multiplicative subset $U \subseteq R$, we have $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)[\tau_m(U)^{-1}] \cong q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}])$. Here $\tau_m(-)$ denotes the Teichmüller lift from 2.12.

Proof. First let $U \subseteq \mathbb{Z}$ be a multiplicative subset. Using induction, Proposition 2.14, and the five lemma, it's clear that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}])$ is U-local as an abelian group, hence the canonical map q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}])$ can be extended to a map

$$q$$
- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)[U^{-1}] \longrightarrow q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}])$.

That this map is an isomorphism follows again from induction, Proposition 2.14, and the five lemma. This proves (a).

Now let $U \subseteq R$ be a multiplicative subset. As the Teichmüller lift is multiplicative, it's clear that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}])$ is $\tau_m(U)$ -local, hence we get a canonical map

$$q$$
- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)[\tau_m(U)^{-1}] \longrightarrow q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R[U^{-1}]).$

That this map is an isomorphism follows from induction, Proposition 2.14, and the five lemma. To make the induction work, implicitly we also use that the complex from Proposition 2.14 is a complex of $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -modules if we regard $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R)$ as an $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -algebra via the Frobenius $F_{m/d}: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_d(R)$; furthermore, this $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -module structure identifies $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R)[\tau_m(U)^{-1}]$ with $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R)[\tau_d(U)^{-1}]$, as $F_{m/d}(\tau_m(u)) = \tau_d(u)^{m/d}$ for all $u \in U$. This finishes the proof of (\mathbf{b}) .

Now we will study how q-Witt vectors interact with torsion. To this end, first we prove a technical lemma that will be used several times in the discussion to come.

2.20. Lemma. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra, let m be a positive integer and let p be a prime number. Assume $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ satisfies $gh_1(x) = 0$ and $F_\ell(x) = 0$ for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$ such that $\ell \neq p$. Then $x = V_p(y)$ for some $y \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$; in particular, x = 0 if $p \nmid m$.

Proof. Note that since R is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra, every prime $\ell \neq p$ is invertible in q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ by Corollary 2.19(a). Hence every Verschiebung V_ℓ for $\ell \neq p$ is split injective, with left inverse

given by $\ell^{-1}F_{\ell}$. Furthermore, $\ell^{-1}F_{\ell}$ commutes with $V_{\ell'}$ for $\ell \neq \ell'$. Now let ℓ_1, \ldots, ℓ_r be the prime factors $\neq p$ of m. By the previous considerations, we can write

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong I_1 \oplus \cdots \oplus I_r \oplus q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) / (\operatorname{im} V_{\ell_1}, \dots, \operatorname{im} V_{\ell_r}),$$

where $I_i = \operatorname{im}(V_{\ell_i}: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell_i}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \operatorname{im} V_{\ell_{i-1}}) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \operatorname{im} V_{\ell_{i-1}}))$. Our assumption $\operatorname{gh}_1(x) = 0$ implies $x \in (\operatorname{im} V_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \operatorname{im} V_{\ell_r}, \operatorname{im} V_p)$ by 2.12 (we put $\operatorname{im} V_p = 0$ in the case $p \nmid m$). On the other hand, $F_\ell(x) = 0$ for $\ell \in \{\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_r\}$ implies that the projection of xto I_i vanishes for all i. Hence $x = V_p(y)$ for some $y \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell_1}, \ldots, \operatorname{im} V_{\ell_r})$. By the same argument as above, this quotient may be regarded as a direct summand of $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$ and so we may regard y as an element of $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ satisfying $x = V_p(y)$, as desired. \Box

2.21. Corollary. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring. If R is p-torsion-free, then so is $q-W_m(R)$ for all positive integers m. Likewise, if R has bounded p^{∞} -torsion, then so has $q-W_m(R)$.

Proof. We may equivalently show the same for the localisations $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(p)}$, as the p^{∞} -torsion part is preserved under this localisation. By Corollary 2.19(*a*), replacing $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ by $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_{(p)})$ amounts to replacing R by $R_{(p)}$. Hence we may assume that R is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra. We show both assertions simultaneously using induction on m. The case m = 1 is clear. Now let m > 1 and suppose the assertion has been proved for smaller indices. Let $x \in q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ be a p^{∞} -torsion element. By choosing common bounds for the p^{∞} -torsion in $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ (which is a free R-module) and $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R)$ for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$ (including $\ell = p$), we find N independent of x such that $p^N x$ vanishes under gh_1 and under F_ℓ for all ℓ . If R is p-torsion free, we may choose N = 0. Hence Lemma 2.20 implies $p^N x = V_p(y)$ for some $y \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$. As V_p is injective by Corollary 2.18, it follows that $y \in q - \mathbb{W}_m/p(R)$ must be a p^{∞} -torsion element. Thus $p^N y = 0$, which implies $p^{2N} x = 0$. This shows that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ has p^{∞} -torsion bounded by 2N, and is p-torsion free if R is, because in that case we may choose N = 0.

A related, but easier assertion is the following.

2.22. Lemma. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring, and let m be a positive integer. If R is p-torsion-free for all prime factors $p \mid m$, then the ghost maps $\operatorname{gh}_{m/d}: q-\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R[\zeta_d]$ for $d \mid m$ are jointly injective.

Proof. Let $x \in q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ be nonzero; we wish to show that its image under some ghost map is nonzero. If $gh_1(x) \neq 0$, we're done; otherwise, 2.12 tells us that $x = \sum_{d|m, d\neq m} V_{m/d}(x_d)$ for some $x_d \in q-\mathbb{W}_d(R)$. If $x_d \neq 0$ but $gh_1(x_d) = 0$, we may use 2.12 again to see that x_d can be written as a sum $x_d = \sum_{e|d, e\neq d} V_{d/e}(y_e)$ for some $y_e \in q-\mathbb{W}_e(R)$. If we successively take the largest d for which neither $x_d = 0$ nor $gh_1(x_d) \neq 0$ is satisfied and replace x_d by such a sum, we will eventually arrive at an expression for x in which every x_d satisfies either $x_d = 0$ or $gh_1(x_d) \neq 0$.

Now choose $x_d \neq 0$ such that m/d is minimal. Then $gh_{m/d}(V_{m/e}(x_e)) = 0$ for all $e \neq d$ as either $x_e = 0$ or m/d is not divisible by m/e by minimality. Hence

$$\operatorname{gh}_{m/d}(x) = \operatorname{gh}_{m/d}(V_{m/d}(x_d)) = \frac{m}{d}\operatorname{gh}_1(x_d) \neq 0$$

as $gh_1(x_d) \neq 0$ and $R[\zeta_d]$ is finite free over R, which is m/d-torsion-free by assumption. \Box

Another consequence of Proposition 2.14 related to Corollary 2.21 is the fact that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ interacts well with derived *p*-adic completion.

2.23. Corollary. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring. If the derived p-completion \hat{R}_p of R is static, then $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \simeq q-\mathbb{W}_m(\hat{R}_p)$ for all positive integers m. In particular, if R is derived p-complete, then so is $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$.

Proof. We use induction on m. The case m = 1 is trivial, as $q - \mathbb{W}_1(R) \cong R$. For m > 1, we use Proposition 2.14 and the induction hypothesis to see that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(\hat{R}_p)$ sits inside an acyclic complex in which all other terms are derived *p*-complete (including $\hat{R}_p[\zeta_m]$, as this is finite free over \hat{R}_p). Hence $q - \mathbb{W}_m(\hat{R}_p)$ is derived *p*-complete itself. Thus the canonical map $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(\hat{R}_p)$ induces a map

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(\widehat{R}_p)$$

Morally, the way to see that this is an equivalence should be to apply the five lemma, but we have to be careful since the derived *p*-completion on the left is a priori only an object in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$. So instead, we use the proof of Proposition 2.14, the fact that derived *p*-completion preserves finite colimits, and the induction hypothesis, to compute

$$\operatorname{fib}(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \to R[\zeta_m]_p^{\wedge}) \simeq \operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Gamma^r} q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(R)_p^{\wedge}$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{colim}_{S \in \Gamma^r} q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p_S}(\widehat{R}_p)$$
$$\simeq \operatorname{fib}(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \to \widehat{R}_p[\zeta_m])$$

here $\{p_1, \ldots, p_r\}$ are the prime factors of m and $p_S = \prod_{i \in S} p_S$ for all subsets $S \subseteq \{1, \ldots, r\}$. Together with $R[\zeta_m]_p^{\wedge} \simeq \widehat{R}_p[\zeta_m]$ (as $R[\zeta_m]$ is finite free over R), this finishes the proof. \Box

;

2.24. Remark. — Corollary 2.23 is true without assuming that R_p is static, if we interpret \hat{R}_p as an animated ring and q- $\mathbb{W}_m(\hat{R}_p)$ as the animation of the *m*-truncated *q*-Witt vectors functor. Note that the animation of q- $\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ agrees with the un-animated version on static rings. Indeed, this follows via induction on *m*, using Proposition 2.14 and the fact that $R[\zeta_m] \simeq R[q]/{}^{\mathrm{L}}\Phi_m(q)$ is already a derived quotient.

To finish this subsection, we study completions of the form $q - W_m(R)^{\wedge}_{(q^n-1)}$.

2.25. Corollary. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring, and let m, n be positive integers. If the derived p-completions \hat{R}_p of R are static for all prime factors $p \mid m$, then the derived $(q^n - 1)$ -adic completion $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)^{\wedge}_{(q^n - 1)}$ is static too. Furthermore, if R has bounded p^{∞} -torsion for all $p \mid m$, then also the $(q^n - 1)^{\infty}$ -torsion of $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is bounded.

To prove Corollary 2.25, we must first show the corresponding staticness assertions for $R[\zeta_m] \cong R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$.

2.26. Lemma. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring, and let m, n be positive integers.

(a) If the quotient $m/\gcd(m,n)$ has at least two distinct prime factors, then $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ is $(q^n - 1)$ -torsion-free.

(b) Suppose $m/\gcd(m,n) = p^{\alpha}$ is a prime power. If the derived p-completion \widehat{R}_p of R is static, then the derived $(q^n - 1)$ -completion of $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ is static too. Furthermore, if R has bounded p^{∞} -torsion, then $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ has bounded $(q^n - 1)^{\infty}$ -torsion.

Proof. Everything is $(q^m - 1)$ -torsion and $(q^m - 1, q^n - 1) = (q^{\text{gcd}(m,n)} - 1)$ holds in $\mathbb{Z}[q]$, hence we may replace n by gcd(m,n) and thus assume $n \mid m$. For (a), simply observe that $(\Phi_m(q), q^n - 1)$ is the unit ideal in $\mathbb{Z}[q]$, because it contains all prime factors of m/n by the proof of Lemma 2.3.

For (b), if m = n, then $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ is $(q^n - 1)$ -torsion, hence already $(q^n - 1)$ -complete, and nothing happens. So from now on, assume $m/n = p^{\alpha}$, where $\alpha \ge 1$. In this case $0 = [p^{\alpha}]_{q^n}$ holds in $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$. Observe that $[p^{\alpha}]_{q^n} = p^{\alpha} + (q^n - 1)u = pv + (q^n - 1)^{p^{\alpha} - 1}$, where $u, v \in \mathbb{Z}[q]$ are some polynomials. Hence the ideals generated by p and by $q^n - 1$ in $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ have the same radical. Thus, to show that the derived $(q^n - 1)$ -completion of $(R[q]/\Phi_m(q))_{(q^n-1)}^{\wedge}$ is static, it's enough to show the same for the derived p-completion, which follows from our assumption that \widehat{R}_p is static since $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ is a finite free R-module. For the torsion assertion, the same observation shows

$$(R[q]/\Phi_m(q))[(q^n-1)^t] \subseteq (R[q]/\Phi_m(q))[p^{t\alpha}], (R[q]/\Phi_m(q))[p^t] \subseteq (R[q]/\Phi_m(q))[(q^n-1)^{t(p^{\alpha}-1)}]$$

for all $t \ge 1$, which immediately implies that $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ has bounded $(q^n - 1)^{\infty}$ -torsion if R has bounded p^{∞} -torsion.

Proof of Corollary 2.25. As in the proof of Lemma 2.26, we may assume without loss of generality that $n \mid m$. Assume \hat{R}_{ℓ} is static for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$. We use induction to show that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)^{\wedge}_{(q^n-1)}$ is static. The case m = 1 is clear as $q - \mathbb{W}_1(R) \cong R$ is already $(q^n - 1)$ -torsion. Now let m > 1. Recall (e.g. from [Stacks, Tag 0BKG]) that

$$\mathrm{H}^{-1}(q\operatorname{-}\mathbb{W}_m(S)^{\wedge}_{(q^n-1)}) \cong \lim_{t \ge 1} q\operatorname{-}\mathbb{W}_m(R)[(q^n-1)^t]$$

where the transition maps in the limit are multiplication by $(q^n - 1)$. Let $x = (x_t)$ be an element of the right-hand side; we wish to show x = 0. Using the inductive hypothesis, we see that $F_{\ell}(x_t) = 0$ for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$ and all t; hence also $0 = V_{\ell}F_{\ell}(x_t) = [\ell]_{q^m/\ell}x_t$. By Lemma 2.2, this implies $\Phi_m(q)x_t = 0$.

If m/n has at least two distinct prime factors, then $(\Phi_m(q), q^n - 1)$ is the unit ideal in $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ (see the proof of Lemma 2.1). As every x_t is both $\Phi_m(q)$ -torsion and $(q^n - 1)^t$ -torsion, we obtain x = 0, as required.

So we're left to deal with the case where $m/n = p^{\alpha}$ is a prime power. In this case, the ideal $(\Phi_m(q), q^n - 1) \subseteq \mathbb{Z}[q]$ is not the unit ideal, but at least it contains p (see again the proof of Lemma 2.1) and thus x_t is a p^t -torsion element for all $t \ge 1$. We may therefore replace R by its localisation $R_{(p)}$, which according to Corollary 2.19(a) amounts to replacing q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ by q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(p)}$ and therefore doesn't change the p^{∞} -torsion part. Also note that replacing R by $R_{(p)}$ doesn't change the condition that the derived ℓ -adic completions are static for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$, as these completions can only become 0 for $\ell \neq p$. Using Lemma 2.26, we know that $gh_1(x_t) = 0$ for all t. Together with $F_\ell(x_t) = 0$, we conclude $x_t = V_p(y_t)$ for some $y_t \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$ by Lemma 2.20. As V_p is injective by Corollary 2.18, we see that y_t is a $(q^n - 1)^t$ -torsion element and that $y_{t-1} = (q^n - 1)y_t$. Hence $y = (y_t)$ defines an element in

 $\mathrm{H}^{-1}(q-\mathbb{W}_m(S)^{\wedge}_{(q^n-1)})$. Then the inductive hypothesis shows y=0 and thus x=0 as well, as desired. This finishes the proof that $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)^{\wedge}_{(q^n-1)}$ is static.

Now assume that R has bounded ℓ^{∞} -torsion for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$. Let $x \in q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ be a $(q^n - 1)^{\infty}$ -torsion element. By induction and Lemma 2.26, we may choose a common bound for the $(q^n - 1)^{\infty}$ -torsion in $R[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ and $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R)$ for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$. Hence we find a positive integer N, independent of x, such that $(q^n - 1)^N x$ vanishes under the ghost map gh_1 and under the Frobenius maps F_{ℓ} for all $\ell \mid m$. Then $0 = V_{\ell}F_{\ell}((q^n - 1)^N x) = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}(q^n - 1)^N x$ for all $\ell \mid m$, which as before implies $0 = \Phi_m(q)(q^n - 1)^N x$.

If m/n has at least two distinct prime factors, then $(q^n - 1)^N x$ being both $\Phi_m(q)$ -torsion and $(q^n - 1)^\infty$ -torsion implies $(q^n - 1)^N x = 0$ and we're done. If $m/n = p^\alpha$ is a prime power, we can only deduce that $(q^n - 1)^N x$ is p^∞ -torsion. But then we may once again replace R by $R_{(p)}$ and apply Lemma 2.20 to see that $(q^n - 1)^N x = V_p(y)$ for some $y \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$. Then V_p being injective by Corollary 2.18 implies that y must be a $(q^n - 1)^\infty$ -torsion element too. Hence $(q^n - 1)^N y = 0$. Thus $(q^n - 1)^{2N} x = 0$ and we're done. \Box

§2.3. Injectivity of $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q\text{-}\mathbb{W}_m(R)$

In this subsection we'll do as the title says and prove the following consequence of Proposition 2.14:

2.27. Proposition. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital ring, and let m be a positive integer. Then the natural map $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is injective.

Proposition 2.27 won't be needed in the rest of this article, but it's perhaps rather satisfying to know that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is really an extension of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$. To prove this, first we need one more simple corollary of Proposition 2.14.

2.28. Corollary. — Let $R \rightarrow R'$ be a surjection of commutative, but not necessarily unital rings, and let J be its kernel (which we again consider as a commutative, not necessarily unital ring). Then the sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(J) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(R') \longrightarrow 0$$

is exact for all positive integers m.

Proof. We use induction on m. The case m = 1 is clear. For m > 1, we use the proof of Proposition 2.14 together with the fact that $\operatorname{colim}_{S \in \square^r}$ preserves cofibre sequences to see that $\operatorname{fib}(q - \mathbb{W}_m(J) \to J[\zeta_m]) \to \operatorname{fib}(q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R[\zeta_m]) \to \operatorname{fib}(q - \mathbb{W}_m(R') \to R'[\zeta_m])$ is a cofibre sequence. So is $J[\zeta_m] \longrightarrow R[\zeta_m] \longrightarrow R'[\zeta_m]$, as it is the base change of $J \to R \to R'$ along the finite free ring map $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_m]$. This proves what we want.

Furthermore, to prove Proposition 2.27, we need the following lemma with a somewhat lengthy, but straightforward proof.

2.29. Lemma. — Let R be a commutative, but not necessarily unital $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra, and let $m = p^{\alpha}n$, where α is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of m. Then

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong \prod_{d|n} q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q], \psi^d} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q] / \left(\Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q) \right),$$

where $\psi^d \colon \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q] \to \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]$ is the map sending $q \mapsto q^d$.

Proof. Let's abbreviate the right-hand side by Π_m . We'll explain how to give $(\Pi_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ the structure of a q-FV-system over R as in Definition 2.7. To equip Π_m with a $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -algebra structure, we must construct a ring map from $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ into each factor. On the d^{th} factor we construct the desired map as the composition

$$\mathbb{W}_m(R) = \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}n}(R) \xrightarrow{F_{n/d}} \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}d}(R) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Res}_d} \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$$

This defines a map $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \Pi_m$. To understand what this map is really doing, observe that $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong \mathbb{W}_n(\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)) \cong \prod_{d|n} \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$. Here the first isomorphism is [Bor11, Corollary 5.4], the second is induced by the ghost maps for $\mathbb{W}_n(-)$, using that n is invertible on $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$ by our assumption that R is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra. Then the map $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \Pi_m$ is simply given by matching up the factors.

This takes care of the $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ -algebra structures. It remains to construct construct Frobenii $F_{\ell} \colon \Pi_m \to \Pi_{m/\ell}$ and Verschiebungen $V_{\ell} \colon \Pi_{m/\ell} \to \Pi_m$ for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$ and verify that they satisfy $V_{\ell} \circ F_{\ell} = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}$ as well as $F_{\ell} \circ V_{\ell} = \ell$ (but the latter will be trivial, so we won't mention it).

Case 1: $\ell = p$. Here we simply take the maps induced by the usual Frobenius and Verschiebung $F_p: q-\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \to q-\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R)$ and $V_p: q-\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R) \to q-\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$. To check $V_p \circ F_p = [p]_{q^{m/p}}$, we must check that

$$\psi^d([p]_{q^{p^{\alpha}/p}}) \equiv [p]_{q^{m/p}} \mod \Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)$$

In fact, we even claim that $[p]_{q^{p^{\alpha}d/p}} \equiv [p]_{q^{p^{\alpha}n/p}} \mod q^{p^{\alpha}d} - 1$. This is because the sequences $\{1, q^{p^{\alpha}d/p}, (q^{p^{\alpha}d/p})^2, \dots, (q^{p^{\alpha}d/p})^{p-1}\}$ and $\{1, q^{p^{\alpha}n/p}, (q^{p^{\alpha}n/p})^2, \dots, (q^{p^{\alpha}n/p})^{p-1}\}$ agree modulo $q^{p^{\alpha}d} - 1$ up to permutation, similar to the argument in the proof of Lemma 2.8.

Case 2: $\ell \neq p$. Here the Frobenius F_{ℓ} is simply given by the projection to those factors where d divides n/ℓ . The Verschiebung is given as follows: If $w = (w_e)_{e|(n/\ell)}$ is an element of Π_m , we let $V_{\ell}(w) = (V_{\ell}(w)_d)_{d|n}$, where

$$V_{\ell}(w)_{d} = \begin{cases} \ell w_{e} & \text{if } d = e \mid (n/\ell) \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

To check $V_{\ell} \circ F_{\ell} = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}$, we have to verify $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}$ is either ℓ or 0 modulo $\Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)$, depending on whether d divides n/ℓ or not. This is straightforward.

We've thus succeeded in equipping $(\Pi_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ with the structure of a q-FV-system over R. It remains to verify that it is in fact the initial one. To do so, let $(W_m)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ be an arbitrary q-FV system. For $m = p^{\alpha}n$ as above and $d \mid n$, put $W_{m,d} \coloneqq W_m/(\Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q))$. Then

$$W_m \cong \prod_{d|n} W_{m,d}$$
,

because $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/(q^m - 1) \cong \prod_{d|n} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/(\Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q))$ by Lemma 2.1 and the Chinese remainder theorem. Furthermore, this decomposition of W_m is respected by Frobenii and Verschiebungen, because it only depends on the $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra structure on W_m . For any $d \mid n$, the induced maps $F_{n/d} \colon W_{p^{\alpha}n,d} \to W_{p^{\alpha}d,d}$ and $V_{n/d} \colon W_{p^{\alpha}d,d} \to W_{p^{\alpha}n,d}$ are isomorphisms. Indeed, $F_{n/d} \circ V_{n/d} = n/d$, which is invertible in $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$, and also $V_{n/d} \circ F_{n/d} = [n/d]_{q^{p^{\alpha}d}} = n/d$, because $W_{p^{\alpha}d,d}$ and $W_{p^{\alpha}n,d}$ are $(q^{p^{\alpha}d} - 1)$ -torsion. In particular, the $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}n}(R)$ -algebra structure on $W_{p^{\alpha}n,d}$ necessarily factors through the Frobenius $F_{n/d}: \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}n}(R) \to \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}d}(R)$. Furthermore, for all prime factors $\ell \mid d$, the diagram

commutes. But the lower right corner vanishes by Lemma 2.1. Hence the $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}d}(R)$ -algebra structure on $W_{p^{\alpha}d,d}$ factors through the quotient $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}d}(R) \to \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}d}(R)/(\operatorname{im} V_{\ell} \mid \ell \text{ prime factor of } d)$. This quotient map can be identified with $\operatorname{Res}_d : \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}d}(R) \to \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$.

To summarise, we've shown that the $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}n}(R)$ -algebra structure on $W_{p^{\alpha}n,d}$ really factors through $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$. Hence for fixed n and d, the sequence $(W_{p^{\alpha}n,d})_{\alpha \geq 0}$ acquires the structure of a $\{1, p, p^2, \ldots\}$ -truncated q^n -FV-system in the sense of Remark 2.11 (that is, it satisfies the same axioms, but with q replaced by q^n). Since we've checked $[p]_{q^{p^{\alpha}d/p}} \equiv [p]_{q^{p^{\alpha}n/p}} \mod q^{p^{\alpha}d} - 1$, and $W_{p^{\alpha},d}$ is a $(q^{p^{\alpha}d} - 1)$ -torsion ring, we obtain equivalently a $\{1, p, p^2, \ldots\}$ -truncated q^d -FV-system structure. The universal such system is clearly (q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} [q]_{\mu^{\alpha}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q])_{\alpha \geq 0}$ and so we obtain canonical morphisms

$$q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}} [q], \psi^{d} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q] / \left(\Phi_{d}(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q) \right) \longrightarrow W_{p^{\alpha}n, d}$$

witnessing the desired universal property for $(\Pi_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$.

Proof of Proposition 2.27. If R is p-torsion free for all prime factors $p \mid m$, then the assertion is clear by Lemma 2.22. So let's next assume that R is a p-torsion ring. Then $V_p \circ F_p = p$ holds on ordinary Witt vectors. In particular, $q - W_{p^{\alpha}}(R)/(q-1) \cong W_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$, because then clearly both $(q - W_{p^{\alpha}}(R)/(q-1))_{\alpha \ge 0}$ and $(W_{p^{\alpha}}(R))_{\alpha \ge 0}$ are universal among $\{1, p, p^2, \ldots\}$ -truncated q-FV-systems for which q = 1. This proves that $W_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \to q$ - $W_{p^{\alpha}}(R)$ has a section and is therefore injective. For general m, write $m = p^{\alpha}n$, where $\alpha = v_p(m)$. We must show that

$$\mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong \prod_{d|n} \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \longrightarrow \prod_{d|n} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q], \psi^d} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q] / \left(\Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)\right) \cong q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)$$

is injective (see Lemma 2.29 and its proof). But the d^{th} factor on the right-hand side projects to $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q],\psi^{d}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/\Phi_{d}(q)$. This is a $(q^{d}-1)$ -torsion ring, hence it can be rewritten as $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)/(q-1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q],\psi^{d}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/\Phi_{d}(q) \cong \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)[\zeta_{d}]$. Now $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \to \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R)[\zeta_{d}]$ is clearly injective and we're done in the case where R is p-torsion.

Next, let's assume R is p^{α} -torsion for some $\alpha \ge 1$. We use induction on α ; the case $\alpha = 1$ was just done. For $\alpha \ge 2$, we have a short exact sequence $0 \to R[p] \to R \to R/R[p] \to 0$ of non-unital rings. Using the inductive hypothesis for R[p] and R/R[p] together with Corollary 2.28 and the four lemma, we conclude that $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is injective, as required. This also settles the case where R is p^{∞} -torsion, because then $R = \bigcup_{\alpha \ge 1} R[p^{\alpha}]$ and both $\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ and q- $\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ commute with filtered colimits.

Finally, let's do the general case. We have a short exact sequence of non-unital rings $0 \to \bigoplus_{p|m} R[p^{\infty}] \to R \to \overline{R} \to 0$, where \overline{R} is *p*-torsion free for all $p \mid m$. So we already know that the assertion is true for $\bigoplus_{p|m} R[p^{\infty}]$ and \overline{R} . Applying Corollary 2.28 and the four lemma once again, we conclude that the assertion for R is true as well.

§2. q-Witt vectors

§2.4. q-Witt vectors of Λ -rings

In general, $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ can be quite far from $R[q]/(q^m - 1)$. However, in the presence of a Λ -structure on R, there are certain maps between these rings. The purpose of this subsection is to describe these maps. As a consequence, we will see that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1)$.

From now on, we will no longer consider non-unital rings; all rings in the following will be commutative and unital.

2.30. The trivial map. — Suppose A is a Λ -ring. Then we get a section $A \to W_m(A)$ of $\operatorname{gh}_1 \colon W_m(A) \to A$ as follows: The cofree Λ -ring under A is the big Witt ring W(A), hence we get a section $s \colon A \to W(A)$ of gh_1 . Composing with the restriction map Res: $W(A) \to W_m(A)$ gives the desired section. We can now extend this section $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linearly to obtain a map

$$s_m \colon A[q]/(q^m - 1) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)$$
,

whose composition with gh_1 is the canonical map $A[q]/(q^m-1) \to A[q]/\Phi_m(q)$. More generally, if we write $s: A \to W(A) \cong A^{\mathbb{N}}$ as $s(x) = (\delta_m(x))_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ for all $x \in A$, then

$$\psi^m(x) \coloneqq \sum_{d|m} d\delta_d(x)^{m/d} = \operatorname{gh}_m(s(x))$$

is the m^{th} Adams operation $\psi^m \colon A \to A$ of the Λ -ring A. Clearly ψ^m is a ring morphism. Hence for the trivial comparison map $s_m \colon A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(A)$ constructed above, the composition $\mathfrak{gh}_{m/d} \circ s_m$ agrees with the canonical projection $A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to A[q]/\Phi_d(q)$ followed by $\psi^{m/d}$, extended $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linearly.

2.31. Remark. — The construction from 2.30 as well as all other results in this subsection remain valid if we fix m and only assume that A is a Λ_m -ring: that is, a $\Lambda_{\mathbb{Z},E}$ -ring in the sense of [Bor11, 1.17], where $E = \{p\mathbb{Z} \mid p \text{ prime factor of } m\}$. The only necessary change will be to replace $\mathbb{W}(A)$, the cofree Λ -ring under A, by $\mathbb{W}_S(A)$, the cofree Λ_m -ring under A, where $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ is the truncation set of all positive integers whose prime factors are also prime factors of m.

The map from 2.30 is a little silly yet surprisingly useful (as we'll see). Nevertheless, it is seldom an isomorphism or even surjective. We'll now set out to construct another comparison map $c_m: q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A[q]/(q^m - 1)$, which is more suitable for computations. Similar maps have been found independently by Pridham [Pri19, Remark 3.15] and Molokov [Mol22, Proposition 3.1].

We've seen in 2.30 that the Adams operations on a Λ -ring A can be expressed in terms of the ghost maps on $\mathbb{W}(A)$ via the system of maps (of sets) $\delta_m \colon A \to A$. We'll show now that conversely, the ghost maps can be expressed in terms of Adams operations.

2.32. Lemma. — For any Λ -ring A with Adams operations $\psi^m \colon A \to A$, there are functorial maps (of sets) $\varepsilon_m \colon W_m(A) \to A$ for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ such that

$$\operatorname{gh}_m(x) = \sum_{d|m} d\psi^{m/d} \left(\varepsilon_d \operatorname{Res}_{m/d}(x) \right)$$

for all $x \in W_m(A)$. Here $\operatorname{Res}_{m/d} \colon W_m(A) \to W_d(A)$ is used to denote the restriction map for ordinary Witt vectors.

Proof. For the purpose of this proof, let us abuse notation by denoting the composition of $s: A \to W(A)$ from 2.30 with Res: $W(A) \to W_m(A)$ also by s_m . We claim that every $x \in W_m(A)$ can expressed as a sum $x = \sum_{d|m} V_d(s_{m/d}(x_{m/d}))$ for $x_d \in A$ in a unique way. Believing this claim, we can simply define $\varepsilon_m(x) \coloneqq x_1$ and compute

$$gh_m(x) = \sum_{d|m} gh_m \left(V_d \left(s_{m/d}(x_{m/d}) \right) \right) = \sum_{d|m} d gh_{m/d} \left(s_{m/d}(x_{m/d}) \right) = \sum_{d|m} d \psi^{m/d}(x_{m/d}) \,.$$

Since $\operatorname{Res}_{m/d}(x) = \sum_{e|d} V_e(s_{d/e}(x_{m/(d/e)}))$, our definition yields $\varepsilon_d \operatorname{Res}_{m/d}(x) = x_{m/d}$, so the computation shows that the desired formula holds.

To prove the claim, let's first show that every $x \in W_m(A)$ has such a representation. We use induction on m. The case m = 1 is clear. For m > 1, let $x_m \coloneqq \operatorname{gh}_1(x)$, then $\operatorname{gh}_1(x - s_m(x_m)) = 0$, hence $x - s_m(x_m)$ is contained in the ideal (im $V_p \mid p$ prime factor of m). Applying the inductive hypothesis for all $W_{m/p}(A)$, we get a representation $x = s_m(x_m) + \sum_{d \mid m, d \neq 1} V_d(s_{m/d}(x_{m/d}))$ as desired.

We'll only prove uniqueness in the case where A is flat over \mathbb{Z} and leave the general case to the reader. The flat case will be enough for our purposes, since it allows us to define ε_m for \mathbb{Z} -flat Λ -rings, hence, in particular, for free Λ -rings (possibly in infinitely many generators). By a formal argument, there's then a unique way to extend the ε_m functorially to all Λ -rings: Just write an arbitrary Λ -ring as a reflective coequaliser of free Λ -rings and use that $\mathbb{W}_m(-)$ commutes with reflective coequalisers. To show uniqueness in the flat case, first observe that in any representation $x = \sum_{d|m} V_d(s_{m/d}(x_{m/d}))$ the element x_m is uniquely determined via $x_m = \mathrm{gh}_1(x)$. Next, for all prime factors $p \mid m$, the element $x_{m/p}$ is uniquely determined via $\mathrm{gh}_p(x) = \psi^p(x_m) + px_{m/p}$, since A is p-torsion free by our flatness assumption. Continuing in this way, we find that all $x_{m/d}$ are uniquely determined.

2.33. Lemma. — For any Λ -ring A with Adams operations $\psi^m \colon A \to A$, the map (of sets, a priori) $c_m \colon \mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A[q]/(q^m - 1)$ given by

$$c_m(x) \coloneqq \sum_{d|m} [d]_{q^{m/d}} \psi^{m/d} (\varepsilon_d \operatorname{Res}_{m/d}(x))$$

is a morphism of rings.

Proof. We can always find a surjection $A' \to R$ from a \mathbb{Z} -flat Λ -ring A', hence we may assume that A is \mathbb{Z} -flat itself. Then $A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to \prod_{d|m} A[q]/\Phi_d(q)$ is injective. So it suffices to check that c_m is a ring morphism modulo $\Phi_d(q)$ for all $d \mid m$. For this, note that

$$[e]_{q^{m/e}} \equiv \begin{cases} e & \text{if } d \mid \frac{m}{e} \\ 0 & \text{if } d \nmid \frac{m}{e} \end{cases} \mod \Phi_d(q)$$

and then a straightforward calculation shows $c_m \equiv \psi^d \circ gh_{m/d} \mod \Phi_d(q)$. This is clearly a ring morphism, hence we're done.

2.34. Corollary. — Let R be a Λ -ring. Then the ring morphism $c_m \colon \mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A[q]/(q^m-1)$ from Lemma 2.33 extends uniquely to a functorial ring morphism

$$c_m : q - \mathbb{W}_m(A) \longrightarrow A[q]/(q^m - 1)$$

such that the following diagrams commute for all $d \mid m$:

$$\begin{array}{cccc} q - \mathbb{W}_m(A) & \stackrel{c_m}{\longrightarrow} & A[q]/(q^m - 1) & q - \mathbb{W}_m(A) & \stackrel{c_m}{\longrightarrow} & A[q]/(q^m - 1) \\ F_{m/d} & & & \\ F_{m/d} & & & \\ q - \mathbb{W}_d(A) & \stackrel{c_d}{\longrightarrow} & A[q]/(q^d - 1) & & & \\ q - \mathbb{W}_d(A) & \stackrel{c_d}{\longrightarrow} & A[q]/(q^d - 1) & & \\ \end{array}$$

Furthermore, the composition $c_m \circ s_m \colon A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to A[q]/(q^m - 1)$ is the $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear extension of the m^{th} Adams operation $\psi^m \colon A \to A$.

Proof. First one checks that the analogous diagrams with $\mathbb{W}_m(A)$ and $\mathbb{W}_d(A)$ commute. As in the proof of Lemma 2.33, it's enough to check this modulo all the cyclotomic polynomials, which leads to a straightforward calculation. Having checked this, it's now clear that the system $(A[q]/(q^m - 1))_{d|m}$ satisfies the conditions (a) and (b) of Definition 2.7 if we equip $A[q]/(q^d - 1)$ with the $\mathbb{W}_d(A)[q]/(q^d - 1)$ -algebra structure obtained via c_d and extend Frobenius and Verschiebung in the indicated way. By the universal property of $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(A))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, this provides us with the desired maps $c_m: q-\mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A[q]/(q^m - 1)$.

By surjecting from a Z-flat Λ -ring, it's again enough to check that $c_m \circ s_m = \psi^m$ holds modulo $\Phi_d(q)$ for every $d \mid m$. But we've seen in 2.30 that $\operatorname{gh}_{m/d} \circ s_m = \psi^d$ and we've seen in the proof of Lemma 2.33 that $c_m \equiv \psi^d \circ \operatorname{gh}_{m/d} \mod \Phi_d(q)$. Since $\psi^m = \psi^d \circ \psi^{m/d}$, we win. \Box

Using the comparison map from Corollary 2.34, we can now compute q-Witt vectors in some cases.

2.35. Proposition. — Let A be a Λ -ring such that all Adams operations $\psi^m \colon A \to A$ are injective. Then the ring morphism $c_m \colon q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A[q]/(q^m - 1)$ from Corollary 2.34 is an isomorphism onto the subring

$$\sum_{d|m} [d]_{q^{m/d}} \psi^{m/d}(A)[q]/(q^m - 1) \subseteq A[q]/(q^m - 1).$$

Proof. For all primes p, $A_{(p)}$ is a δ -ring with injective Frobenius $\psi^p \colon A_{(p)} \to A_{(p)}$, hence [BS19, Lemma 2.28] shows that A is p-torsion free for all primes p. Hence the projections $A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to A[q]/\Phi_d(q)$ for $d \mid m$ are jointly injective. The composition of c_m with the d^{th} such projection is $\psi^d \circ \text{gh}_{m/d}$. Since ψ^d is injective and the ghost maps on q- $\mathbb{W}_m(A)$ are jointly injective by Lemma 2.22, we deduce that $c_m : q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A[q]/(q^m - 1)$ is injective.

It's clear from the construction that the image of c_m is contained in the indicated subring. To show surjectivity, recall the construction of the maps $\varepsilon_m \colon \mathbb{W}_m(A) \to A$ from the proof of Lemma 2.32. For every $a \in A$ it immediately follows that $c_m(V_d(s_{m/d}(a))) = [d]_{q^{m/d}} \psi^{m/d}(a)$, hence the image of c_m must contain the whole subring above.

2.36. Corollary. — If A is a perfect Λ -ring (e.g. $A = \mathbb{Z}$, $A = \mathbb{Z}_p$, or $A = A_{inf}(R)$ for some perfectoid ring R), then the comparison maps from 2.30 and Corollary 2.34 are both isomorphisms:

$$s_m \colon A[q]/(q^m - 1) \xrightarrow{\cong} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(A) \quad and \quad c_m \colon q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(A) \xrightarrow{\cong} A[q]/(q^m - 1).$$

Proof. For c_m this is immediate from Proposition 2.35; for s_m we use $c_m \circ s_m = \psi^m$ by Corollary 2.34, which is an isomorphism since A is perfect.

2.37. Example. — As indicated in Remark 2.31, Corollary 2.36 is still true, for fixed m, if A is only a perfect Λ_m -ring. Now assume that R is any ring such that m is invertible in R. We can equip R with the trivial Λ_m -structure, where all Adams operations are the identity. This is clearly perfect, hence $c_m: q - W_m(R) \to R[q]/(q^m - 1)$ is an isomorphism. On the other hand, if p_1, \ldots, p_r are invertible in R, then the cyclotomic polynomials $\Phi_d(q)$ for $d \mid m$ are pairwise coprime in R[q] by Lemma 2.1, hence $R[q]/(q^m - 1) \cong \prod_{d \mid m} R[q]/\Phi_d(q)$ by the Chinese remainder theorem. Now recall from the proof of Lemma 2.33 that $c_m \equiv \psi^d \circ \operatorname{gh}_{m/d} \mod \Phi_d(q)$ and ψ^d is the identity on R. So an equivalent way of stating Corollary 2.36 in our case is that

$$\left(\operatorname{gh}_{m/d}\right)_{d|m} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_m(R) \xrightarrow{\cong} \prod_{d|m} R[q]/\Phi_d(q)$$

is an isomorphism.

2.38. Corollary. — If R is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} , then $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is of finite type over $\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m-1)$. In particular, it is noetherian.

Proof. If $P \to R$ is a surjection from a polynomial ring, then $q - \mathbb{W}_m(P) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is surjective too. Hence it suffices to consider the case where $R = \mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ is a polynomial ring. Equip $\mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ with the unique Λ -structure in which $\psi^p(T_i) = T_i^p$ for all primes pand all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. In this case, Proposition 2.35 tells us that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ isomorphic to the subing $B_m := \sum_{d|m} [d]_{q^{m/d}} \mathbb{Z}[T_1^{m/d}, \ldots, T_n^{m/d}, q]/(q^m - 1)$ sitting inside a chain of inclusions

$$\mathbb{Z}[T_1^m, \dots, T_k^m, q]/(q^m - 1) \subseteq B_m \subseteq \mathbb{Z}[T_1, \dots, T_k, q]/(q^m - 1)$$

Since $\mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_k, q]/(q^m - 1)$ is finite over the noetherian ring $\mathbb{Z}[T_1^m, \ldots, T_k^m, q]/(q^m - 1)$, it follows that B_m must be finite over $\mathbb{Z}[T_1^m, \ldots, T_k^m, q]/(q^m - 1)$ as well. This proves that B_m has finite type over $\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1)$, as desired.

§2.5. Relative *q*-Witt vectors

Using the comparison map c_m from §2.4, one can develop a theory of q-Witt vectors relative to a fixed Λ -ring A, in such a way that all structure maps are A[q]-linear. This is necessary since we would like to formulate our eventual applications [W-Hab; MW24] in a relative setting. First we introduce the following relative variant of Definition 2.7.

2.39. Definition. — Let A be a Λ -ring and let R be an A-algebra. A q-FV-system of A-algebras over R is a system of A[q]-algebras $(W_m)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$, together with the following structure:

- (a) For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, an A[q]-algebra map $q \mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m 1) \to W_m$. Here the tensor product is taken along the map c_m from Lemma 2.33.
- (b) For all divisors $d \mid m$, an A[q]-algebra morphism $F_{m/d} \colon W_m \to W_d$ and a A[q]-module morphism $V_{m/d} \colon W_d \to W_m$. These must be compatible with the Frobenii and Verschiebungen on q-Witt vectors (via the morphisms from (a)) and satisfy

$$F_{m/d} \circ V_{m/d} = m/d \quad \text{and} \quad V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = [m/d]_{q^d} \,.$$

These objects form an obvious category, which we denote $\operatorname{CRing}_{R/A}^{q\text{-}FV}$.

2.40. Lemma. — Let A be a Λ -ring and R an A-algebra. The category $\operatorname{CRing}_{R/A}^{q-FV}$ has an initial object $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. Explicitly, $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ is the quotient

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \cong \left(q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1)\right) / \mathbb{U}_m,$$

where \mathbb{U}_m is the ideal generated by $V_{m/d}(xy) \otimes 1 - V_{m/d}(x) \otimes c_d(y)$ for all divisors $d \mid m$, all $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R)$, and all $y \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(A)$.

2.41. Definition. — Let A be a Λ -ring and R an A-algebra. We call q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ the ring of m-truncated big q-Witt vectors of R relative A.

Proof of Lemma 2.40. First we should remark that $V_{m/d}(x) \otimes c_d(y)$ is a well-defined element of $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A), c_m} A[q]/(q^m - 1)$, even though, a priori, $c_d(y)$ is only an element of $A[q]/(q^d - 1)$. But $V_{m/d}(x) \in q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ is a $(q^d - 1)$ -torsion element, so it doesn't matter how we lift $c_d(y)$ to an element of $A[q]/(q^m - 1)$.

To show that $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$, defined as the quotient above, is indeed the desired initial object, we only need to check condition (b) from Definition 2.39. The ideal \mathbb{U}_m is constructed in such a way that we get a well-defined A[q]-linear map $q-\mathbb{W}_d(R) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_d(A)} A[q]/(q^d-1) \to q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ by sending $x \otimes a \mapsto V_{m/d}(x) \otimes a$ for all $x \in q-\mathbb{W}_d(R)$, $a \in A[q]/(q^d-1)$. Clearly, this map kills \mathbb{U}_d , hence we get our desired Verschiebung $V_{m/d}: q-\mathbb{W}_d(R/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$.

To construct the Frobenii, it's enough to construct $F_p: q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R/A)$ for all prime factors $p \mid m$. The Frobenius $F_p: q-\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$ and the canonical projection $A[q]/(q^m-1) \to A[q]/(q^{m/p}-1)$, which are compatible by Corollary 2.34, induce an A[q]-algebra morphism

$$F_p: q-\mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m-1) \longrightarrow q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m/p}(A) A[q]/(q^{m/p}-1).$$

To finish the proof, we must check $F_p(\mathbb{U}_m) \subseteq \mathbb{U}_{m/p}$. So let's consider a generator of the form $V_{m/d}(xy) \otimes 1 - V_{m/d}(x) \otimes c_d(y)$. Depending on whether p divides $n \coloneqq m/d$ or not, the element $F_p V_{m/d}(xy) \otimes 1 - F_p V_{m/d}(x) \otimes c_d(y)$ can be evaluated to either

$$p\big(V_{(m/p)/d}(xy) \otimes 1 - V_{(m/p)/d}(x) \otimes c_d(y)\big) \quad \text{or} \quad V_n\big(F_p(x)F_p(y)\big) \otimes 1 - V_n\big(F_p(x)\big) \otimes c_d(y) \,.$$

In the first case, we visibly get an element of $\mathbb{U}_{m/p}$. In the second case, recall from Corollary 2.34 that the image of $c_d(y)$ in $A[q]/(q^{d_0}-1)$ is precisely $c_{d_0}(F_p(y))$. Hence the element above is again contained in $\mathbb{U}_{m/p}$.

2.42. Remark. — As in Remark 2.11, for every truncation set $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$, the truncated sequence $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A))_{m\in S}$ satisfies a similar universal property. In the special case where $S = T_m$ is the set of divisors of m, the construction doesn't need a full Λ -structure on A; instead, a Λ_m -structure in the sense of Remark 2.31 will be enough.

Throughout the rest of this article, we'll exclusively work in the relative setting, since our applications work in the relative setting and the relative case isn't really more difficult. It is, however, a little heavier on the notation.

In the rest of this subsection, we'll show that (under mild assumptions) most of our results so far can be carried over to the relative setting. Let's begin with a few canonical constructions. **2.43.** Ghost maps for relative q-Witt vectors. — For all divisors $d \mid m$, we get a relative ghost map

$$\operatorname{gh}_{m/d} : q \operatorname{-W}_m(R/A) \longrightarrow R \otimes_{A, \psi^d} A[q]/\Phi_d(q).$$

This map can be constructed by tensoring the usual ghost map $\operatorname{gh}_{m/d}: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R[q]/\Phi_d(q)$ with the natural projection $A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to A[q]/\Phi_d(q)$ and checking that the ideal \mathbb{U}_m from Lemma 2.40 is sent to 0. It's also straightforward to check that $\operatorname{gh}_{m/d} = \operatorname{gh}_{d/d} \circ F_{m/d}$ and that $\operatorname{gh}_{m/m}: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to R \otimes_{A,\psi^m} A[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ can be identified with the quotient of $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ by the ideal generated by the images of all Verschiebungen $V_{m/d}$ for $d \mid m, d \neq m$.

2.44. Relative comparison maps. — Suppose R is a Λ -A-algebra. Using the universal property of $(q-\mathbb{W}_m(-/A))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, we see that the map $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to R[q]/(q^m-1)$ from Corollary 2.34 extends to an A[q]-algebra morphism

$$c_{m/A}: q \operatorname{-W}_m(R/A) \longrightarrow R[q]/(q^m - 1)$$

As we'll see in the proof of Lemma 2.45 and in Remark 2.46, this map is often injective and its image can be pinned down.

Furthermore, using $c_m \circ s_m = \psi^m$ by Corollary 2.34, we see that the trivial comparison map $s_m : A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)$ extends to an A[q]-algebra morphism

$$s_{m/A} \colon R \otimes_{A,\psi^m} A[q]/(q^m - 1) \longrightarrow q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$$
.

The composition $c_{m/A} \circ s_{m/A}$ is given by the linearised Adams operation $\psi_{A}^{m} \colon R \otimes_{A,\psi^{m}} A \to R$.

2.45. Lemma. — If $A \to A'$ is a morphism of Λ -rings and R is an A-algebra, then for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ the canonical map is an isomorphism

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \otimes_A A' \xrightarrow{\cong} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R \otimes_A A'/A').$$

Proof. The statement might seem like an exercise in universal properties, but it's not; the problem with such an approach is to construct a $\mathbb{W}_m(R \otimes_A A')$ -algebra structure on $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \otimes_A A'$. So instead, our proof will be somewhat indirect. It's enough to prove the case where $R \cong A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]$ is a polynomial ring over A (possibly in infinitely many variables). Indeed, using the universal property, it's straightforward to check that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(-A)$ commutes with reflective coequalisers and every A-algebra can be written as a reflective coequaliser of polynomial rings over A.

To prove the polynomial ring case, equip $A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]$ with a Λ -A-algebra structure via $\psi^p(T_i) := T_i^p$. The comparison map $c_{m/A} : q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]/A) \to A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}, q]/(q^m - 1)$ from 2.44 has its image contained in the subring

$$B_m \coloneqq \sum_{d|m} [d]_{q^{m/d}} A[\{T_i^{m/d}\}_{i \in I}, q]/(q^m - 1)$$

But we also have a canonical map $\pi: q - \mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{Z}[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]/A)$. Using Proposition 2.35 for $\mathbb{Z}[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]$, it's clear that $c_m \circ \pi: q - \mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{Z}[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A \to B_m$ is an isomorphism. We claim that the composition $\iota := \pi \circ (c_m \circ \pi)^{-1} \circ c_m$ is the identity on $q - \mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]/A)$. Believing this for the moment, we're done. Indeed, if ι is the identity, then π yields an isomorphism $q - \mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{Z}[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A \cong q - \mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]/A)$, an analogous isomorphism holds for A', and then the desired base change property is immediate.

§2. q-Witt vectors

To prove that ι is the identity, recall from Lemma 2.40 that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]/A)$ can be written as a quotient of $q - \mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1)$. Furthermore, it follows from the proof Lemma 2.32 that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(A[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}])$ is generated as a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -module by elements of the form $V_d(s_{m/d}(fa))$, where $f \in \mathbb{Z}[\{T_i\}_{i \in I}]$ is a polynomial with integral coefficients and $a \in A$. So we only need to check that ι fixes elements of the form $V_d(s_{m/d}(fa)) \otimes a'$ for f and a as above and $a' \in A[q]/(q^m - 1)$. By construction, c_m sends such an element to $[d]_{q^{m/d}}\psi^{m/d}(fa)a'$. Under the isomorphism $(c_m \circ \pi)^{-1}$, this is sent to $V_d(s_{m/d}(f)) \otimes \psi^{m/d}(a)a'$. But, again by construction, we have $\psi^{m/d}(a) = c_{m/d}(s_{m/d}(a))$. Hence $V_d(s_{m/d}(fa)) \otimes a' - V_d(s_{m/d}(f)) \otimes \psi^{m/d}(a)a'$ is contained in the ideal \mathbb{U}_m from Lemma 2.40, which proves that ι indeed sends the element $V_d(s_{m/d}(f)) \otimes \psi^{m/d}(a)a'$ to itself. We're done. \Box

2.46. Remark. — If A_{∞} is a perfect Λ -ring, then $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R/A_{\infty})$ holds for all A_{∞} -algebras R by Corollary 2.36. In general, if A is a Λ -ring for which the map $A \to A_{\infty}$ into its colimit perfection is faithfully flat^(2.3), then all the nice properties we proved about $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(-)$ in §2.2 will also hold for $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(-/A)$, since we can deduce them via Lemma 2.45 and faithfully flat descent. For example, it will be true that the Verschiebungen $V_{m/d}: q \cdot \mathbb{W}_d(R/A) \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ are injective, the analogue of Proposition 2.14 is true, and if R is relatively perfect over A, meaning that the linearised Adams operations $\psi_{/A}^p: R \otimes_{A,\psi^p} A \to R$ are isomorphisms for all p, then the comparison maps $s_{m/A}$ and $c_{m/A}$ from 2.44 are isomorphisms.

A-rings with the property that $A \to A_{\infty}$ is faithfully flat will be called *perfectly covered*. In most real life situations, the Adams operations $\psi^m \colon A \to A$ will be faithfully flat, hence A will be perfectly covered. A being perfectly covered will also be a crucial assumption in our eventual applications [MW24; W-Hab]. Still, it seems believable that even without this assumption the analogue of Proposition 2.14 is true (from which all other desired properties could easily be deduced). To prove this, the crucial step would be to show injectivity of the Verschiebung $V_p \colon q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}(R/A) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R/A)$. But it's not clear (at least to the author) how the proof of Lemma 2.16 could be adapted.

§2.6. *q*-Witt vectors and étale morphisms

The goal of this subsection is to prove the following proposition, which is a q-Witt vector analogue of results obtained by van der Kallen [vdKal86, Theorem (2.4)], Langer–Zink [LZ04, Corollary A.18], and Borger [Bor11, Theorem 9.2].

2.47. Proposition. — Let A be a Λ -ring, let $R \to R'$ be an étale morphism of A-algebras, and let m be a positive integer. Then $q - W_m(R/A) \to q - W_m(R'/A)$ is étale again. Furthermore, if $d \mid m$, then

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A) \xrightarrow{\cong} q - \mathbb{W}_d(R'/A)$$

is an isomorphism, where the tensor product is taken with respect to the Frobenius map $F_{m/d}: q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_{m/d}(R/A).$

$$(-\otimes_{A,\psi^m} A) \otimes_A A_{\infty} \cong - \otimes_{A,\psi^m} A_{\infty} \cong - \otimes_A A_{\infty}$$

as A_{∞} is perfect, so we can conclude since $A \to A_{\infty}$ is flat. This shows that $\psi^m \colon A \to A$ is flat. The same argument shows faithfulness.

^(2.3)In fact, if any faithfully flat morphism of Λ -rings $A \to A_{\infty}$ into a perfect Λ -ring exists, then the Adams operations $\psi^m \colon A \to A$ are faithfully flat (and so the map from A into its colimit perfection is faithfully flat as well). Indeed, whether $-\bigotimes_{A,\psi^m} A$ is exact can be checked after the faithfully flat base change along $A \to A_{\infty}$. But

2.48. Remark. — Let us indicate how the ordinary Witt vector analogue of Proposition 2.47 follows from the literature. For the étaleness of q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R')$, this is clear, but the assertion that

$$\mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{\mathbb{W}_m(R), F_{m/d}} \mathbb{W}_d(R) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathbb{W}_d(R')$$

is either stated only for p-typical Witt vectors (under the assumption that R and R' are F-finite) or only for the tensor product with respect to the restriction map $\operatorname{Res}_{m/d} \colon \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to \mathbb{W}_d(R)$. Nevertheless, the general case is true and can be deduced as follows. It's enough to consider the case where m/d = p is a prime. Write $m = p^{\alpha}n$, where $\alpha = v_p(m)$. By the p-typical case, as stated in [LZ04, Corollary A.18], the diagram

$$\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R')$$

$$F_{p} \downarrow \qquad \Box \qquad \downarrow F_{p}$$

$$\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R')$$

is a pushout diagram of rings, provided that R and R' are F-finite. By writing $R \to R'$ as a filtered colimit of étale morphism between rings of finite type over \mathbb{Z} (which are F-finite), we see that the diagram above is a pushout in general. Furthermore, [Bor11, Theorem 9.2] shows that the horizontal arrows in the pushout diagram are étale (in the F-finite case, this is also proved by Langer–Zink). Now [Bor11, Corollary 5.4] allows us to write $\mathbb{W}_m(-) \cong \mathbb{W}_n(\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(-))$ and [Bor11, Corollary 9.4] shows that the functor $\mathbb{W}_n(-)$ preserves pushouts in which one leg is étale. This proves what we want.

The crucial ingredient in the proof of Proposition 2.47 is the following.

2.49. Lemma. — Let A be a Λ -ring, let $R \to R'$ be an étale morphism of A-algebras, and let m be a positive integer. Then we get a canonical isomorphism

$$\mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{\mathbb{W}_m(R)} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \xrightarrow{\cong} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$$

Proof. We start with the case $A = \mathbb{Z}$ (that is, the case of absolute q-Witt vectors). We define

$$M \coloneqq \bigoplus_{d|m} \mathbb{W}_d(R)[q] \quad \text{and} \quad N \coloneqq \bigoplus_{e|d|m} \mathbb{W}_d(R)[q]$$

By Definition 2.9, we can write $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong \operatorname{coker}(M \oplus N \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q])$, where the map in question is given as follows: For a divisor $d \mid m$, the d^{th} component of $M \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]$ is given by $(q^d - 1)V_{m/d}$, and for a chain of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$, the $(e, d)^{\text{th}}$ component of $N \to \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]$ is given by $[d/e]_{q^e}V_{m/d} - V_{m/e}F_{d/e}$. Note that all of these are morphisms of $\mathbb{W}_m(R)[q]$ -modules, if we equip $\mathbb{W}_{m/d}(R)[q]$ with the module structure obtained through the Frobenius $F_{m/d}: \mathbb{W}_m(R)[q] \to \mathbb{W}_d(R)[q]$.

Similarly, $\mathbb{W}_m(R') \cong \operatorname{coker}(M' \oplus N' \to \mathbb{W}_m(R')[q])$, where M' and N' are defined as above, but with R replaced by R'. The discussion in Remark 2.48 shows that $M' \cong \mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{\mathbb{W}_m(R)} M$ and $N' \cong \mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{\mathbb{W}_m(R)} N$, which immediately yields $\mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{\mathbb{W}_m(R)} q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R')$, as claimed.

The proof in the relative case is analogous. Let

$$K := \bigoplus_{d|m} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_d(R) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q]} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(A) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q]} A[q].$$

Then Lemma 2.40 shows that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \cong \operatorname{coker}(K \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1))$, where the map is given is given as follows: On the d^{th} component, we send $x \otimes y \otimes a$ to $V_{m/d}(xy) \otimes a - V_{m/d}(x) \otimes c_m(y)a$. Similarly, we can describe $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$ as a cokernel $\operatorname{coker}(K' \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1))$. Since we've already proved the absolute case, we find $K' \cong \mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{\mathbb{W}_m(R)} K$ and the claim follows. \Box

Proof of Proposition 2.47. Both assertions follow immediately from Lemma 2.49 plus the analogous assertions for ordinary Witt vectors, which hold true as explained in Remark 2.48. \Box

We'll present two applications of Proposition 2.47. The first one is a similar pushout result for ghost maps.

2.50. Corollary. — If A is a Λ -ring, $R \to R'$ is an étale map of A-algebras, and m is a positive integer, then

$$\begin{array}{ccc} q \text{-} \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) & \longrightarrow & q \text{-} \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \\ & & \text{gh}_{m/d} \\ & & & & & \downarrow \text{gh}_{m/d} \\ & & R \otimes_{A,\psi^d} A[\zeta_d] & \longrightarrow & R' \otimes_{A,\psi^d} A[\zeta_d] \end{array}$$

is a pushout diagram of rings (both in the derived and in the underived sense) for all $d \mid m$.

Proof. Using $\operatorname{gh}_{m/d} = \operatorname{gh}_{d/d} \circ F_{m/d}$ and Proposition 2.47, we may assume m = d. Then $\operatorname{gh}_{m/m}: q \operatorname{-W}_m(R/A) \to (R \otimes_{A,\psi^m} A)[q]/\Phi_m(q)$ is identified with the projection map

$$q$$
- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \longrightarrow \operatorname{coker}(M \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)),$

where $M \coloneqq \bigoplus_{d|m} q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ and the map is given by $(V_{m/d})_{d|m}$. Likewise, the ghost map for R' is given by a similar projection map $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \to \operatorname{coker}(M' \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A))$. Proposition 2.47 implies $M' \cong q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} M$ and we're done. \Box

As a second application, we prove a partial inverse of Corollary 2.36. This result won't be needed again, but it's pretty convenient as a sanity check: It often appears on first glance that our q-Witt vectors (or later our q-de Rham–Witt complexes) are trivial in the sense of $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \cong R[q]/(q^m-1)$. The following result shows that already when $A = \mathbb{Z}$ and R is étale, this is not at all the case.

2.51. Corollary. — Let p be a prime and let R be an étale \mathbb{Z} -algebra such that $R \to \hat{R}_p$ is injective (equivalently, p is not invertible on any connected component of Spec R). If a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra isomorphism

$$\psi \colon q \text{-} \mathbb{W}_m(R) \xrightarrow{\cong} R[q]/(q^m - 1)$$

exists for some positive integer m divisible by p, then the unique Frobenius lift $\phi_p \colon \hat{R}_p \to \hat{R}_p$ restricts to a morphism $\phi_p \colon R \to R$. Furthermore, the ϕ_p commute for different p and R can be equipped with a Λ_m -structure.

Proof. Recall from Corollary 2.36 that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1)$; furthermore, by the commutative diagrams from Corollary 2.34, this isomorphism identifies the Frobenius $F_{m/p}$ with the canonical projection $\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1) \to \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1)$. Then Proposition 2.47 implies $q - \mathbb{W}_p(R) \cong q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)/(q^p - 1)$. In particular, if an isomorphism ψ as above exists, then there exists an isomorphism $q - \mathbb{W}_p(R) \cong R[q]/(q^p - 1)$ too. So we may as well assume m = p. The isomorphism $q - \mathbb{W}_p(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1)$ from Corollary 2.36 identifies the ghost maps gh_1 and gh_p with the canonical projections $\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1) \to \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p]$ and $\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1) \to \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_1] = \mathbb{Z}$, respectively. The pushouts of $\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1) \to R[q]/(q^p - 1)$ along these maps are $R[\zeta_p]$ and R, respectively. But Corollary 2.50 tells us that these pushouts can also be identified with the ghost maps for $q - \mathbb{W}_p(R)$. We thus obtain unique $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra automorphisms

$$\psi_1 \colon R[\zeta_p] \xrightarrow{\cong} R[\zeta_p] \text{ and } \psi_p \colon R \xrightarrow{\cong} R$$

such that the following diagrams commute:

$$\begin{array}{ccc} q \text{-} \mathbb{W}_p(R) & \xrightarrow{\text{gh}_1} & R[\zeta_p] & q \text{-} \mathbb{W}_p(R) & \xrightarrow{\text{gh}_p} & R\\ & \cong & \downarrow \psi & \cong & \downarrow \psi_1 & \text{and} & \cong & \downarrow \psi & \cong & \downarrow \psi_p\\ R[q]/(q^p - 1) & \longrightarrow & R[\zeta_p] & R[q]/(q^p - 1) & \longrightarrow & R \end{array}$$

By composing ψ with $\psi_p^{-1} \otimes \operatorname{id} : R[q]/(q^p - 1) \cong R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1) \to R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^p - 1)$ we may assume $\psi_p = \operatorname{id}$. Now let $x = (x_1, x_p) \in \mathbb{W}_p(R)$ be an element written in Witt vector coordinates; we view x as an element of $q - \mathbb{W}_p(R)$ as well. Then the left commutative diagram shows $\psi(x) \equiv \psi_1 \operatorname{gh}_1(x) \equiv \psi_1(x_1) \mod \Phi_p(q)$ and similarly the right one shows $\psi(x) \equiv \psi_p \operatorname{gh}_p(x) \equiv x_1^p + px_p \mod (q-1)$ since we assume $\psi_p = \operatorname{id}$. Thus

$$\psi_1(x_1) \equiv x_1^p \mod \left(\zeta_p - 1\right);$$

in other words, ψ_1 induces the Frobenius on $R[\zeta_p]/(\zeta_p - 1) \cong R/p$. Since R is étale over \mathbb{Z} , this property, together with $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linearity, uniquely determines the morphism induced by ψ_1 on the $(\zeta_p - 1)$ -adic completion $R[\zeta_p]^{\wedge}_{(\zeta_p - 1)}$. This completion coincides with $\widehat{R}_p[\zeta_p] \cong \widehat{R}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p]$. Now

$$\phi_p \otimes \mathrm{id} \colon \widehat{R}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p] \longrightarrow \widehat{R}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p]$$

also restricts to the Frobenius modulo $(\zeta_p - 1)$. Hence it coincides with ψ_1 and must therefore map the subring $R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p] \subseteq \widehat{R}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p]$ into itself. But $\phi_p \otimes id$ also respects the decomposition $\widehat{R}_p \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}[\zeta_p] \cong \bigoplus_{i=0}^{p-2} \zeta_p^i \widehat{R}_p$, hence ϕ_p must restrict to an endomorphism of R, as claimed.

Now let $\ell \neq p$ be another prime factor of m such that $R \to \hat{R}_{\ell}$ is injective. Then $\phi_{\ell} \colon R \to R$ induces an endomorphism of \hat{R}_p as well, and it's enough to show $\phi_p \circ \phi_{\ell} = \phi_{\ell} \circ \phi_p$ as endomorphisms of \hat{R}_p . By *p*-complete étaleness, we can further reduce to checking this on R/p. But then everything becomes obvious because any ring endomorphism of R/p commutes with the Frobenius.

To prove that R can be equipped with a Λ_m -structure, observe that the above construction allows us to define commuting Frobenius lifts on R for all primes $p \mid m$. Indeed, on those components of Spec R where p is not invertible, we can use the construction above, and on the other components we can simply take the identity.

§3. *q*-de Rham–Witt complexes

There are several objects that people call de Rham-Witt (pro-)complex: The original construction [Ill79] due to Illusie, building on work of Bloch, Deligne, and Lubkin, defines a pro-complex $(W_n \Omega_R^*)_{n \ge 1}$ for any \mathbb{F}_p -algebra R. Langer-Zink [LZ04] define a relative de Rham-Witt procomplex $(W_n \Omega_{R/A}^*)_{n \ge 1}$ for any map $A \to R$ of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebras. Finally, Hesselholt-Madsen [HM03; Hes15] define an absolute big de Rham-Witt complex for any ring R.

The goal of this section is to study a system of (strictly) graded-commutative differentialgraded A[q]-algebras $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, which we call truncated q-de Rham-Witt complexes of R, for any Λ -ring A and any A-algebra R. Even though our construction naturally works with big Witt vectors, even in the case $A = \mathbb{Z}$ it's a much closer analogue of [LZ04] than of Hesselholt-Madsen's absolute big de Rham-Witt complex. It seems possible that by dropping the $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linearity of the differentials, one can obtain a q-analogue of $q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_R$ of Hesselholt-Madsen's absolute construction, but we haven't pursued this so far.

Throughout this section, we work relative to a fixed Λ -ring A. The most important case is $A = \mathbb{Z}$, the additional generality is only needed for our eventual applications [W-Hab; MW24].

§3.1. Three non-equivalent categories

Even though Langer–Zink's construction generalises Illusie's, they proceed in a slightly different way: For Langer–Zink, the Frobenius operators are part of the definition of $(W_n \Omega_{R/A})_{n \ge 1}$, whereas Illusie only constructs them a posteriori. Similarly, we have the choice of whether or not to include Frobenii in our definition of $(q-\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. Both definitions turn out to be equivalent, or rather they lead to two non-equivalent categories (Definitions 3.1 and 3.6) which happen to have the same initial object (as we'll see in Proposition 3.17). What makes things even more confusing is that in the case where R is smooth over \mathbb{Z} , there is a third category (Definition 3.9) in which $(q-\mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is initial (as we'll see in Proposition 4.1).

To alleviate this confusion, let us first carefully introduce these three different categories. We begin with the variant without Frobenii.

3.1. Definition. — Fix an A-algebra R. A q-V-system of differential-graded A-algebras over R is a system $(P_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ of commutative differential-graded A[q]-algebras, equipped with the following additional structure:

- (a) For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, an A[q]-algebra morphism $q \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to P_m^0$.
- (b) For all divisors $d \mid m$, a morphism $V_{m/d} \colon P_d^* \to P_m^*$ of graded A[q]-modules. These are required to be compatible with the Verschiebungen on relative q-Witt vectors (via the morphisms from (a)) and must satisfy $V_{m/e} = V_{m/d} \circ V_{d/e}$ for all chains of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$ as well as $V_{m/d}(\omega \, d\eta) = V_{m/d}(\omega) \, dV_{m/d}(\eta)$ for all $\omega \in P_d^{i+1}, \eta \in P_d^i$.

Furthermore, we require that the following V-Teichmüller condition is satisfied:

 (τ_V) For all $d \mid m$ and all $\omega \in P_d^*$, $r \in R$, one has

$$V_{m/d}(\omega) \,\mathrm{d}\tau_m(r) = V_{m/d}(\omega\tau_d(r)^{m/d-1}) \,\mathrm{d}V_{m/d}\tau_d(r) \,.$$

Here $\tau_m(r) \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ and $\tau_d(r) \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ denote the respective Teichmüller lifts, which we also implicitly identify with their images in P_m^0 and P_d^0 , respectively.

There is an obvious category of q-V-systems of differential-graded A-algebras over R, which we denote $\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V}$.
3.2. Lemma. — Let R be an A-algebra. In any q-V-system $(P_m^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ over R, the Verschiebungen satisfy the relation

$$V_n \circ \mathrm{d} = n(\mathrm{d} \circ V_n)$$

Proof. We write n = m/d and use the second condition from Definition 3.1(b) to obtain $V_{m/d}(d\omega) = V_{m/d}(1) dV_{m/d}(\omega) = [m/d]_{q^d} dV_{m/d}(\omega)$ for all $\omega \in P_d^*$. Here we also used that $V_{m/d}(1) = [m/d]_{q^d}$ holds in q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$. But ω and thus $dV_{m/d}(\omega)$ are (q^d-1) -torsion elements, hence multiplication by $[m/d]_{q^d}$ agrees with multiplication by m/d.

3.3. *V*-Divided powers. — In classical Witt vector theory, one often considers a divided power structure on the ideal generated by the Verschiebung. In general, this can't be done for our *q*-Witt vectors $q-W_m(R)$, since we're working with big rather than *p*-typical Witt vectors and we don't assume that *R* is a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra. However, if *p* is a prime factor of *m*, then there's still a well-defined map $\gamma_p \colon \operatorname{im} V_p \to \operatorname{im} V_p$ sending $V_p(x)$ to $p^{p-2}V_p(x^p)$ (here we use that V_p is injective by Corollary 2.18); it satisfies $p\gamma_p(v) = v^p$ for all $v \in \operatorname{im} V_p$. We then say that a derivation d: $q-W_m(R) \to M$ is a *V*-*PD*-derivation if $d\gamma_p(v) = v^{p-1} dv$.

3.4. Lemma. — Let R be an A-algebra. For any q-V-system $(P_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ over R and all m, the composition q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to P_m^0 \to P_m^1$ is a V-PD-derivation. In fact, for any prime factor $p \mid m$ and all $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R/A)$, we have the stronger condition

$$\mathrm{d}V_p(x^p) = V_p(x^{p-1})\,\mathrm{d}V_p(x)\,.$$

Proof. The proof is mostly the same as in [LZ04, Lemma 1.5]. We use induction on m, the case m = 1 being trivial. So let m > 1. We proceed in three steps: Step 1 is to prove the relation in the case $x = a\tau_{m/p}(r)$ for some $a \in A[q]$ and some $r \in R$. Step 2 is to prove that if the relation is satisfied for $x = x_1$ and $x = x_2$, then it's satisfied for $x = x_1 + x_2$ as well. Step 3 is prove the relation in the case $x = V_{\ell}(y)$ for some prime factor $\ell \mid m$ (including $\ell = p$) and some $y \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$.

For the first two steps, we can copy Langer–Zink's proof, except that in the first step, Langer and Zink use the *F*-Teichmüller condition (see (τ_F) below), but the argument works equally well with the *V*-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) . For the third step, apply $\ell^{p-2}V_\ell$ to both sides of $dV_p(y^p) = V_p(y^{p-1}) dV_p(y)$ (which we know from the inductive hypothesis). Using $V_\ell \circ d = \ell(d \circ V_\ell)$ by Lemma 3.2 and $V_\ell(y)^p = \ell^{p-1}V_\ell(y)$, the left-hand side becomes

$$\ell^{p-2}V_{\ell}(\mathrm{d}V_{p}(y^{p})) = \ell^{p-1}\,\mathrm{d}V_{\ell}V_{p}(y^{p}) = \mathrm{d}V_{p}(\ell^{p-1}V_{\ell}(y^{p})) = \mathrm{d}V_{p}(V_{\ell}(y)^{p}).$$

In a similar way, the right-hand side becomes

$$\ell^{p-2}V_{\ell}(V_p(y^{p-1})\,\mathrm{d}V_p(y)) = \ell^{p-2}V_{\ell}(V_p(y^{p-1}))\,\mathrm{d}V_{\ell}V_p(y) = V_p(V_{\ell}(y)^{p-1})\,\mathrm{d}V_pV_{\ell}(y)\,.$$

This finishes Step 3, the induction, and the proof.

3.5. Remark. — It turns out that an even stronger version of Lemma 3.4 is true: If $d \mid m$ is any divisor, and $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$, then

$$dV_{m/d}(x^{m/d}) = V_{m/d}(x^{m/d-1}) dV_{m/d}(x).$$

The author doesn't know how to generalise the proof of Lemma 3.4. Instead, one can argue as follows: It suffices to prove this for the universal q-V-system over R. We'll see that such a

thing exists in Proposition 3.12; furthermore, this proposition shows that we can reduce to the case where R is a polynomial ring over A (possibly in infinitely many variables). Furthermore, it will follow from Proposition 4.1 and passing to filtered colimits that the universal q-V-system over a polynomial ring is degree-wise \mathbb{Z} -torsion-free. But the relation in question is easily seen to be true after multiplication with $(m/d)^{m/d-1}$, so we're done. Note that we couldn't have used this argument in the first place, since we'll need Lemma 3.4 (in its weak form) to prove Proposition 4.1.

Next we define the variant that has Frobenii.

3.6. Definition. — Fix an A-algebra R. A q-FV-system of differential-graded A-algebras over R is a q-V-system $(P_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ as in Definition 3.1 together with the following additional structure:

(c) For all $d \mid m$, a morphism $F_{m/d} \colon P_m^* \to P_d^*$ of graded A[q]-algebras. These are required to be compatible with the Frobenius maps on q-Witt vectors (via the morphisms from Definition 3.1(a)) and must satisfy $F_{m/e} = F_{d/e} \circ F_{m/d}$ for all chains of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$. Furthermore, they must interact with the Verschiebungen in the following way:

$$F_{m/d} \circ d \circ V_{m/d} = d$$
 and $V_{m/d} (\omega F_{m/d}(\eta)) = V_{m/d}(\omega)\eta$

for all $\omega \in P_d^*$, $\eta \in P_m^*$. Moreover, F_n must commute with V_k whenever n, k are coprime. Finally, we must have the familiar relations

$$F_{m/d} \circ V_{m/d} = m/d$$
 and $V_{m/d} \circ F_{m/d} = [m/d]_{q^d}$

Last but not least, we require that the following F-Teichmüller condition is satisfied:

 (τ_F) For all $d \mid m$ and all $r \in R$, one has

$$F_{m/d}(\mathrm{d}\tau_m(r)) = \tau_d(r)^{m/d-1} \,\mathrm{d}\tau_d(r) \,.$$

Here $\tau_m(r) \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ and $\tau_d(r) \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ denote the respective Teichmüller lifts, which we also implicitly identify with their images in P_m^0 and P_d^0 , respectively.

There is an obvious category of q-FV-systems of differential-graded algebras over R, which we denote $\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-FV}$, and an obvious forgetful functor $\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-FV} \to \text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V}$.

3.7. Lemma. — Let R be an A-algebra. In any q-FV-system $(P_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ over R, the Frobenii satisfy the relation

$$\mathbf{d} \circ F_n = n(\mathbf{d} \circ V_n) \,.$$

Proof. We write n = m/d and use the conditions from Definition 3.6(c) to compute that $dF_{m/d}(\omega) = F_{m/d}(dV_{m/d}F_{m/d}(\omega)) = [m/d]_{q^d}F_{m/d}(d\omega)$ for all $\omega \in P_m^*$. But this computation takes place in P_d^* , which is $(q^d - 1)$ -torsion, so multiplication by $[m/d]_{q^d}$ and by m/d agree. \Box

3.8. Remark. — In Definition 3.6, the condition that (P_m^*) be a q-V-system was added for simplicity, but it's partially redundant. As explained after [LZ04, Definition 1.4], the condition $V_{m/d}(\omega d\eta) = V_{m/d}(\omega) dV_{m/d}(\eta)$ from Definition 3.1(b) is easily implied by the conditions from Definition 3.6(c), and the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) follows easily from this and the F-Teichmüller condition (τ_F) .

Finally, we introduce the variant that only becomes relevant for smooth \mathbb{Z} -algebras.

3.9. Definition. — Fix an A-algebra R. A torsion-free q-V-system of differential-graded Aalgebras over R is a system (P_m^*) of degree-wise Z-torsion-free differential-graded A[q]-algebras, equipped with the additional structure from Definition 3.1(a) and (b). The corresponding category will be denoted $(\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V})^{\text{tors-free}}$.

3.10. Remark. — Note that every torsion-free q-V-system is also a q-V-system. Indeed, in general, the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) always holds up to $(m/d)^{m/d-1}$ -torsion, so it's automatically true in the \mathbb{Z} -torsion-free case. In particular, there is a fully faithful forgetful functor $(\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V})^{\text{tors-free}} \to \text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V}$.

3.11. A theory without restrictions (again). — Observe that we do not include any restriction maps in Definitions 3.1, 3.6, and $3.9.^{(3.1)}$ This is of course necessitated by the fact that there are no restrictions for *q*-Witt vectors.

Surprisingly though, restrictions are also not needed for Langer–Zink's construction! Indeed, let $R \to S$ be any map of $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebras and let $\text{CDGAlg}_{S/R}^{FV,(p)}$ be the category of FV-procomplexes $(P_n^*)_{n \ge 1}$ over the *R*-algebra *S* as in [LZ04, Definition 1.4], but without the restriction maps $P_{n+1}^* \to P_n^*$ (this is of course an informal definition; we leave it to the reader to formalise it). Then the de Rham–Witt pro-complex $(W_n \Omega_{S/R}^*)_{n \ge 1}$ is still initial in the category $\text{CDGAlg}_{S/R}^{FV,(p)}$. To see this, just skim through [LZ04, §1.3] and note that compatibility with the restrictions is never enforced. We'll see in Remark 3.18 below that this observation provides us with a map from Langer–Zink's de Rham–Witt complexes to our *q*-de Rham–Witt complexes.

§3.2. Construction of *q*-de Rham–Witt complexes

In this subsection we'll construct $(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A})_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ and derive some first properties. Our goal is to prove the following proposition.

3.12. Proposition. — Let R be an A-algebra. The category $\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V}$ has an initial object $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R/A}^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, which has the following properties:

- (a) For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the canonical map $\Omega^*_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)/A[q]} \to q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$ is surjective. For m = 1, it induces an isomorphism $\Omega^*_{R/A} \cong q-\mathbb{W}_1\Omega^*_{R/A}$.
- (b) For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the structure map from Definition 3.1(a) induces an isomorphism $q \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \cong q \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^0_{R/A}$.

3.13. Definition. — Let R be an A-algebra. For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the differential-graded A[q]-algebra q- $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}$ from Proposition 3.12 is called the *m*-truncated q-de Rham–Witt complex of R relative to $A^{(3.2)}$

Proof of Proposition 3.12. We proceed inductively. For m = 1, we put $q - \mathbb{W}_1 \Omega^*_{R/A} \coloneqq \Omega^*_{R/A}$. Now let m > 1 and assume that we've already constructed $q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A}$ for all divisors $d \mid m$,

^(3.1)Which is also why we can't use the term FV-pro-complex as in [LZ04, Definition 1.4]—at best, in the presence of Frobenii, we get a pro-system of graded A[q]-algebras, but never of complexes.

^(3.2)Again, we've deviated again from the terminology of [Wag21, Definition 5.17], as we're not working in a (q-1)-complete setting and also Z-torsion-freeness is not assumed. It will be apparent from Proposition 4.1 (plus Corollary 2.38 to ensure that completions behave nicely) that the q-de Rham–Witt complexes defined in [Wag21, Definition 5.17] coincide with $(q-W_m\Omega_R^*)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}$, where the completion is taken degree-wise (and it doesn't matter whether we take the underived or the derived completion).

 $d \neq m$, satisfying (a) and (b), along with Verschiebungen $V_{d/e}$ for all $e \mid d$ satisfying the conditions from Definition 3.1. Now let $\mathbb{J}_m^* \subseteq \Omega_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)/A[q]}^*$ be the smallest differential-graded ideal satisfying the following conditions for all divisors $d \mid m, d \neq m$:

 (V_d) For all $j \ge 1$, all finite indexing sets I, and all sequences $(w_i, x_{i,1}, \ldots, x_{i,j})_{i \in I}$ of elements of $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ such that $0 = \sum_{i \in I} w_i \, dx_{i,1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{i,j}$ holds in $q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^j_{R/A}$ (which is a quotient of $\Omega^j_{q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)/A[q]}$ by (a), so the sum makes sense), the following homogeneous degree-j element is contained in \mathbb{J}_m^* :

$$\xi \coloneqq \sum_{i \in I} V_{m/d}(w_i) \, \mathrm{d}V_{m/d}(x_{i,1}) \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}V_{m/d}(x_{i,j}) \,.$$

 (τ_d) For all $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ and all $r \in R$ (so that $V_{m/d}(x)$ and $V_{m/d}(x\tau_d(r)^{m/d-1})$ are already defined), the following homogeneous degree-1 element is contained in \mathbb{J}_m^* :

$$\eta \coloneqq V_{m/d}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\tau_m(r) - V_{m/d}(x\tau_d(r)^{m/d-1}) \,\mathrm{d}V_{m/d}\tau_d(r) \,.$$

Explicitly, \mathbb{J}_m^* is the graded ideal generated by all ξ , $d\xi$, η , and $d\eta$, where ξ and η are as in (V_d) and (τ_d) , respectively. We put q- $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R/A}^* := \Omega_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)/A[q]}^*/\mathbb{J}_m^*$. It's a differential-graded A[q]-algebra by construction. Condition (V_d) makes sure that there's a well-defined map $V_{m/d}: q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d\Omega_{R/A}^* \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R/A}^*$ given by the formula

$$V_{m/d}(w \,\mathrm{d} x_1 \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d} x_j) = V_{m/d}(w) \,\mathrm{d} V_{m/d}(x_1) \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d} V_{m/d}(x_j) \,.$$

This automatically satisfies the condition from Definition 3.1(b). Furthermore, (τ_d) ensures that $q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^*$ satisfies the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) for $\omega = x$ in degree 0, which easily implies the general case. Finally, it's clear from the construction that conditions (a) and (b) are true. This finishes the inductive step. It's straightforward to see that $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R/A}^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ is really initial in $\mathrm{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V}$.

3.14. Remark. — As in Remark 2.42, the proof of Proposition 3.12 shows that a similar universal property also holds for every truncated system: If $S \subseteq \mathbb{N}$ is any truncation set (in the sense of 2.5), we define an *S*-truncated q-*V*-system of differential-graded *A*-algebras over *R* to be a systems of differential-graded $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebras $(P_m^*)_{m\in S}$ equipped with the structure from Definition 3.1(*a*), (*b*) for all $m \in S$ as well as satisfying the *V*-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) for all $m \in S$. Then $(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^*)_{m\in S}$ is the initial *S*-truncated q-*V*-system.

In the case where $S = \dot{T}_m$ is the set of divisors of m, we only need a Λ_m -structure on A to define $(q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A})_{d \in T_m}$.

3.15. Ghost maps. — It turns out that $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})$ comes equipped with maps of differential-graded A[q]-algebras

$$\operatorname{gh}_{m/d} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \longrightarrow \Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A, \psi^d} A[\zeta_d]$$

for all $d \mid m$, generalising the ghost maps for relative q-Witt vectors. To construct these maps, it's enough to equip $\left(\prod_{d\mid m} (\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\psi^d} A[\zeta_d])\right)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ with the structure of a q-V-system over R.

According to Definition 3.1(*a*), the first piece of structure we must provide are ring maps q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to \prod_{d|m} (R \otimes_{A,\psi^d} A[\zeta_d])$ for all m. But we can simply take them to be the product

 $(gh_{m/d})_{d|m}$ of all relative q-Witt vector ghost maps; see 2.43. Furthermore, we have to define Verschiebungen

$$V_{m/n} \colon \prod_{e|n} \left(\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A, \psi^e} A[\zeta_e] \right) \longrightarrow \prod_{d|m} \left(\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A, \psi^d} A[\zeta_d] \right)$$

for all divisors $n \mid m$. We do this as follows: If $\omega = (\omega_e)_{e\mid n}$ is homogeneous of degree *i*, we let $V_{m/n}(\omega) \coloneqq (V_{m/n}(\omega)_d)_{d\mid m}$, where

$$V_{m/n}(\omega)_d \coloneqq \begin{cases} (m/n)^{i+1}\omega_e & \text{if } d = e \mid n \\ 0 & \text{else} \end{cases}$$

This is compatible with $V_{m/n}: q - \mathbb{W}_n(R/A) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ because of how Witt vector Verschiebungen interact with ghost maps. The other conditions from Definition 3.1(b) as well as the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) are straightforward to check. This finishes the construction.

Finally, our relative q-de Rham–Witt complexes enjoy a similar base change property as in Lemma 2.45.

3.16. Lemma. — If $A \to A'$ is a morphism of Λ -rings and R is an A-algebra, then for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ the canonical map is an isomorphism

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_A A' \xrightarrow{\cong} q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R \otimes_A A'/A'}.$$

Proof. It's straightforward to verify the desired universal property for $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_A A'$. The only non-obvious property is the condition from Definition 3.6(*a*), that is, the existence of an A[q]-algebra map $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R \otimes_A A'/A') \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \otimes_A A'$. But this was taken care of in Lemma 2.45.

§3.3. Construction of Frobenii

In this subsection we'll prove the following proposition:

3.17. Proposition. — Let R be an A-algebra. There is a unique choice of Frobenius operators on $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$, making it into a q-FV-system. Moreover, this exhibits $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ as an initial object of the category of q-FV-systems.

3.18. Remark. — As a consequence of 3.11 and Proposition 3.17, we get a comparison map between ordinary and q-de Rham–Witt complexes in the case where A a $\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}$ -algebra. Indeed, in this case there's a forgetful functor

$$\mathrm{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-FV} \longrightarrow \mathrm{CDGAlg}_{R/\mathbb{Z}_{(p)}}^{FV,(p)}$$

sending $(P_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ to $(P_{p^{n-1}}^*)_{n \ge 1}$, which induces morphisms

$$W_{\alpha+1}\Omega^*_{R/A} \longrightarrow q - W_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^*_{R/A}$$

for all $\alpha \ge 0$, compatible with Frobenii and Verschiebungen.

3.19. Battle plan. — Unfortunately, the proof of Proposition 3.17 will be rather laborious. We construct the Frobenii $F_{m/d}: q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A}$ using induction on m. For m = 1, there's nothing to do. For the rest of this subsection, let m > 1 and assume that $F_{d/e}$ has been constructed for all $e \mid d \mid m, d \neq m$, in such a way that the conditions from Definition 3.6(c) and (τ_F) are satisfied. It then suffices to construct $F_p: q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^*_{R/A}$ for any prime factor $p \mid m$. Fix such a prime p. Our first goal is to construct a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear derivation

$$F_p d: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$$

The notation F_p d is chosen in a suggestive way, of course, but has no intrinsic meaning yet. Once F_p d is constructed, we'll painstakingly verify that it extends to a graded A[q]-algebra map $F_p: q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^*_{R/A}$ with all desired properties.

3.20. Some properties that $F_p d$ should have. — Given what $F_p d$ should be, we immediately note that it should satisfy the properties below.

(a) On Teichmüller lifts, the values of F_p d are prescribed by (τ_F) : We must have

$$F_p \,\mathrm{d}\tau_m(r) = \tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} \,\mathrm{d}\tau_{m/p}(r) \,.$$

(b) On elements in im V_{ℓ} , where ℓ is any prime factor of m, the values of F_p d are also prescribed by Definition 3.6(c): If $\ell = p$, we immediately get

$$F_p \,\mathrm{d}V_p(x) = \mathrm{d}x$$
.

If $\ell \neq p$, it's a little less straightforward to see. First note that $F_p \, dV_\ell(x)$ is uniquely determined by $pF_p \, dV_\ell(x)$ and $\ell F_p \, dV_\ell(x)$, as ℓ and p are coprime. Using Lemmas 3.2 and 3.7, we see that necessarily

$$pF_p \,\mathrm{d}V_\ell(x) = \mathrm{d}F_p V_\ell(x)$$
 and $\ell F_p \,\mathrm{d}V_\ell(x) = F_p(V_\ell \,\mathrm{d}x) = V_\ell(F_p \,\mathrm{d}x)$

The right-hand sides are uniquely determined by induction and the fact that F_p should be just the usual Frobenius in degree 0.

We also note that together with F_p d being $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear, properties (a) and (b) already show that there is at most one choice for F_p d: q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$. More generally, this shows that there is at most one choice of an A[q]-linear derivation F_p d: q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^1_{R/A}$.

3.21. Lemma. — Let $\mathbb{V}_m := (\operatorname{im} V_\ell \mid \ell \text{ prime factor of } m) \subseteq q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$. Then there is a well-defined $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear map $F_p d: \mathbb{V}_m \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^1_R$ given as in 3.20(b).

Proof. From Proposition 2.14, we get an exact sequence

$$\bigoplus_{\ell_1 \neq \ell_2} q \operatorname{-W}_{m/\ell_1 \ell_2}(R) \xrightarrow{(V_{\ell_1} - V_{\ell_2})} \bigoplus_{\ell} q \operatorname{-W}_{m/\ell}(R) \xrightarrow{(V_{\ell})} \mathbb{V}_m \longrightarrow 0;$$

here ℓ , ℓ_1 , and ℓ_2 range over all prime factors of m. Condition (b) above defines a unique $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ linear map $\bigoplus_{\ell} q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega_R^1$ (here we also use injectivity of the Verschiebungen, see Corollary 2.18) and we only have to check that $\bigoplus_{\ell_1 \neq \ell_2} q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell_1\ell_2}(R)$ maps into its kernel. We can do this one summand at a time. So fix prime factors $\ell_1 \neq \ell_2$. We distinguish two cases:

Case 1: $p \notin \{\ell_1, \ell_2\}$. In this case, it's enough to check that $pF_p d$ and $\ell_1 \ell_2 F_p d$ are well-defined, since p and $\ell_1 \ell_2$ are coprime. For $pF_p d$, we have to check that $dF_p V_{\ell_1}(V_{\ell_2}(x)) = dF_p V_{\ell_2}(V_{\ell_1}(x))$

holds for all $x \in q-\mathbb{W}_{m/\ell_1\ell_2}(R)$, which is clear. For $\ell_1\ell_2F_p d$, we have to check the condition $\ell_2V_{\ell_1}(F_p \, \mathrm{d}V_{\ell_2}(x)) = \ell_1V_{\ell_2}(F_p \, \mathrm{d}V_{\ell_1}(x))$, which again is clear as both sides can be transformed into $V_{\ell_1\ell_2}(F_p \, \mathrm{d}x)$, using Lemma 3.2.

Case 2: $p \in \{\ell_1, \ell_2\}$. Without restriction let $p = \ell_1$ and $\ell = \ell_2$. This time we check that $pF_p d$ and $\ell F_p d$ are well-defined. For $pF_p d$, we must check that $dF_pV_\ell(V_p(x)) = p dV_\ell(x)$ holds for all $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/\ell_1\ell_2}(R)$, which follows from $F_p \circ V_\ell \circ V_p = F_p \circ V_p \circ V_\ell = pV_\ell$. For $\ell F_p d$, we must check that $V_\ell(F_p dV_p(x)) = \ell dV_\ell(x)$. But this follows from the inductive hypothesis, which ensures that $F_p dV_p(x) = dx$, and Lemma 3.2.

3.22. Construction. — We construct a well-defined map $F_p d: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ as follows: By 2.12, every $x \in q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ can be uniquely written as

$$x = \sum_{i=0}^{\varphi(m)-1} q^i \tau_m(r_i) + v \,,$$

where $\varphi(m) = \deg \Phi_m(q)$ denotes Euler's φ -function, $r_i \in R$, and $v \in \mathbb{V}_m$. We then define

$$F_p \,\mathrm{d}x = \sum_{i=0}^{\varphi(m)-1} q^i \tau_{m/p}(r_i)^{p-1} \,\mathrm{d}\tau_{m/p}(r_i) + F_p \,\mathrm{d}v \,,$$

where $F_p dv$ is constructed as in Lemma 3.21.

3.23. Lemma. — The map $F_p d: q \cdot W_m(R) \to q \cdot W_{m/p} \Omega_R^*$ from Construction 3.22 is additive.

Proof. It's straightforward to see from Definition 3.13 that q-de Rham–Witt complexes commute with filtered colimits in R. By writing R as a filtered colimit of finite type \mathbb{Z} -algebras, we may thus assume that R itself is of this form. In this case, Corollary 2.38 shows that $q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$ is of finite type over \mathbb{Z} too and then Proposition 3.12(*a*) shows that $q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega_R^1$ is a finitely generated module over the noetherian ring $q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$. For any finitely generated module Mover a noetherian $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra, the natural map

$$M \longrightarrow M\left[\frac{1}{p}\right] \times \prod_{\ell \neq p} \widehat{M}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)} \times M\left[\frac{1}{q^{m/\ell}-1} \mid \ell \neq p\right]$$

is injective; here ℓ ranges over all prime factors $\neq p$ of m.^(3.3) In particular, we see that it suffices to show additivity of our would-be derivation F_p d after applying each of the functors $(-)[1/p], (-)^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}$, and $(-)[1/(q^{m/\ell}-1) \mid \ell \neq p]$.

Proof after localisation at p. Since $pF_p d = dF_p$ holds by construction, it's clear that $F_p d$ is additive after inverting p.

Proof after $(p, q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -adic completion. It suffices to show additivity of $\ell F_p d$, since ℓ becomes invertible after $(p, q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -adic completion. Furthermore, $[\ell]_{q^{m/p\ell}}$ becomes invertible

^(3.3)Here's the technical argument: It's clear that the map is injective after applying each of the functors $(-)[1/p], (-)^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}$, and $(-)[1/(q^{m/\ell}-1) \mid \ell \neq p]$. Thus, if K denotes the kernel of the map above, then $M \to M/K$ will become injective after applying each of these functors, because then an injective map factors through it. But all of these functors preserve exactness of the sequence $0 \to K \to M \to M/K \to 0$: For the localisations, this is clear, for the completions, we appeal to the fact that we're working with finitely generated modules over a noetherian ring. Hence K vanishes after each of these functors and Lemma 2.4 shows $K \cong 0$.

too. Hence the Frobenius $F_{\ell}: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$, which we've already constructed, induces an isomorphism (with inverse $[\ell]_{\sigma^{m/p\ell}}^{-1}V_{\ell}$)

$$F_{\ell} \colon \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^{1}_{R/\mathbb{Z}}\right)^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)} \xrightarrow{\cong} \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell} \Omega^{1}_{R/\mathbb{Z}}\right)^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}.$$

Therefore it suffices to show that $\ell F_{\ell}(F_p d)$ is additive. But we'll show in Lemma 3.24 that $\ell F_{\ell}(F_p d) = F_p dF_{\ell}$, where F_p on the right-hand side refers to $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell} \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell} \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$, which we've already constructed. Now it's clear that $F_p dF_{\ell}$ is additive.

Proof after localisation at $(q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ for all $\ell \neq p$. Let $m = p^{\alpha}n$, where $\alpha = v_p(m)$. Observe that

$$q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \Big[\frac{1}{q^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \Big] \cong q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha - 1}} \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q], \psi^n} \mathbb{Z} \Big[q, \frac{1}{q^{m/\ell} - 1} \mid \ell \neq p \Big],$$

where ψ^n is the map that sends $q \mapsto q^n$. Indeed, this can be shown as in the proof of Proposition 2.14 by comparing universal properties (more precisely, by comparing the truncated universal properties from Remark 3.14). So we can reduce to the case where $m = p^{\alpha}$. In this case, the calculation from the proof of [LZ04, Proposition 1.3] can be carried over to our situation (note that Langer–Zink's calculation needs Lemma 3.4).

3.24. Lemma. — If $\ell \neq p$ is another prime factor of m, then the map $F_p d$ from Construction 3.22 satisfies

$$\ell F_{\ell}(F_p \,\mathrm{d}x) = F_p \,\mathrm{d}F_{\ell}(x)$$

for all $x \in q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$, where F_ℓ on the left-hand side refers to $F_\ell: q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \to q-\mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$, which has already been constructed by induction, and F_ℓ on the right-hand side refers to the q-Witt vector Frobenius, which we also already know how to construct.

Proof. By construction of F_p d in Construction 3.22, it suffices to consider the three cases $x = q^i \tau_m(r)$ for some $0 \leq i < \varphi(m)$ and some $r \in R$, $x = V_p(y)$ for some $y \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$, and $x = V_{\ell'}(z)$ for some prime factor $\ell' \neq p$ of m and some $z \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/\ell'}(R)$.

Case 1: $x = q^i \tau_m(r)$. Using Lemma 3.7, we can transform the left-hand side as follows:

$$\ell F_{\ell}(F_{p} d(q^{i} \tau_{m/p}(r))) = q^{i} \ell F_{\ell}(\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} d\tau_{m}(r)) = q^{i} \tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)} dF_{\ell} \tau_{m/p}(r).$$

On the right-hand side, we use $F_{\ell}(q^i \tau_m(r)) = q^i \tau_{m/\ell}(r^{\ell})$, and then the *F*-Teichmüller condition (τ_F) shows

$$F_p d(q^i \tau_{m/\ell}(r^\ell)) = q^i \tau_{m/p\ell}(r^\ell)^{p-1} d\tau_{m/p\ell}(r^\ell) = q^i \tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)} dF_\ell \tau_{m/p}(r).$$

Case 2: $x = V_p(y)$. In this case we have $F_p dV_p(y) = dy$. So the left-hand side simply becomes $\ell F_\ell dy = dF_\ell(y)$. On the right-hand side we use that F_ℓ commutes with V_p to obtain $F_p dF_\ell V_p(y) = F_p dV_p F_\ell(y) = dF_\ell(y)$, as required.

Case 3: $x = V_{\ell'}(z)$. In this case, we prove the required equation after multiplication tion by p and after multiplication by ℓ' . After multiplication by p, the left-hand side becomes $p\ell F_{\ell}(F_p \, \mathrm{d}V_{\ell'}(z)) = \ell F_{\ell}(\mathrm{d}F_p V_{\ell'}(z)) = \mathrm{d}F_p F_{\ell} V_{\ell'}(z)$, whereas the right-hand side becomes $pF_p \, \mathrm{d}F_{\ell} V_{\ell'}(z) = \mathrm{d}F_p F_{\ell} V_{\ell'}(z)$. These two are the same, since we already know $F_p \circ F_{\ell} = F_{\ell} \circ F_p$ as maps $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}(R)$.

Now let's see what happens after multiplication by ℓ' . By 3.20(b), $\ell' F_p \, dV_{\ell'}(z) = V_{\ell'}(F_p \, dz)$. Plugging this into the left-hand side, we obtain

$$\ell'\ell F_{\ell}(F_p \,\mathrm{d}V_{\ell'}(z)) = \ell F_{\ell}V_{\ell'}(F_p \,\mathrm{d}z) = \begin{cases} \ell^2 F_p \,\mathrm{d}z & \text{if } \ell = \ell' \\ \ell V_{\ell'}F_{\ell}(F_p \,\mathrm{d}z) & \text{if } \ell \neq \ell' \end{cases}$$

If $\ell = \ell'$, then the right-hand side can be rewritten as $\ell' F_p \, \mathrm{d}F_\ell V_{\ell'}(z) = \ell F_p \, \mathrm{d}(\ell z) = \ell^2 F_p \, \mathrm{d}z$, as required. In the case $\ell \neq \ell'$, we already know that $F_\ell \circ V_{\ell'} = V_{\ell'} \circ F_\ell$ holds as maps $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell'}(R) \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R)$. We can thus compute

$$\ell' F_p \, \mathrm{d}F_\ell V_{\ell'}(z) = F_p(\ell' \, \mathrm{d}V_{\ell'} F_\ell(z)) = V_{\ell'} F_p(\mathrm{d}F_\ell(z)) = \ell V_{\ell'} F_p(F_\ell \, \mathrm{d}z) \,.$$

In the second step, we used Lemma 3.2 together with the fact that $V_{\ell'} \circ F_p = F_p \circ V_{\ell'}$ holds as maps $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell'\ell}\Omega_R^* \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}\Omega_R^*$ (we already know this by induction). In the last step we used Lemma 3.2. Putting everything together, it remains to see $\ell V_{\ell'}F_\ell(F_p \, \mathrm{d}z) = \ell V_{\ell'}F_p(F_\ell \, \mathrm{d}z)$, which is clear since we already know $F_p \circ F_\ell = F_\ell \circ F_p$ as maps $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell'}\Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^* \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell'\ell}\Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^*$. This finishes the proof.

3.25. Lemma. — The map $F_p d: q - W_m(R) \to q - W_{m/p} \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ from Construction 3.22, which we know to be additive by Lemma 3.23, is $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear.

Proof. We already know from Lemma 3.21 that F_p d is $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear on the ideal $\mathbb{V} \subseteq q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R)$ generated by the images of all Verschiebungen. This easily reduces the assertion to checking that $F_p d(\Phi_m(q)\tau_m(r)) = \Phi_m(q)F_p d\tau_m(r) = \Phi_m(q)\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} d\tau_{m/p}(r)$ for all $r \in R$. Using Lemma 2.2, it suffices to show

$$F_p \operatorname{d}([\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}\tau_m(r)) = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} \operatorname{d}\tau_{m/p}(r)$$

for all prime factors $\ell \mid m$ (including $\ell = p$); note that for this argument to work, we crucially use that $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}\tau_m(r)$ and thus $\Phi_m(q)\tau_m(r)$ are contained in \mathbb{V} , where we already know $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ linearity. We write $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}\tau_m(r) = V_\ell F_\ell(\tau_m(r))$ and apply 3.20(b). This requires once again a case distinction.

Case 1: $\ell = p$. In this case we have $[p]_{q^{m/p}}\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} d\tau_{m/p}(r) = p\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} d\tau_{m/p}(r)$, because both sides live in q- $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega_R^*$, which is $(q^{m/p} - 1)$ -torsion. Also, according to 3.20(b), we have $F_p dV_p(\tau_{m/p}(r)^p) = d(\tau_{m/p}(r)^p)$. Using that d is a derivation, we're done.

Case 2: $\ell \neq p$. We use our standard trick and show the desired equation after multiplication by p and by ℓ . After multiplication by p, we obtain

$$pF_p(\mathrm{d}V_\ell F_\ell(\tau_m(r))) = \mathrm{d}F_p V_\ell F_\ell(\tau_m(r)) = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}} \mathrm{d}F_p \tau_m(r) = p[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}} \tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} \mathrm{d}\tau_{m/p}(r),$$

as required. After multiplication by ℓ , 3.20(b) allows us to compute

$$\ell F_{p}(\mathrm{d}V_{\ell}F_{\ell}(\tau_{m}(r))) = V_{\ell}(F_{p}\,\mathrm{d}\tau_{m/\ell}(r^{\ell})) = V_{\ell}(\tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)}\,\mathrm{d}\tau_{m/p\ell}(r^{\ell}))$$

$$= \ell V_{\ell}(\tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)}\tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell-1})\,\mathrm{d}V_{\ell}\tau_{m/p\ell}(r)$$

$$= \ell V_{\ell}(\tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)})\,\mathrm{d}\tau_{m/p}(r)$$

$$= \ell [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1}\,\mathrm{d}\tau_{m/p}(r).$$

In the first line, we used the *F*-Teichmüller condition (τ_F) , which we already know for $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}\Omega_R^* \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}\Omega_R^*$. In the second line, we used that d is a derivation together with the last condition from Definition 3.1(b). In the third line, we applied the *V*-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) for $\omega = \tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)}$. Finally, in the fourth line we used the fact that $V_\ell(\tau_{m/p\ell}(r)^{\ell(p-1)}) = V_\ell F_\ell(\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1}) = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}} \tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1}$. We're done.

3.26. Lemma. — The map $F_p d: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ from Construction 3.22 is a $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear derivation. Furthermore, if R is an A-algebra, then $F_p d$ extends uniquely to an A[q]-linear derivation $F_p d: q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^1_{R/A}$.

Proof. To show the first assertion, we use the same method as in the proof of Lemma 3.23: After localisation at p, everything is trivial again. After $(p, q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -adic completion, we can use induction again. After localisation at $(q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ for all $\ell \neq p$, we can reduce to the case $m = p^{\alpha}$ again. In this case, we can adapt the proof of [LZ04, Proposition 1.3]; to make the adaptation, one needs to use that $F_p d$ is $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -linear, which we know from Lemma 3.25.

For the second assertion, first observe that $F_p d: q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R) \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^1_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^1_{R/A}$ kills all elements in the image of $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(A) \to q \cdot \mathbb{W}_m(R)$. Indeed, according to the description in 3.20, we only have to show dx = 0 for all $x \in q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(A)$ as well as $V_{\ell}(F_p dy) = 0$ for all $y \in q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(A)$ and all $\ell \neq p$. The latter follows from the inductive hypothesis, whereas the former is ensured by the fact that $q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^1_{R/A}$ is a quotient of $\Omega^1_{q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R/A)/A[q]}$ by Proposition 3.12(*a*). Thus, $F_p d$ can be extended to an A[q]-linear derivation

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^1_{R/A}.$$

It remains to show that the ideal \mathbb{U}_m from Lemma 2.40 is killed. This is another straightforward check. It's enough to consider generators of the form $V_{\ell}(xy) \otimes 1 - V_{\ell}(x) \otimes c_{m/\ell}(y)$ for $\ell \mid m$ a prime factor, $x \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R)$, and $y \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(A)$. If $\ell = p$, then the map above sends this generator to $d(xy) - c_{m/\ell}(y) dx = 0$, using that the differentials of $q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^*_{R/A}$ are A[q]-linear. If $\ell \neq p$, we have multiply by p and by ℓ once again. After multiplication by p, we obtain $dF_p(V_{\ell}(xy) \otimes 1 - V_{\ell}(x) \otimes c_{m/\ell}(y))$, which vanishes because $V_{\ell}(xy) \otimes 1 - V_{\ell}(x) \otimes c_{m/\ell}(y) = 0$ holds already in $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$. After multiplication by ℓ , we get $V_{\ell}(F_p d(xy) - c_{m/p\ell}(y)F_p dx)$, which vanishes by the inductive hypothesis. \square

3.27. Construction. — From Lemma 3.26 and the universal property of Kähler differentials we get a q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ -module map $F_p: \Omega^1_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)/A[q]} \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^1_{R/A}$. By the universal property of exterior algebras, this extends uniquely to a map

$$F_p \colon \Omega^*_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)/A[q]} \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^*_{R/A}$$

of graded q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ -algebras. We wish to show that this map factors uniquely over q- $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$. By revisiting the explicit construction, we see that we must check $F_p(\xi) = 0$, $F_p(d\xi) = 0$, $F_p(\eta) = 0$, and $F_p(d\eta) = 0$, where ξ and η are as in the proof of Proposition 3.12. This will be proved in Lemmas 3.28 and 3.29 below.

3.28. Lemma. — Fix a divisor $d \mid m$ such that $d \neq m$. Let $j \geq 1$, let I be a finite indexing set, and let $(w_i, x_{i,1}, \ldots, x_{i,j})_{i \in I}$ be a sequence of elements of q- $\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ such that $0 = \sum_{i \in I} w_i \, \mathrm{d}x_{i,1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{i,j}$ holds in q- $\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^j_{R/A}$. Put

$$\xi \coloneqq \sum_{i \in I} V_{m/d}(w_i) \, \mathrm{d}V_{m/d}(x_{i,1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}V_{m/d}(x_{i,j}) \, .$$

Then $F_p(\xi) = 0$ and $F_p(d\xi) = 0$.

Proof. Note that 3.20 tells us how to compute $F_p(\xi)$, but in order to do that, we need to distinguish whether or not p divides m/d. If p does divide m/d, we get

$$F_p(\xi) = \sum_{i \in I} pV_{m/pd}(w_i) \, \mathrm{d}V_{m/pd}(x_{i,1}) \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}V_{m/pd}(x_{i,j})$$
$$= pV_{m/pd}\left(\sum_{i \in I} w_i \, \mathrm{d}x_{i,1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{i,j}\right),$$

which vanishes because $\sum_{i \in I} w_i \, dx_{i,1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dx_{i,j} = 0$ by assumption. If p doesn't divide m/d, we'll show $p^j F_p(\xi) = 0$ and $(m/d)^j F_p(\xi) = 0$ instead. For the first one, we compute

$$p^{j}F_{p}(\xi) = \sum_{i \in I} F_{p}V_{m/d}(w_{i}) dF_{p}V_{m/d}(x_{i,1}) \wedge \dots \wedge dF_{p}V_{m/d}(x_{i,j})$$
$$= V_{m/d} \left(\sum_{i \in I} F_{p}(w_{i}) dF_{p}(x_{i,1}) \wedge \dots \wedge dF_{p}(x_{i,j}) \right)$$
$$= p^{j}V_{m/d}F_{p} \left(\sum_{i \in I} w_{i} dx_{i,1} \wedge \dots \wedge dx_{i,j} \right),$$

which once again vanishes by our assumption $\sum_{i \in I} w_i \, \mathrm{d}x_{i,1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{i,j} = 0$ plus the fact that we already know $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{d/p} \Omega^*_{R/A}$ to be well-defined. Similarly,

$$\left(\frac{m}{d}\right)^{j} F_{p}(\xi) = \sum_{i \in I} F_{p} V_{m/d}(w_{i}) V_{m/d}(F_{p} \,\mathrm{d}x_{i,1}) \wedge \dots \wedge V_{m/d}(F_{p} \,\mathrm{d}x_{i,j})$$
$$= \left(\frac{m}{d}\right)^{j} V_{m/d} F_{p}\left(\sum_{i \in I} w_{i} \,\mathrm{d}x_{i,1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}x_{i,j}\right).$$

This vanishes because of our assumption again, plus the fact that we already know the Frobenius $F_p: q-\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A} \to q-\mathbb{W}_{d/p}\Omega^*_{R/A}$ to be well-defined. This finishes the proof that $F_p(\xi) = 0$. The proof that $F_p(d\xi) = 0$ is completely analogous and we'll leave it to the reader.

3.29. Lemma. — Fix a divisor $d \mid m$ such that $d \neq m$. Let $x \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)$ and $r \in R$. We put

$$\eta \coloneqq V_{m/d}(x) \,\mathrm{d}\tau_m(r) - V_{m/d} \left(x \tau_d(r)^{m/d-1} \right) \,\mathrm{d}V_{m/d} \tau_d(r)$$

Then $F_p(\eta) = 0$ and $F_p(d\eta) = 0$.

Proof. Again, we have to distinguish whether or not m/d is divisible by p. If it is, we get

$$F_p(\eta) = pV_{m/pd}(x)\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} d\tau_{m/p}(r) - pV_{m/pd}(x\tau_d(r)^{m/d-1}) dV_{m/pd}\tau_d(r)$$

= $pV_{m/pd}(x\tau_{m/d}(r)^{(p-1)m/pd}) d\tau_{m/p}(r) - pV_{m/pd}(x\tau_d(r)^{m/d-1}) dV_{m/pd}\tau_d(r)$

In the second line we used $V_{m/pd}(x)\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1} = V_{m/pd}(xF_{m/pd}(\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1}))$, as we already know that the conditions from Definition 3.6(c) are true for $F_{m/pd}: q - W_{m/p}\Omega^*_{R/A} \to q - W_d\Omega^*_{R/A}$, and $F_{m/pd}(\tau_{m/p}(r)^{p-1}) = \tau_{m/d}(r)^{(p-1)m/pd}$. Now $F_p(\eta)$ vanishes because the last line is precisely p times the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) for $x\tau_{m/d}(r)^{(p-1)m/pd}$ and r.

Now assume p doesn't divide m/d. Since η is automatically a $(m/d)^{m/d-1}$ -torsion element in $\Omega^1_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)/A[q]}$, it suffices to show $pF_p(\eta) = 0$ in this case. Note that p not dividing m/dimplies that p must divide d. We put $m_0 := m/p$ and $d_0 := d/p$ for short and compute

$$pF_p(\eta) = F_p V_{m/d}(x) \, \mathrm{d}F_p \tau_d(r) - F_p V_{m/d} \left(x \tau_d(r)^{m/d-1} \right) \, \mathrm{d}F_p V_{m/d} \tau_d(r)$$

= $V_{m_0/d_0} \left(F_p(x) \right) \, \mathrm{d}\tau_{d_0}(r^p) - V_{m_0/d_0} \left(F_p(x) \tau_{d_0}(r^p)^{m_0/d_0-1} \right) \, \mathrm{d}V_{m_0/d_0} \tau_{d_0}(r^p) \, .$

Now $pF_p(\eta) = 0$ follows because the last line is precisely the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) for $F_p(x)$ and r^p . This proves $F_p(\eta) = 0$. The proof of $F_p(d\eta) = 0$ is similar and we leave it to the reader once again.

With Lemmas 3.28 and 3.29 proved, Construction 3.27 finally gives a complete construction of the Frobenius F_p . It remains to check that it has all necessary properties.

3.30. Lemma. — The map $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega^*_{R/A}$ from Construction 3.27 satisfies all properties from Definition 3.6(c).

Proof. Compatibility with the q-Witt vector Frobenius holds by construction. For the chain condition, we must check $F_p \circ F_\ell = F_\ell \circ F_p$ for all prime factors $\ell \neq p$ of m (in both compositions, the left factor is defined via Construction 3.27 and the right factor is defined by induction). This can be checked after multiplication by p and ℓ and then Lemma 3.24 takes care of the essential case. The condition $F_p \circ d \circ V_p = d$ holds again by construction.

It remains to prove $V_p(\omega F_p(\eta)) = V_p(\omega)\eta$ for all $\omega \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega_R^*$ and all $\eta \in q - \mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^*$ (which also implies $V_p \circ F_p = [p]_{q^{m/p}}$). This is easily reduced to checking $V_p(xF_p(\mathrm{d} y)) = V_p(x) \,\mathrm{d} y$ for all $x \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$ and $y \in q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ (that is, it suffices to do the case $\omega = x$ and $\eta = \mathrm{d} y$). Furthermore, it suffices to treat the three cases $y = a\tau_m(r)$ for some $a \in A[q]$ and some $r \in R$, $y = V_p(z)$ for some $z \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}(R)$, and $y = V_\ell(w)$ for some prime factor $\ell \neq p$ of m and some $w \in q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}(R)$.

The case $y = a\tau_m(r)$ follows immediately from the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) . For $y = V_p(z)$, we compute $V_p(xF_p \, \mathrm{d}V_p(z)) = V_p(x \, \mathrm{d}z) = V_p(x) \, \mathrm{d}V_p(z)$, as required. Finally, to handle the case $y = V_\ell(y)$, we have to multiply both sides by p and ℓ for one last time. After multiplication by p, we obtain

$$pV_p(xF_p \, \mathrm{d}V_\ell(w)) = V_p(x \, \mathrm{d}F_p V_\ell(w)) = V_p(x) \, \mathrm{d}V_p F_p V_\ell(w) = [p]_{q^{m/p}} V_p(x) \, \mathrm{d}V_\ell(w) \,.$$

But $V_p(x)$ is $(q^{m/p} - 1)$ -torsion, so $[p]_{q^{m/p}}V_p(x) dV_\ell(w) = pV_p(x) dV_\ell(w)$, as required. After multiplication by ℓ , we compute

$$\ell V_p(xF_p \,\mathrm{d}V_\ell(w)) = V_p(xV_\ell(F_p(\mathrm{d}w))) = V_pV_\ell(F_\ell(x)F_p(\mathrm{d}w)) = V_\ell V_p(F_\ell(x)F_p(\mathrm{d}w)).$$

In the second equality we used the property for $F_{\ell}: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p}\Omega^*_{R/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}\Omega^*_{R/A}$, which we already know by induction. Furthermore, applying the inductive hypothesis to the Frobenius $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell}\Omega^*_{R/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p\ell}\Omega^*_{R/A}$, we get

$$V_{\ell}V_p(F_{\ell}(x)F_p(\mathrm{d}w)) = V_{\ell}(V_pF_{\ell}(x)\,\mathrm{d}w) = V_{\ell}F_{\ell}V_p(x)\,\mathrm{d}V_{\ell}(w) = [\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}V_p(x)\,\mathrm{d}V_{\ell}(w)\,.$$

But $dV_{\ell}(w)$ is $(q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -torsion, so $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}V_p(x) dV_{\ell}(w) = \ell V_p(x) dV_{\ell}(w)$, as required.

Proof of Proposition 3.17. It follows from Lemma 3.30 that for all prime factors $p \mid m$ there exists a Frobenius $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^* \to q - \mathbb{W}_{m/p} \Omega_{R/A}^*$ satisfying all properties from Definition 3.6. Furthermore, F_p satisfies the *F*-Teichmüller condition (τ_F) by construction. This finishes the inductive construction of Frobenii on $(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$, thus making it a q-*FV*-system of differential-graded algebras over *R*. Furthermore, if $(P_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is an arbitrary q-*FV*-system, then the properties from 3.20 show that the unique morphism of q-*V*-systems

$$(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A})_{m \in \mathbb{N}} \longrightarrow (P^*_m)$$

must automatically be compatible with Frobenii, thus making it a morphism of q-FV-systems. This proves that $(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A})_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is initial in $\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-FV}$ too.

§3.4. Étale base change

The goal of this subsection is to prove the following:

3.31. Proposition. — Let $R \to R'$ be an étale morphism of A-algebras. Then the canonical morphism $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \to (q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R'/A})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ induces isomorphisms of differential-graded $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$ -algebras

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \xrightarrow{\cong} q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R'/A}.$$

To prove this, first we have to construct the differential-graded algebra structures on $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}$. This is achieved by the following lemma.

3.32. Lemma. — Let P^* be a differential-graded A[q]-algebra concentrated in nonnegative (cohomological) degrees and let $P^0 \to S$ be an étale morphism of rings. Then the graded A[q]-algebra $S \otimes_{P^0} P^*$ admits a unique differential-graded A[q]-algebra structure compatible with the one on P^* . Furthermore, this exhibits $S \otimes_{P^0} P^*$ as an initial object among all differential-graded A[q]-algebras P^* -algebras Q^* equipped with a ring map $S \to Q^0$.

Proof. This elegant proof is taken from [BLM21, Proposition 5.3.2]. Since $P^0 \to S$ is étale, we obtain $S \otimes_{P^0} \Omega^*_{P^0/A[q]} \cong \Omega^*_{S/A[q]}$ as graded rings. Then

$$S \otimes_{P^0} P^* \cong \Omega^*_{S/A[q]} \otimes_{\Omega^*_{P^0/A[q]}} P^*,$$

where $\Omega^*_{P^0/A[q]} \to P^*$ is the differential-graded morphism induced by the universal property of the algebraic de Rham complex. Now the tensor product on the right-hand side of the isomorphism above carries an obvious differential-graded structure, which also clearly satisfies the desired universal property.

Proof of Proposition 3.31. We use induction on m and work with the truncated universal properties from Remark 3.14, applied to the truncation set T_m of positive divisors of m. The case m = 1 is trivial as $q - \mathbb{W}_1 \Omega_{R/A}^* \cong \Omega_{R/A}^*$ by Proposition 3.12(*a*) and same for R'. So let m > 1 and assume that the base change formula is true for all divisors $d \neq m$ of m. We equip $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^*$ with the differential-graded A[q]-algebra structure from Lemma 3.32, using that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$ is étale by Proposition 2.47. Furthermore, $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega_{R/A}^* \cong q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega_{R/A}^*$ holds by the second part of Proposition 2.47. Consequently, we can define

$$V'_{m/d} \colon q - \mathbb{W}_d(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A} \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$$

to be the q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$ -linear extension of the Verschiebung $V_{m/d}$: q- $\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A} \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$. If we can show that these $V'_{m/d}$ satisfy the conditions from Definition 3.1, then combining the universal property of (q- $\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A})_{d\in T_m}$ with the universal property of the differential-graded structure on q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q \in \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$ obtained from Lemma 3.32 will show that $(q-\mathbb{W}_d(R'/A) \otimes_{q \in \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)} q-\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A})_{d\in T_m}$ satisfies the universal property from Remark 3.14. In particular, it will immediately show $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_R \cong q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R'/A}$, thus finishing the induction.

Most conditions from Definition 3.1 are straightforward to check, except for two tricky ones: $V'_{m/d}(\omega \,\mathrm{d}\eta) = V'_{m/d}(\omega) \,\mathrm{d}V'_{m/d}(\eta)$ and the V-Teichmüller condition (τ_V) . Nevertheless, these can be checked without doing any calculations, even though the argument is a little confusing (at least to the author). Let

$$F'_{m/d} \colon q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_d(R'/A) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_d(R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A}$$

be the q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$ -linear extension of the Frobenius $F_{m/d}$. As noted in Remark 3.8, it's enough to check that $F'_{m/d}$ satisfies the conditions from Definition 3.6(c), which are clear except for $F'_{m/d} \circ d \circ V'_{m/d} = d$, and the *F*-Teichmüller condition (τ_F) . Both of these are (easily reduced to) assertions about $F'_{m/d} \circ d : q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d(R'/A) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_d(R/A)} q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A}$. It would certainly be enough to show that $F'_{m/d} \circ d$ agrees with the A[q]-linear derivation $F_{m/d} \circ d : q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^1_{R'/A}$ from the actual *q*-de Rham Witt complexes over R'. Consider the diagram

(the bottom left isomorphism follows from $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$ being étale and the isomorphism on the right follows from the inductive hypothesis for d). Note $F'_{m/d} \circ d$ is indeed a A[q]-linear derivation; namely, the one associated to the bottom row of the diagram. Now whether the A[q]-linear derivations $F_{m/d} \circ d$ and $F'_{m/d} \circ d$ are equal can be checked after restriction along the étale morphism $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A)$, where they indeed become equal by construction.

3.33. Corollary. — For all positive integers m, the functor

q- $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{-/A}$: CRing_A \longrightarrow CAlg $(\mathcal{D}(A[q]))$

sending an A-algebra R to the \mathbb{E}_{∞} -A[q]-algebra underlying the differential-graded A[q]-algebra q- $\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$, is an étale sheaf.

Proof. It suffices to show that the underlying functor $\operatorname{CRing}_A \to \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$ is an étale sheaf. By writing $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}$ as a (derived) limit over its stupid truncations $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^{\leq i}$ and passing to graded pieces, it's enough to show that $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{-/A}^i$ is an étale sheaf for every $i \geq 0$. Using Proposition 3.31, this will be a consequence of the following assertion:

(\boxtimes) Let R be an A-algebra and let $M \in \mathcal{D}(q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A))$ be a bounded below complex. Then the functor $R' \mapsto q-\mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)}^{L} M$ defines a $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$ -valued sheaf on the small étale site of R. To prove (\boxtimes) , first note that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R'/A) \simeq q - \mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)}^{L} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ follows from Lemma 2.49. So the functor under consideration agrees with $R' \mapsto q - \mathbb{W}_m(R') \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)}^{L} M$. We use induction on m. For m = 1, we can write $R' \otimes_R^L M \simeq \lim_{i \ge 0} R' \otimes_R^L \tau_{\le i} M$ due to connectivity reasons to reduce to the case where M is bounded, and then further to the case where M is concentrated in a single degree. In this case we simply obtain a quasi-coherent sheaf on the small étale site of R, which has vanishing higher cohomology [SGA_{4/2}, Corollaire VII.4.4] and is therefore also a sheaf with values in the ∞ -category $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$.

For m > 1, we use Proposition 2.14: It's enough to prove that $R' \mapsto R'[\zeta_m] \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)}^{\mathbf{L}} M$ and $R' \mapsto q-\mathbb{W}_d(R') \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)}^{\mathbf{L}} M$, for $d \neq m$ a divisor of m, are $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$ -valued sheaves. For the latter, we can simply apply the inductive hypothesis to $q-\mathbb{W}_d(R) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)}^{\mathbf{L}} M \in \mathcal{D}(q-\mathbb{W}_d(R))$. To see that the former functor constitutes a sheaf, we can use a similar argument as in the m = 1 case, applied to $R[\zeta_m] \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)}^{\mathbf{L}} M \in \mathcal{D}(R[\zeta_m])$. \Box

3.34. Corollary. — For any A-algebra R and any positive integer m, the ghost maps from 3.15 induce isomorphisms of differential-graded-A[q]-algebras

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A} \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m} \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\cong} \prod_{d \mid m} \left(\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A, \psi^d} A \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{m}, \zeta_d \end{bmatrix} \right)$$

Proof. We'll compare universal properties. Using Corollary 2.19(*a*) and the universal property from Definition 2.41, it's clear that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R[1/m]/A) \cong q$ - $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)[1/m]$. Combined with Proposition 3.31, we obtain

$$q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A} \left[\frac{1}{m}\right] \cong q - \mathbb{W}_d \left(R \left[\frac{1}{m}\right] / A \right) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_d (R/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R/A} \cong q - \mathbb{W}_d \Omega^*_{R[1/m]/A}$$

for all $d \mid m$. Thus, if T_m denotes the truncation set of positive divisors of m, then $(q-\mathbb{W}_d\Omega^*_{R/A}[1/m])_{d\in T_m}$ is the initial T_m -truncated q-V-system over R[1/m] in the sense of Remark 3.14. We will show that $(\prod_{e\mid d} (\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\psi^e} A[1/m, \zeta_e]))_{d\in T_m}$, with its T_m -truncated q-V-system structure from 3.15, is initial too.

To prove this, first observe that the relative q-Witt vector ghost maps induce isomorphisms

$$(\operatorname{gh}_{d/e})_{e|d} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_d\left(R\left[\frac{1}{m}\right]/A\right) \xrightarrow{\cong} \prod_{e|d} \left(R \otimes_{A,\psi^e} A\left[\frac{1}{m}, \zeta_e\right]\right)$$

Indeed, the canonical map $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R[1/m]) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1) \to q - \mathbb{W}_d(R[1/m]/A)$ is surjective by Lemma 2.40, but according to Example 2.37 we also have an isomorphism $q - \mathbb{W}_d(R[1/m]) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(A)} A[q]/(q^m - 1) \cong \prod_{e|d} (R \otimes_{A,\psi^e} A)[1/m, \zeta_e]$, and so it is a left inverse of $(\mathrm{gh}_{d/e})_{d|e}$.

Now let $(P_d^*)_{d \in T_m}$ be an arbitrary T_m -truncated q-V-system over R[1/m]. Observe that for all $d \mid m$, the decomposition $A[1/m, q]/(q^d - 1) \cong \prod_{e \mid d} A[1/m, \zeta_e]$ induces a similar decomposition $P_d^* \cong \prod_{e \mid d} P_{d,e}^*$, where $P_{d,e}^*$ is a differential-graded $A[\zeta_e]$ -algebra. Furthermore, the q- $\mathbb{W}_d(R[1/m]/A)$ -algebra structure on P_d^0 plus the ghost map isomorphism above induce $(R \otimes_{A,\psi^e} A)[1/m, \zeta_e]$ -algebra structures on $P_{d,e}^0$ for all $e \mid d$. Thus, we obtain canonical morphisms

$$\prod_{e|d} \left(\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\psi^e} A\left[\frac{1}{m}, \zeta_e\right] \right) \longrightarrow \prod_{e|d} P^*_{d,e}$$

By Lemma 3.2, these are automatically compatible with the Verschiebungen. This proves that $\left(\prod_{e|d} (\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\psi^e} A[1/m, \zeta_e])\right)_{d \in T_m}$ satisfies the required universal property.

§4. *q*-de Rham Witt complexes in the smooth case

Fix a Λ -ring A which is *perfectly covered* in the sense of Remark 2.46. The most important special case is $A = \mathbb{Z}$. In this section we'll study q- $\mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}$ for smooth A-algebras R. Our goal will be to prove Theorem 1.7—and in fact, the more general version Theorem 4.28—as well as the following two propositions.

4.1. Proposition. — Let R be smooth over A. Then $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}$ is degree-wise \mathbb{Z} -torsion-free for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$. In particular, $(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A})_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$ is also an initial object of $(\text{CDGAlg}_{R/A}^{q-V})^{\text{tors-free}}$.

4.2. Proposition. — Let R be smooth over A and let m be a positive integer. If p is a prime and α is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of m, then there exists an equivalence of p-complete \mathbb{E}_{∞} -A[q]-algebras

$$\left(\Omega_{R/A} \otimes^{\mathbf{L}}_{A,\psi^{p^{\alpha}}} A[q]/(q^m-1)\right)_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \left(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}\right)_p^{\wedge},$$

which is functorial with respect to arbitrary morphisms $R \to R'$ between smooth A-algebras.

4.3. Battle plan. — Let us explain the logical structure of this section, since it'll be not entirely obvious. We'll prove Theorem 1.7, Proposition 4.1, and Proposition 4.2 first in the case where $m = p^{\alpha}$ is a prime power; the general case can be reduced to this by standard arguments (as we'll see). To handle the special case $m = p^{\alpha}$, we'll prove all three results at once using an induction on α . More precisely, we'll show the following four assertions using induction on α :

- (a_{α}) If R is smooth over A, then the differential-graded A[q]-algebra q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega_{R}^{*}$ is degree-wise p-torsion-free.
- (b_{α}) Theorem 1.7, and more generally Theorem 4.28 that we'll state below, are true after *p*-completion for $m = p^{\alpha}$.
- (c_{α}) Proposition 4.2 is true for $m = p^{\alpha}$.
- (d_{α}) Suppose $R \cong A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ is a polynomial ring over A. If $\xi \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega_R^i$ satisfies $d\xi \equiv 0 \mod p$, then there exist $\omega \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha+1}}\Omega_R^i$ and $\eta \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega_R^i$ satisfying

$$\xi = F_p(\omega) + p\eta \,.$$

Assertion (d_{-1}) is vacuously true. To carry out the inductive step, we'll prove the implications $(d_{\alpha-1}) \Rightarrow (a_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (b_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (c_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (d_{\alpha})$. The implication $(d_{\alpha-1}) \Rightarrow (a_{\alpha})$ will be shown in §4.1. After introducing the *q*-Hodge complex and proving some first properties in §§4.2–4.3, we'll prove the implications $(b_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (c_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (d_{\alpha})$ in §4.4. Finally, in §4.5, we'll deduce the global cases of Theorems 1.7 and 4.28 as well as Propositions 4.1 and 4.2.

For ease of notation, throughout the induction we'll denote the p^{th} Adams operation $\psi^p: A \to A$ for the fixed prime p instead by $\phi: A \to A$.

Before we dive into the proofs, let us make two philosophical remarks.

4.4. Remark. — If R is smooth over $A = \mathbb{Z}$, then

$$q\text{-}\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}\left[\frac{1}{m}\right] \cong \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} \mathbb{Z}\left[\frac{1}{m},q\right]/(q^m-1)$$

Indeed, this follows from Corollary 3.34 and $\mathbb{Z}[1/m,q]/(q^m-1) \cong \prod_{d|m} \mathbb{Z}[1/m,q]/\Phi_d(q)$. Similarly, in Proposition 4.2 the Adams operation $\psi^{p^{\alpha}}$ becomes trivial and we obtain

$$\left(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}\right)_p^{\wedge} \simeq \left(\Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{\mathrm{L}} \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1)\right)_p^{\wedge}.$$

Combining these two results seemingly suggests that $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$, as an $\mathbb{E}_{\infty} - \mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra, would just be $\Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1)$. But usually it's not! We can already see this in the case where Ris étale over \mathbb{Z} : By Corollary 2.51, the existence of an equivalence $\mathbb{E}_{\infty} - \mathbb{Z}[q]$ -algebra equivalence between $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_R \simeq q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ and $\Omega_R \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{L} \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^m - 1) \simeq R[q]/(q^m - 1)$ is obstructed by the existence of a Λ_m -structure on R.

Upon closer examination, this also explains why Proposition 4.2 and Corollary 3.34 cannot be combined to construct an isomorphism $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R) \cong R[q]/(q^m - 1)$ in the case where R is étale over \mathbb{Z} : In this case, $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \simeq \hat{R}_p[q]/(q^m - 1)$ comes from Corollary 2.36, noticing that $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \simeq q - \mathbb{W}_m(\hat{R}_p)$ by Corollary 2.23 and that \hat{R}_p carries a unique Frobenius lift $\phi_p: \hat{R}_p \to \hat{R}_p$, which can be trivially upgraded to a perfect Λ -structure by declaring the other Adams operations to be the identity. On the other hand, as explained in Example 2.37, the isomorphism $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)[1/m] \cong R[1/m, q]/(q^m - 1)$ comes from the trivial perfect Λ_m -structure on R[1/m], in which all Adams operations are the identity. So the two isomorphisms are incompatible, unless $\phi_p: \hat{R}_p \to \hat{R}_p$ happens to be restrict to a Frobenius lift on R.

4.5. Remark. — If R is étale over A, Proposition 4.2 can be viewed as a higher-dimensional analogue of the equivalence $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)_p^{\wedge} \simeq \hat{R}_p[q]/(q^m - 1)$ that was explained in Remark 4.4. If R is smooth over \mathbb{Z} of relative dimension ≥ 1 , then it will be no longer true that the p-completion of R carries a canonical Frobenius lift. Instead, there's a canonical Frobenius lift on the \mathbb{E}_{∞} -algebra $(\Omega_R)_p^{\wedge}$; this Frobenius lift can be identified with the crystalline Frobenius under the equivalence

$$(\Omega_R)_p^{\wedge} \simeq \mathrm{R}\Gamma_{\mathrm{crys}}((R/p)/\mathbb{Z}_p)$$

§4.1. *p*-Torsion freeness of *q*-de Rham–Witt complexes

In this subsection we'll prove the implication $(d_{\alpha-1}) \Rightarrow (a_{\alpha})$ of our battle plan 4.3. This needs a preparatory lemma.

4.6. Lemma. — The subset $\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \coloneqq \operatorname{im} V_p + \operatorname{im} \mathrm{d} V_p \subseteq q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/A}^*$ is a differential-graded ideal and the ghost map gh_1 from 3.15 induces a functorial isomorphism

$$\mathrm{gh}_1 \colon q\text{-}\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^*_{R/A}/\mathbb{V}^*_{p^{\alpha}} \xrightarrow{\cong} \Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[\zeta_{p^{\alpha}}].$$

Proof. It's clear that $\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ is closed under d. To show that it is a graded ideal, choose homogeneous elements $\omega \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^i$ and $\eta \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega_{R/A}^j$. We compute $V_p(\omega)\eta = V(\omega F_p(\eta))$ and

$$dV_p(\omega)\eta = d(V_p(\omega)\eta) - (-1)^i V_p(\omega) d\eta = dV_p(\omega F_p(\eta)) - (-1)^i V(\omega F_p(d\eta)),$$

using the condition from Definition 3.6(c). This proves that $\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^{*}$ is a graded ideal.

To prove the second assertion, note that $(0, \ldots, 0, q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{R/A} / \mathbb{V}^*_{p^{\alpha}})$ is initial among all $\{1, p, p^2, \ldots, p^{\alpha}\}$ -truncated q-V-systems $(P_1^*, P_p^*, P_{p^2}^*, \ldots, P_{p^{\alpha}}^*)$ satisfying $P_{p^i}^* = 0$ for all $i < \alpha$. By inspection, such a system is nothing else but a differential-graded A[q]-algebra $P_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ together with a $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) / \operatorname{im} V_{p^{\alpha}}$ -algebra structure on $P_{p^{\alpha}}^0$; all the extra structure and conditions become trivial. Now $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(R) / \operatorname{im} V_p \cong R \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[\zeta_{p^{\alpha}}]$ by 2.43, hence, according to the universal property of the de Rham complex, the initial $\{1, p, p^2, \ldots, p^{\alpha}\}$ -truncated q-V-system is also given by $(0, \ldots, 0, \Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[\zeta_{p^{\alpha}}])$. This finishes the proof. \Box Proof of $(d_{\alpha-1}) \Rightarrow (a_{\alpha})$. Assume first that $R \cong A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ is a polynomial ring. Suppose $\xi \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^i_{R/A}$ satisfies $p\xi = 0$. By Lemma 4.6, the quotient q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^*_R/\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ is isomorphic to $\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[\zeta_{p^{\alpha}}]$, which is degree-wise *p*-torsion-free. Indeed, our assumptions imply that A is *p*-torsion free (because its faithfully flat cover A_{∞} is *p*-torsion free, as is any perfect Λ -ring) and then $\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A$ is degree-wise projective over $R \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A$, which is smooth over A and thus *p*-torsion free as well.

Hence $p\xi = 0$ implies $\xi \in \mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^{*}$. So write $\xi = V_p(\xi_0) + dV_p(\xi_1)$ for some $\xi_0 \in q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^{i}$ and $\xi_1 \in q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^{i-1}$. Since $V_p \circ d = p(d \circ V_p)$ by Lemma 3.2, we can rewrite our assumption $p\xi = 0$ as $V_p(p\xi_0 + d\xi_1) = 0$. Note that $V_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^{*} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega_{R/A}^{*}$ is injective, because $F_p \circ V_p = p$ and $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^{*}$ is degree-wise *p*-torsion-free by the inductive hypothesis. Thus $p\xi_0 + d\xi_1 = 0$.

Applying $(c_{\alpha-1})$ shows that we can write $\xi_1 = F_p(\omega) + p\eta$ for some $\omega \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega_{R/A}^{i-1}$ and $\eta \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^{i-1}$. Then $d\xi_1 = pF_p(d\omega) + p\,d\eta$ and so our assumption $p\xi_0 + d\xi_1 = 0$ implies $\xi_0 = -F_p(d\omega) - d\eta$ by p-torsion-freeness of q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha-1}}\Omega_{R/A}^*$. We conclude

$$\xi = V_p(\xi_0) + dV_p(\xi_1) = V_p(-F_p(d\omega) - d\eta) + dV_p(F_p(\omega) + p\eta)$$

= $-\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q) d\omega - V_p(d\eta) + \Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q) d\omega + p dV_p(\eta)$
= 0,

using $V_p \circ d = p(d \circ V_p)$, which holds by Lemma 3.2, as well as $V_p \circ F_p = \Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q)$, which holds by Definition 3.6(c). This finishes the proof in the polynomial ring case.

Now let R be an arbitrary smooth A-algebra. Fix a degree i; we've seen in the proof of Corollary 3.33 that $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^i_{-/A}$ is an étale sheaf with values in the ∞ -category $\mathcal{D}(A[q])$. Then it's also a sheaf in the ordinary category of A[q]-modules. Hence the p-torsion part is an étale sheaf as well, since it can be written as the kernel of the multiplication map $p: q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^i_{-/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^i_{-/A}$. Since smooth A-algebras are étale-locally polynomial rings, we conclude that the p-torsion part of $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^i_{R/A}$ must be trivial, as desired. \Box

In a similar way, one can show the following technical result.

4.7. Lemma. — For all smooth A-algebras R and all $m \in \mathbb{N}$, the relative q-de Rham–Witt complex $q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}$ has degree-wise bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ -torsion. In particular, for every degree i, the underived and derived (q-1)-completions of $q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^i_{R/A}$ agree.

Proof. If $A = \mathbb{Z}$ and $R = \mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$, then Corollary 2.38 and Proposition 3.12(*a*) imply that $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ is a complex of finitely generated modules over the noetherian ring $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R)$ and the assertion is clear. If A is an arbitrary Λ -ring (with the assumption that the morphism $A \to A_\infty$ into its colimit perfection is faithfully flat), and $R = A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$, then

$$q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{A[T_1, \dots, T_n]/A} \cong q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{\mathbb{Z}[T_1, \dots, T_n]/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A$$

holds by Lemma 3.16. Since our assumption implies that A is flat over \mathbb{Z} , we get bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ -torsion in this case as well (with the same bound as in the case $A = \mathbb{Z}$). Finally, using étale descent as in the proof of $(d_{\alpha-1}) \Rightarrow (a_{\alpha})$ above, we get that $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}$ has bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ -torsion for arbitrary smooth A-algebras R (still with the same bound as in the case $A = \mathbb{Z}, R = \mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$).

§4.2. The *q*-Hodge complex I: Additive Structure

In the introduction §1, we've only sketched the construction of the q-de Rham complex and the q-Hodge complex of a framed smooth \mathbb{Z} -algebra (R, \Box) . So let's do that now again, both in more detail and in the relative setting.

4.8. The q-de Rham and the q-Hodge complex. — Let R be smooth over A and suppose there exists an étale morphism $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \to R$. For all $i = 1, \ldots, n$ let $\gamma_i: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n][[q-1]] \to A[T_1, \ldots, T_n][[q-1]]$, be the A-algebra morphism that sends $T_i \mapsto qT_i$ and leaves the other variables fixed. Observe that γ_i is the identity modulo q - 1, that \Box induces a (q-1)-completely étale morphism $A[T_1, \ldots, T_n][[q-1]] \to R[[q-1]] \to R[[q-1]]$ (see 1.10 for the terminology), and that $R[[q-1]] \to R$ is a (q-1)-complete pro-infinitesimal thickening. Hence there exists a unique dashed lift in the solid diagram

This lift will also be denoted γ_i . By lifting against $R[[q-1]]/(q-1)T_i \to R$ instead, which is still a (q-1)-complete pro-infinitesimal thickening, we see that γ_i is not only congruent to the identity modulo q-1, but also modulo $(q-1)T_i$. This allow us define algebraic versions $q-\partial_i \colon R[[q-1]] \to R[[q-1]]$ of Jackson's q-derivatives from 1.4 using the formula

$$q - \partial_i f \coloneqq \frac{\gamma_i(f) - f}{qT_i - T_i}$$

for i = 1, ..., n. Note that $q - \partial_i$ and $q - \partial_j$ commute for all i and j. Indeed, this reduces to the same assertion for γ_i and γ_j , which follows once again by an infinitesimal lifting argument. We may thus construct the q-de Rham complex of (R, \Box) as the Koszul complex of the commuting A[[q-1]]-module endomorphisms $q - \partial_1, \ldots, q - \partial_n$:

$$q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box} \coloneqq \left(R\llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{q - \nabla} \Omega^1_{R/A} \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{q - \nabla} \cdots \xrightarrow{q - \nabla} \Omega^n_{R/A} \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \right).$$

Similarly, the *q*-Hodge complex of (R, \Box) is the Koszul complex of $(q-1)q-\partial_1, \ldots, (q-1)q-\partial_n$:

$$q\operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^* \coloneqq \left(R\llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{(q-1) q - \nabla} \Omega_{R/A}^1 \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \xrightarrow{(q-1) q - \nabla} \cdots \xrightarrow{(q-1) q - \nabla} \Omega_{R/A}^n \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \right).$$

4.9. Non-commutative multiplicative structure. — It's straightforward to check that the partial q-derivative $q-\partial_i$ satisfies the q-Leibniz rule $q-\partial_i(fg) = f q-\partial_i g + \gamma_i(g) q-\partial_i f$. This allows us to equip the q-de Rham complex with a non-commutative differential-graded algebra structures as follows: For homogeneous elements $\omega = f dT_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dT_{i_k} \in q-\Omega_{R/A,\Box}^k$ and $\eta = g dT_{j_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dT_{j_\ell} \in \Omega_{R/A,\Box}^\ell$ we put

$$\omega \wedge \eta \coloneqq f\gamma_{i_1} \left(\gamma_{i_2} (\cdots \gamma_{i_k}(g) \cdots) \right) \mathrm{d}T_{i_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}T_{i_k} \wedge \mathrm{d}T_{j_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge \mathrm{d}T_{j_\ell} \,.$$

More succinctly, we use the good old wedge product and impose the additional non-commutative rule $dT_i \wedge f := \gamma_i(f) \wedge dT_i$ for all $f \in R[\![q-1]\!]$ and all $i = 1, \ldots, d$. From the q-Leibniz rule, we easily get $q - \nabla(\omega \wedge \eta) = q - \nabla(\omega) \wedge \eta + (-1)^k \omega \wedge q - \nabla(\eta)$, so this multiplication does indeed define a differential-graded $A[\![q-1]\!]$ -algebra structure on $q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}$. The same definition also works for the q-Hodge complex q-Hdg $^*_{R/A,\Box}$.

Our eventual goal is to compute the cohomology $\mathrm{H}^*(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^m-1))$, including its multiplicative structure coming from 4.9. As a preparation, we'll now determine the additive structure of $\mathrm{H}^*((q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))$ as an $\widehat{A}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ -module.^(4.1) Our strategy will be to construct a certain decomposition of $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^n}-1)$ according to a Frobenius lift on \widehat{R}_p . This is an old trick, going back (at least) to Katz's proof of the Cartier isomorphism in [Kat70, Theorem (7.2)].

4.10. The Frobenius lift. — The *p*-completion $\widehat{A}_p\langle T_1, \ldots, T_n \rangle \coloneqq (A[T_1, \ldots, T_n])_p^{\wedge}$ can be equipped with a δ -structure in which the Frobenius ϕ_{\Box} is given by the Frobenius $\phi = \psi^p$ on A and $\phi_{\Box}(T_i) \coloneqq T_i^p$. Since $\Box : \widehat{A}_p\langle T_1, \ldots, T_n \rangle \to \widehat{R}_p$ is *p*-completely étale, ϕ_{\Box} admits a unique extension to a Frobenius lift on \widehat{R}_p , which we still denote $\phi_{\Box} : \widehat{R}_p \to \widehat{R}_p$ by abuse of notation. We observe that ϕ_{\Box} is injective. Indeed, ϕ_{\Box} is injective modulo p, since R/p is reduced: It's a smooth A/p-algebra, and A/p must be reduced because it admits a faithfully flat cover $A/p \to A_{\infty}/p$ by a perfect \mathbb{F}_p -algebra. Hence every $x \in \widehat{R}_p$ with $\phi_{\Box}(x) = 0$ must be divisible by p; say x = px'. But then $0 = \phi_{\Box}(px') = p\phi_{\Box}(x')$ implies $\phi_{\Box}(x') = 0$. Iterating this argument shows that x is divisible by p arbitrarily many times. But \widehat{R}_p is p-complete and thus p-adically separated, so x = 0, as required.

4.11. The Frobenius decomposition I. — For every $\alpha \ge 0$, let

$$\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)} \coloneqq \left(\phi_{\Box}^{\alpha}(\widehat{R}_p) \otimes_{\phi^{\alpha}(\widehat{A}_p)} \widehat{A}_p \right)_p^{\wedge}$$

(as usual, it doesn't matter whether we complete in the derived or underived sense, as can be seen by base change to A_{∞}). We claim that the canonical map $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)} \to \widehat{R}_p$ exhibits \widehat{R}_p as a free module over $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}$, with a basis given by $T_1^{v_1} \cdots T_n^{v_n}$ for all multi-indices $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ satisfying $0 \leq v_i \leq p^{\alpha} - 1$. To see why this is true, first observe that the corresponding assertion for $\widehat{A}_p \langle T_1, \ldots, T_n \rangle$ is true for obvious reasons. Hence it suffices to show that

is a derived pushout square of rings. But both the derived pushout and \widehat{R}_p are derived pcomplete, so by the derived Nakayama lemma it's enough to check that we get a derived pushout
square after applying $-\bigotimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p}^{\mathrm{L}} \mathbb{F}_p$ everywhere. This is proved in [Stacks, Tag 0EBS].

Now, for every multi-index $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ satisfying $0 \leq v_i \leq p^{\alpha} - 1$ for all i, we let $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,v})_p^{\wedge} \subseteq (q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*})_p^{\wedge}$ be the free graded $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}[\![q-1]\!]$ -module with basis the elements

$$\prod_{i \in I} T_i^{v_i} \bigwedge_{j \in J} T_j^{v_j - 1} \, \mathrm{d}T_j$$

^(4.1)Observe that our assumption on the existence of a faithfully flat map $A \to A_{\infty}$ into a perfect Λ -ring implies that A and R are p-torsionfree, so it doesn't matter whether we interpret \hat{A}_p and \hat{R}_p as the derived or the underived completions. Similarly, q-Hdg^{*}_{R/A,\Biggentermatchinglessinglesi}

for all disjoint decompositions $I \sqcup J = \{1, \ldots, n\}$. If $v_j = 0$ for some j, we use the convention that $T_j^{v_j-1} dT_j \coloneqq T_j^{p^{\alpha}-1} dT_j$. Then we obtain a decomposition

$$\left(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*\right)_p^\wedge \cong \bigoplus_v \left(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,v}\right)_p^\wedge$$

as graded $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}[[q-1]]$ -modules.

4.12. Lemma. — The decomposition from 4.11 is not just a decomposition underlying graded modules, but a decomposition of complexes. Furthermore, for the induced decomposition on $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box})/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$, each piece $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^{*,v}_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ is a complex of $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}[\![q-1]\!]$ -modules.

Proof. To show that the differentials $(q-1) q - \nabla$ of $(q - \operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box})_p^{\wedge}$ respect the decomposition, it will be enough to show that $\gamma_i : \hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!] \to \hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ respects the decomposition of $\hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ as a free $\hat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}[\![q-1]\!]$ -module with basis $T_1^{v_1} \cdots T_n^{v_n}$ for all multi-indices $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ as above. To show this, extend ϕ_{\Box} to a Frobenius lift $\phi_{\Box} : \hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!] \to \hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ by putting $\phi_{\Box}(q) \coloneqq q^p$. It will certainly be enough to show that ϕ_{\Box} and γ_i commute. It's straightforward to check that they commute when restricted $\hat{A}_p\langle T_1, \ldots, T_n\rangle[\![q-1]\!]$. Furthermore, they commute modulo (p, q - 1), because γ_i is the identity modulo q - 1. Hence the desired commutativity follows from uniqueness of infinitesimal lifting for (p, q - 1)-completely étale morphisms.

To show that each piece $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R,\Box}^{*,v})_p^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ is $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}[\![q-1]\!]$ -linear, it will be enough to show that

$$(q-1) q - \nabla \colon \widehat{R}_p \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \longrightarrow (\Omega^1_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket$$

is divisible by $q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1$ when restricted to $\widehat{R}_{p}^{(\alpha)}[[q-1]]$. This follows easily from the fact that γ_{i} and ϕ_{\Box} commute, as we've observed above.

4.13. The Frobenius decomposition II. — We 'll now further simplify the Frobenius decomposition from 4.11, adapting the arguments in the proof of [Kat70, Theorem (7.2)]. Using Lemma 4.12, we can write

$$\left(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,v}\right)_p^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \cong \widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p}\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket K_{\alpha}^{*,v}(n),$$

where $K_{\alpha}^{*,v}(n)$ is the complex of free $\mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ -modules with basis given by the elements from 4.11 and differentials given by $(q-1)q-\nabla$. The complex $K_{\alpha}^{*,v}(n)$ can be decomposed into a tensor product $K_{\alpha}^{*,v}(n) \cong K_{\alpha}^{*,v_1}(1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]} \cdots \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]} K_{\alpha}^{*,v_d}(1)$, where $K_{\alpha}^{*,v_i}(1)$ is the complex

$$K_{\alpha}^{*,v_{i}}(1) \coloneqq \left(T_{i}^{v_{i}} \cdot \mathbb{Z}_{p}[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \xrightarrow{(q-1)q-\nabla} T_{i}^{v_{i}-1} dT_{i} \cdot \mathbb{Z}_{p}[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)$$

concentrated in degrees 0 and 1. As in 4.11, we use the convention that $T_i^{v_i-1} dT_i := T_i^{p^{\alpha}-1} dT_i$ if $v_i = 0$. If $v_i \ge 1$, then we can write $v_i = p^e v'_i$, where e is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of v_i . The differential $(q-1) q - \nabla$ of $K^{*,v_i}(1)$ sends the generator $T_i^{v_i}$ in degree zero to

$$(q-1) q - \nabla(T_i^{v_i}) = (q^{v_i} - 1) T_i^{v_i - 1} dT_i = [v_i']_{q^{p^e}} (q^{p^e} - 1) T_i^{v_i - 1} dT_i$$

Now observe that $[v'_i]_{q^{p^e}}$ is a unit in $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q-1]]/(q^{p^n}-1)$. Indeed, it can be written as a sum of v'_i , which is a unit, and a multiple of the topologically nilpotent element q-1. Hence $K^{*,v_i}(1)$ is isomorphic to the complex $K^*_{\alpha,e}$ given by

$$K_{\alpha,e}^* \coloneqq \left(\mathbb{Z}_p \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket / (q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1) \xrightarrow{(q^{p^{e}} - 1)} \mathbb{Z}_p \llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket / (q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1) \right),$$

again concentrated in degrees 0 and 1. If $v_i = 0$, then similarly $K^{*,0}(1) \cong K^*_{\alpha,\alpha}$, where the differential of $K^*_{\alpha,\alpha}$ is multiplication with $q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1$, hence zero.

Summarising, we see that $K^{*,v}(n)$ can be written as a tensor product of complexes of the form K_{n,e_i}^* for some $0 \leq e_1, \ldots, e_n \leq \alpha$. Fortunately, such a tensor product is easy to compute:

4.14. Lemma. — If $e_1 \ge e_2 \ge 0$, then there is an isomorphism of complexes of $\mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ -modules

$$K_{\alpha,e_1}^* \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket} K_{\alpha,e_2}^* \cong K_{\alpha,e_2}^* [-1] \oplus K_{\alpha,e_2}^*$$

Proof. An explicit isomorphism $K^*_{\alpha,e_1} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p} [\![q-1]\!] K^*_{\alpha,e_2} \xrightarrow{\cong} K^*_{\alpha,e_2} [-1] \oplus K^*_{\alpha,e_2}$ is given by the following commutative diagram:

Here the vertical arrow in the middle sends $(a, b) \mapsto \left(a - \frac{q^{p^{e_1}} - 1}{q^{p^{e_2}} - 1}b, b\right)$.

4.15. Lemma. — Let $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ be a multi-index as in 4.11, and let's write $v_i = p^{e_i}v'_i$, where e_i is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of v_i as in 4.13 (with the convention that $e_i \coloneqq \alpha$ in the case $v_i = 0$). If $e \coloneqq \min\{e_1, \ldots, e_d\}$, then there is an isomorphism of complexes of $\widehat{A}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ -modules

$$\left(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,v}\right)_{p}^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \cong \widehat{R}_{p}^{(\alpha)}\llbracket q-1\rrbracket \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_{p}\llbracket q-1\rrbracket} \left(\bigoplus_{k=0}^{n-1} \left(K_{\alpha,e}^{*}[-k]\right)^{\oplus \binom{n-1}{k}}\right).$$

Proof. Use 4.13, Lemma 4.14, and induction on n.

4.16. Corollary. — For all $\alpha \ge 0$, the cohomology groups $H^*((q-Hdg^*_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))$ are *p*-torsion free.

Proof. By Lemma 4.15, each cohomology group of $(q-\text{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ is a direct sum of terms of the form

$$\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket} \mathrm{H}^0(K_{\alpha,e}^*) \quad \text{or} \quad \widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}_p\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket} \mathrm{H}^1(K_{\alpha,e}^*)$$

for some $e \ge 1$. But $\mathrm{H}^0(K^*_{\alpha,e}) = [p^{\alpha-e}]_{q^{p^e}} \mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \cong \mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^e}-1)$ and also $\mathrm{H}^1(K^*_{\alpha,e}) \cong \mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^e}-1)$, so everything is indeed *p*-torsion free. \Box

§4.3. The *q*-Hodge complex II: Multiplicative Structure

Our goal in this subsection is to equip the cohomologies $(H^*(q-Hdg^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^m-1)))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ with the structure of a q-FV-system of differential-graded A-algebras over R as defined in Definition 3.6. This will allow us to formulate a relative version of Theorem 1.7, which will eventually be proved in §§4.4–4.5. Throughout, we fix a framed smooth A-algebra (R, \Box) and use the shorthand $H^*_{R/A,\Box}(m) := H^*(q-Hdg^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^m-1))$. Let's start constructing the various pieces of structure.

4.17. Differential-graded algebra structure. — We know from 4.9 that q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\square$} can be equipped with a non-commutative differential-graded A[q]-algebra structure. This induces a graded algebra structure on $\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(m)$, which turns out to be commutative as we'll see in Lemma 4.18 below.

This leaves us with the question of how to define the differentials. We'll use the Bockstein differentials: Our assumptions on A and R guarantee that $q^m - 1$ is a nonzerodivisor in R[[q-1]], hence we have a short exact sequence of complexes

$$0 \longrightarrow q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^* / (q^m - 1) \xrightarrow{(q^m - 1)} q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^* / (q^m - 1)^2 \longrightarrow q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^* / (q^m - 1) \longrightarrow 0.$$

The associated connecting morphisms $\beta_m \colon \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(m) \to \mathrm{H}^{*+1}_{R/A,\square}(m)$ are called *Bockstein differentials*. As the name suggests, β_m turns the graded $A[\![q-1]\!]$ -module $\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(m)$ into a cochain complex (see [Stacks, Tag 0F7N] for example).

4.18. Lemma. — The graded algebra structure from 4.9 and the Bockstein differentials constructed in 4.17 make $(H^*_{R/A,\Box}(m), \beta_m)$ a commutative differential-graded A[[q-1]]-algebra.

Proof. To show commutativity, let $\omega \in q$ -Hdg^k_{$R/A,\Box$} be a k-form representing an element in $\mathrm{H}^{k}_{R/A,\Box}(m)$. It will be enough to show $\mathrm{d}T_i \wedge \omega \equiv (-1)^k \omega \wedge \mathrm{d}T_i \mod q^m - 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. To see this, write

$$\omega = \sum_{j \in J} f_j \, \mathrm{d}T_{j_1} \wedge \dots \wedge \mathrm{d}T_{j_k}$$

for some finite indexing set J. Our assumption on ω reads $0 \equiv (q-1)q \cdot \nabla(\omega) \mod q^m - 1$. In particular, it implies that

$$0 \equiv \sum_{j \in J} (\gamma_i(f_j) - f) dT_i \wedge dT_{j_1} \wedge \dots \wedge dT_{j_k} \mod q^m - 1$$

But $dT_i \wedge f_j dT_i \wedge dT_{j_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dT_{j_k} = \gamma_i(f) dT_i \wedge dT_{j_1} \wedge \cdots \wedge dT_{j_k}$ holds by definition of the multiplication on q-Hdg^{*}_{R/A,□}. So the congruence above is exactly what we need.

To show the graded Leibniz rule, we'll only verify that $\beta_m \colon \mathrm{H}^0_{R/A,\Box}(m) \to \mathrm{H}^1_{R/A,\Box}(m)$ is a derivation; the arguments in higher degrees are similar. Let $f, g \in R[[q-1]]$ be elements whose images modulo $q^m - 1$ are contained in $\mathrm{H}^0_{R/A,\Box}(m)$. Then $(q-1) q \cdot \nabla(f) \in \Omega^1_{R/A}[[q-1]]$ is divisible by $q^m - 1$, so that $q \cdot \nabla(f)$ is divisible by $[m]_q$. A quick unravelling then shows that $\beta_m(f)$ is the image of

$$\frac{(q-1)q - \nabla(f)}{q^m - 1} = \frac{q - \nabla(f)}{[m]_q}$$

in $\mathrm{H}^{1}_{R/A,\square}(m)$, and likewise for $\beta_m(g)$. Furthermore, if $q - \nabla f$ is divisible by $[m]_q$, then $\gamma_i(f) - f$ must be divisible by $q^m - 1$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, n$. Thus, by the q-Leibniz rule,

$$\frac{q - \partial_i(fg)}{[m]_q} = \gamma_i(f)\frac{q - \partial_i g}{[m]_q} + g\frac{q - \partial_i f}{[m]_q} \equiv f\frac{q - \partial_i g}{[m]_q} + g\frac{q - \partial_i f}{[m]_q} \mod q^m - 1$$

This shows $\beta_m(fg) = f\beta_m(g) + g\beta_m(f)$, as desired.

Next, we need to construct A[q]-algebra maps $q - W_m(R/A) \to H^0_{R/A,\square}(m)$ for all m. If $R = A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ and \square is just the identity, then these maps are easily defined: We equip R with the Λ -A-algebra structure in which $\psi^p(T_i) = T_i^p$ and consider the composition

$$q \operatorname{-W}_m(R/A) \xrightarrow{c_{m/A}} R[q]/(q^m - 1) \longrightarrow R[[q - 1]]/(q^m - 1),$$

where $c_{m/A}$ is the comparison map from 2.44. It's straightforward to see (but we don't need it at this point) that this map induces an isomorphism $q - W_m(R/A)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \to H^0_{R/A,\Box}(m)$.^(4.2) For general R, however, the Λ -structure on $A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ doesn't extend along the étale morphism $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \to R$. Instead, we only get δ -structures on the p-completions \hat{R}_p for all primes p. So instead our strategy will be to use an *arithmetic fracture pullback square*.

4.19. Arithmetic fracture pullback squares. — For any $M \in \mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$ and any integer $N \neq 0$, the canonical commutative square



is a pullback square in the derived ∞ -category $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z})$. Indeed, after applying any of the functors (-)[1/N] or $(-)_p^{\wedge}$ for a prime factor $p \mid N$, the square above becomes a pullback for trivial reasons. But these functors are jointly conservative by Lemma 2.4.

4.20. Lemma. — Let N be divisible by m. Then the derived (q-1)-completion of the arithmetic fracture pullback square from 4.19 for q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ takes the form

where p^{α_p} is the largest power of p dividing m for all prime factors $p \mid N$. The top horizontal map is given by the Frobenii $F_{m/p^{\alpha_p}}$ and the vertical maps are the ghost maps gh_m and $(gh_{p^{\alpha_p}})_{p\mid N}$, respectively.

Proof. We start with the top right corner. The Frobenius and Verschiebung

$$F_{m/p^{\alpha_p}} : q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(R/A) \quad \text{and} \quad V_{m/p^{\alpha_p}} : q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(R/A) \longrightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$$

^(4.2)One can use the Λ -structure on R to decompose q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\Box}/(<math>q^m - 1$) as in 4.11. Then H⁰_{$R/A,\Box}(m)$ can be read off and it matches up with the (q - 1)-completion of the description of q-W_m(R/A) from the proof of Lemma 2.45.</sub></sub>

become isomorphisms after derived (p, q-1)-completion because $F_{m/p^{\alpha_p}} \circ V_{m/p^{\alpha_p}} = m/p^{\alpha_p}$ and $V_{m/p^{\alpha_p}} \circ F_{m/p^{\alpha_p}} = [m/p^{\alpha_p}]_{q^{p^{\alpha_p}}}$ are invertible in $\mathbb{Z}[q]^{\wedge}_{(p,q-1)}$. This explains why q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(-/A)$ shows up in the diagram instead of q- $\mathbb{W}_m(-/A)$. Furthermore, the canonical morphism q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(R/A) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(\hat{R}_p/A)$ becomes an isomorphism after *p*-completion. Indeed, this can be checked after *p*-completed base change along the faithfully flat map $A \to A_{\infty}$. Via Lemma 2.45, we're then reduced to a question about absolute *q*-Witt vectors, which was addressed in Corollary 2.23.

The bottom corners are similar, but easier. Since N and $[N]_q$ are invertible in $\mathbb{Z}[1/N, q]^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}$, the same argument as above shows that the ghost map $\operatorname{gh}_m: q \operatorname{W}_m(R/A) \to R$, or equivalently, the Frobenius F_m , becomes an isomorphism after $(-)[1/N]^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}$. Also note that R[1/N] doesn't need to be (q-1)-completed because it's already (q-1)-torsion. This takes care of the bottom left corner; the argument for the bottom right corner is analogous.

4.21. Remark. — Observe that all factors of the pullback from Lemma 4.20 are static (in the sense of 1.10), so we don't just get a pullback in the derived ∞ -category, but also an honest pullback of A[q]-modules. To see this, it's enough to check that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ and q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(\hat{R}_p/A)$ have bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ and p^{∞} -torsion. This can be done after base change along $A \to A_{\infty}$, where it reduces via Lemma 2.45 to questions about absolute q-Witt vectors that were addressed in Corollaries 2.21 and 2.25. The same conclusion is true (but for easier reasons) for the pullback square in Lemma 4.22 below.

4.22. Lemma. — Let N be divisible by m. Then the derived (q-1)-completion of the arithmetic fracture pullback square from 4.19 for $R[[q-1]]/(q^m-1)$ takes the form

where p^{α_p} is the largest power of p dividing m for all prime factors $p \mid N$.

Proof. One can argue as in Lemma 4.20, but with the Frobenius and Verschiebung replaced by the canonical projections $R[[q-1]]/(q^m-1) \to R[[q-1]]/(q^{p^{\alpha_p}}-1)$ and the multiplication maps $[m/p^{\alpha_p}]_{q^{p^{\alpha_p}}} : R[[q-1]]/(q^{p^{\alpha_p}}-1) \to R[[q-1]]/(q^m-1)$.

4.23. Construction. — Fix a prime $p \mid N$. We've already seen in 4.10 that the étale framing $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \to R$ determines a Frobenius lift on the *p*-completion \hat{R}_p , which turns \hat{R}_p into a δ -A-algebra by *p*-torsion freeness. By Remark 2.31, q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(\hat{R}_p/A)$ only depends on the Λ_p -structure on A, that is, on the δ -structure, and the relative comparison map

$$c_{p^{\alpha_p}/A} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(\widehat{R}_p/A) \longrightarrow \widehat{R}_p[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha_p}}-1)$$

from 2.44 can be defined using only a δ -A-algebra structure on \hat{R}_p . These comparison maps for all $p \mid N$ induce a morphism between the pullback squares from Lemmas 4.20 and 4.22 and hence a morphism

$$c_{m,\Box} \colon q \operatorname{-W}_m(R/A)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \longrightarrow R\llbracket q-1 \rrbracket/(q^m-1),$$

even though there's usually no Λ -A-algebra structure on R. It's straightforward to check that $c_{m,\Box}$ doesn't depend on the choice of N.^(4.3) Furthermore, it's easy to see that $c_{m,\Box}$ lands in $\mathrm{H}^{0}_{R/A,\Box}(m)$. Indeed, we can write the free $R[[q-1]]/(q^m-1)$ -module q-Hdg $^{1}_{R/A,\Box}$ as a similar pullback as in Lemma 4.22 and then it suffices to check that we get 0 in each factor. For the bottom factors this is trivial, since the differentials of q-Hdg $^{*}_{R/A,\Box}$ vanish modulo q-1. So it remains to show that the composition

$$q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha_p}}(\widehat{R}_p/A) \longrightarrow \widehat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha_p}}-1) \xrightarrow{(q-1)q-\nabla} (\Omega^1_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha_p}}-1)$$

vanishes, or in other words, that map $c_{p^{\alpha_p}/A}$ lands in $\mathrm{H}^0((q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^{\alpha_p}}-1))$ for all $p \mid N$. But thanks to 4.11 and 4.13, we can determine that cohomology group. If $v = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ is a multi-index and e is defined as in Lemma 4.15, then the v^{th} component of our desired H^0 is given by

$$\mathrm{H}^{0}((q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,v})_{p}^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha_{p}}}-1)) \cong [p^{\alpha_{p}-e}]_{q^{p^{e}}}T_{1}^{v_{1}}\cdots T_{n}^{v_{n}}\widehat{R}_{p}^{(\alpha)}[\![q-1]\!]/(q^{p^{\alpha_{p}}}-1).$$

By unravelling the definitions, it's clear that $c_{p^{\alpha_p}/A}$ really lands the direct sum of over all v of these groups. This finishes the construction of a q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ -algebra structure on $\mathrm{H}^0_{R/A}(m)$.

4.24. Frobenius and Verschiebung. — For $d \mid m$, we define the Frobenius and the Verschiebung

$$F_{m/d} \colon \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(m) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(d) \quad \text{and} \quad V_{m/d} \colon \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(d) \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(m)$$

to be the maps induced by the canonical projection q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\Box$}/ $(q^m-1) \rightarrow q$ -Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\Box$}/ (q^d-1) and the multiplication map $[m/d]_{q^d}: q$ -Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\Box$}/ $(q^d-1) \rightarrow q$ -Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\Box$}/ (q^m-1) , respectively. It's clear that $F_{m/d}$ is a map of graded A[q]-algebras and $V_{m/d}$ is a map of graded A[q]-modules. In fact, $V_{m/d}$ is a map of graded H^{*}_{$R/A,\Box$}(m)-modules if we equip H^{*}_{$R/A,\Box$}(d) with the module structure induced from $F_{m/d}$.

These maps are compatible with the Frobenii and Verschiebungen on relative q-Witt vectors under the maps constructed in Construction 4.23, which is straightforward to check from the definition and Corollary 2.34. Furthermore, we clearly have $F_{m/e} = F_{d/e} \circ F_{m/d}$ and $V_{m/e} = V_{m/d} \circ V_{d/e}$ for all chains of divisors $e \mid d \mid m$. The condition $V_{m/d}(\omega F_{m/d}(\eta)) = V_{m/d}(\omega)\eta$ follows from our observation that $V_{m/d}$ is a map of graded $H^*_{B/A,\Box}(m)$ -modules.

According to Remark 3.8, we've thus equipped $(\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(m))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ with all the structure from Definition 3.1(*a*) and (*b*) as well as Definition 3.6(*c*), and it only remains to check the *F*-Teichmüller condition (τ_F) . It's easy to see that the *F*-Teichmüller condition always holds up to $(m/d)^{m/d-1}$ -torsion, so it will be enough to show the following lemma.

4.25. Lemma. — For all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ and all primes p, the cohomology $\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\square}(m)$ is p-torsion free in every degree.

For the proof, we need a technical lemma.

4.26. Lemma. — Fix a prime p and consider the following three conditions on a cochain complex M^* of $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -modules:

^(4.3)We could have chosen m = N, but allowing an arbitrary N divisible by m makes the compatibility of $c_{m,\square}$ for varying m more apparent.

- (a) In every degree, M^* and $H^*(M^*)$ have bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ -torsion.
- (b) In every degree, M^* and $H^*(M^*)$ are p-torsion free.
- (c) In every degree, M^*/p and $H^*(M^*)/p$ have bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ -torsion.

If M satisfies these conditions, then the derived (q-1)-completion of M can be computed as the degree-wise underived (q-1)-completion, and it also satisfies conditions (a), (b), and (c). Moreover, taking cohomology of M^* commutes with derived (q-1)-completion and with derived (p, q-1)-completion.

Proof. Condition (a) implies that the derived (q-1)-completion of M^* can be computed as the degree-wise underived (q-1)-completion. Furthermore, via the spectral sequence from [Stacks, Tag 0BKE], it implies that (q-1)-completion (derived or underived doesn't matter) commutes with taking cohomology. In formulas,

$$\mathrm{H}^*\left(\widehat{M}^*_{(q-1)}\right) \cong \mathrm{H}^*(M)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}.$$

It is now clear that (a) is still satisfied for $\widehat{M}^*_{(q-1)}$. For conditions (b) and (c), let N be any p-torsion free $\mathbb{Z}[q]$ -module. Then

$$N \xrightarrow{p} N \longrightarrow N/p$$

is a cofibre sequence of static objects in $\mathcal{D}(\mathbb{Z}[q])$. If both N and N/p have bounded $(q-1)^{\infty}$ torsion, then applying $(-)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}$ to this cofibre sequence still yields a cofibre sequence of static objects. This shows that $N^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}$ is still *p*-torsion free and that $N^{\wedge}_{(q-1)}/p$ is the derived or underived (q-1)-completion of N/p. Applied to M^* , we conclude that the degree-wise (q-1)completion $\widehat{M}^*_{(q-1)}$ still satisfies all three conditions. In particular, its cohomology is *p*-torsion free and so taking cohomology commutes with derived *p*-completion. In formulas,

$$H^*(\widehat{M}^*_{(p,q-1)}) \cong H^*(\widehat{M}^*_{(q-1)})_p^{\wedge} \cong H^*(M)^{\wedge}_{(p,q-1)},$$

on we had to show. \square

which is the last assertion we had to show.

Proof of Lemma 4.25. We'll show that the conditions of Lemma 4.26 are satisfied for the complex $M^* = q$ -Hdg $_{R/A,\Box}^*/(q^m - 1)$. Let's first consider the case $A = \mathbb{Z}$. Thanks to Construction 4.23, we know that q-Hdg $_{R/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*/(q^m - 1)$ is a complex of q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$ -modules. We also know that q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$ is noetherian using Corollary 2.38. Furthermore, the proof of said corollary shows that $R[[q-1]]/(q^m - 1)$ is finite over q- $\mathbb{W}_m(R)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$. So q-Hdg $_{R/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*/(q^m - 1)$ is a complex of finitely generated modules over a noetherian ring. Hence conditions (a) and (c) from Lemma 4.26 become obvious. It remains to check condition (b). It's clear that q-Hdg $_{R/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*/(q^m - 1)$ is degree-wise p-torsion free. For complexes of finitely generated modules over a noetherian ring, p-completion (derived or underived doesn't matter) commutes with cohomology. Furthermore, an abelian group is p-torsion free if and only if its derived p-completion is static and p-torsion free. Now the derived p-completion of q-Hdg $_{R/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*/(q^m - 1)$ is computed by (q-Hdg $_{R/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*)_p^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)$, where α is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of m. Since we know this complex has p-torsion free cohomology by Corollary 4.16, it follows that H $_{R/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*(m)$ must be p-torsion free as well, as desired.

Now let A be an arbitrary Λ -ring (except that we still impose the condition that a faithfully flat morphism of Λ -rings $A \to A_{\infty}$ into a perfect Λ -ring exists). Let $R_0 := \mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$. We claim that

$$q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*/(q^m-1) \cong \left(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R_0/\mathbb{Z},\Box}^*/(q^m-1) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R_0)} q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)\right)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$$

where the completion is the degree-wise underived (q-1)-completion, but it computes the derived (q-1)-completion (as we'll see in a moment). To see this, first observe that the base change along $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ is flat. Indeed, our assumptions imply that A is flat over \mathbb{Z} , hence $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A/A)$ is flat by Lemma 2.45. Furthermore, $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \cong R_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A \to R$ is étale, hence so is $q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A/A) \to q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ by Proposition 2.47. The fact that $q - \mathrm{Hdg}_{R_0/\mathbb{Z}, \Box}^*/(q^m - 1) \otimes_{q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0)} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ is a flat base change of $q - \mathrm{Hdg}_{R_0/\mathbb{Z}, \Box}^*/(q^m - 1)$ immediately implies that it satisfies the conditions (a), (b), and (c) from Lemma 4.26, and so the degree-wise underived (q-1)-completion indeed agrees with the derived (q-1)-completion. This also shows that once we've proved the isomorphism above, we'll be immediately done by Lemma 4.26.

To prove the claimed isomorphism, it's enough to show that that the natural map

$$\left(R_0\llbracket q-1\rrbracket/(q^m-1)\otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(R_0)}^{\mathbf{L}}q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)\right)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\simeq} R\llbracket q-1\rrbracket/(q^m-1)$$

is an equivalence, as $q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R_0/\mathbb{Z},\square}^*/(q^m-1)$ and $q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\square}^*/(q^m-1)$ are degree-wise free modules over $R_0[\![q-1]\!]/(q^m-1)$ and $R[\![q-1]\!]/(q^m-1)$, respectively, with compatible bases. By the derived Nakayama lemma [Stacks, Tag OG1U] such an equivalence can be checked after applying $R \otimes_{R_0[\![q-1]\!]/(q^m-1)}^{\mathrm{L}}$. The right-hand side then becomes R. The left-hand side becomes

$$R_0 \otimes^{\mathrm{L}}_{\mathrm{gh}_m, q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0)} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \simeq (R_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A) \otimes^{\mathrm{L}}_{\mathrm{gh}_m, q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0 \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A/A)} q - \mathbb{W}_m(R/A),$$

where we've used that $c_m : q - \mathbb{W}_m(R_0) \to R[\![q-1]\!]/(q^m-1)$ intertwines the canonical projection to R_0 with the m^{th} ghost map. The claim now follows from Corollary 2.50.

4.27. Construction. — This finishes the construction of a q-FV-system of differentialgraded A-algebras over A on $(\operatorname{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(m))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. By Proposition 3.17, this induces a unique morphism of q-FV-systems $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})_{m\in\mathbb{N}} \to (\operatorname{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(m))_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. Since $\operatorname{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(m)$ is derived (q-1)-complete in every degree, this morphism of q-FV systems factors through the degree-wise derived (q-1)-completions. By Lemma 4.7, we can equally well take the degree-wise underived (q-1)-completions, and so we obtain morphisms

$$\left(q \operatorname{-W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}\right)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(m)$$

which finally allow us to state the relative version of Theorem 1.7.

4.28. Theorem. — Let R be a smooth algebra over the perfectly covered Λ -ring A. Then the canonical morphism from Construction 4.27 is an isomorphism

$$\left(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{R/A}\right)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathrm{H}^*\left(q - \mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^m - 1)\right)$$

for all positive integers $m \in \mathbb{N}$.

§4.4. Proof of the main results I: The *p*-typical case

After our lengthy digression, we return to the induction outlined in our battle plan 4.3. The goal of this subsection is to prove the remaining three implications, starting with $(a_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (b_{\alpha})$. We keep the shorthand $\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha}) \coloneqq \mathrm{H}^*(q\operatorname{-Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))$ as in §4.3 and note that the degree-wise *p*-completion $\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})^{\wedge}_p$ computes the cohomology of $(q\operatorname{-Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ by Lemma 4.25.

4.29. The Frobenius on the q-Hodge complex. — As in the proof of Lemma 4.12 we extend ϕ_{\Box} to a Frobenius lift $\phi_{\Box} : \hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!] \to \hat{R}_p[\![q-1]\!]$ by putting $\phi_{\Box}(q) \coloneqq q^p$. We can further extend this to an endomorphism of complexes

$$\phi_{\Box} \colon \left(q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*\right)_p^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \left(q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*\right)_p^{\wedge}$$

by putting $\phi_{\Box}(dT_i) \coloneqq T_i^{p-1} dT_i$. Indeed, we've checked in the proof of Lemma 4.12 that ϕ_{\Box} and γ_i commute and so to check that ϕ_{\Box} respects the differential, it's enough to compute

$$\phi_{\Box}((q-1) q - \partial_i f) = \phi_{\Box}\left(\frac{\gamma_i(f) - f}{T_i} dT_i\right) = \frac{\phi_{\Box}(\gamma_i(f)) - \phi_{\Box}(f)}{T_i^p} T_i^{p-1} dT_i$$
$$= \frac{\gamma_i(\phi_{\Box}(f)) - \phi_{\Box}(f)}{T_i} dT_i$$
$$= (q-1) q - \partial_i(\phi_{\Box}(f)).$$

The Frobenius lift on A can be extended to a Frobenius lift $\phi: A[q] \to A[q]$ by putting $\phi(q) \coloneqq q^p$. Then the endomorphism ϕ_{\Box} induces a relative Frobenius

$$\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha} \colon \left(q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*} \otimes_{A[q],\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]\right)_{(p,q-1)}^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \left(q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*}\right)_{p}^{\wedge}.$$

Following our conventions from 1.10, here we take the degree-wise underived completions, but they coincide with the derived completion, because q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\square$} is degree-wise p- and (q-1)-torsion free and $\phi: A[q] \to A[q]$ is flat (using footnote (2.3) in Remark 2.46). Also recall from 4.11 that we have a decomposition

$$\left(q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*\right)_p^\wedge \cong \bigoplus_v \left(q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,v}\right)_p^\wedge.$$

Let us denote by $(q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,0})_p^{\wedge}$ the direct summand for $v = (0,\ldots,0)$ and by $\operatorname{H}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,0}(p^{\alpha})_p^{\wedge}$ the corresponding direct summand of $\operatorname{H}_{R/A,\Box}^*(p^{\alpha})_p^{\wedge}$.

4.30. Lemma. — The relative Frobenius $\phi^{\alpha}_{\Box/A}$ is an isomorphism onto $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^{*,0}_{R/A,\Box})^{\wedge}_p$. In particular, we obtain an isomorphism of differential-graded A[q]-algebras

$$\mathcal{H}_{R/A,\square}^{*,0}(p^{\alpha})_{p}^{\wedge} \cong \left(\Omega_{R/A}^{*} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)_{p}^{\wedge}$$

Proof. To see that we get an isomorphism onto $(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,0})_p^{\wedge}$, just observe that

$$\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha} \colon \left(R\llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket \otimes_{A[q], \phi^{\alpha}} A[q] \right)_{(p,q-1)} \stackrel{\simeq}{\longrightarrow} \widehat{R}_{p}^{(\alpha)}\llbracket q - 1 \rrbracket$$

is an equivalence essentially by definition of $\widehat{R}_p^{(\alpha)}$ and then check that $\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha}$ sends the bases from 4.11 onto each other.

To show the second assertion, we deduce from the first one that $(q-\text{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,0})_p^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ is a flat base change of $q-\text{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*/(q-1)$ up to (p,q-1)-completion (or just *p*-completion because we're already in a $(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ -torsion situation). It straightforward to check that the cohomology $\text{H}^*(q-\text{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*/(q-1))$, equipped with the Bockstein differential, is the de Rham complex $\Omega_{R/A}^*$. It remains to check that *p*-completion commutes with taking cohomology, but this is clear since we've just checked that

$$\mathrm{H}^*\left(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}/(q-1)\otimes_{A[q],\phi^{\alpha}}A[q]\right) \cong \Omega^*_{R/A}\otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}}A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$$

is degree-wise p-torsion free.

4.31. Lemma. — Let $\overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \subseteq \mathrm{H}_{R/A,\square}^*(p^{\alpha})_p^{\wedge}$ be the p-complete graded sub-A[q]-module generated by the images of V_p and $\mathrm{d}V_p$. Then there's a short exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^{*} \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}_{R/A,\Box}^{*}(p^{\alpha})_{p}^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}_{R/A,\Box}^{*,0}(p^{\alpha})_{p}^{\wedge}/\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q) \longrightarrow 0\,,$$

in which the second arrow is the canonical inclusion and the third arrow is the projection to the direct summand $\mathrm{H}_{R/A,\square}^{*,0}(p^{\alpha})_{p}^{\wedge}$.

Proof. It's clear from the construction in 4.24 that the kernel K^* of the canonical projection $\mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})^{\wedge}_p \to \mathrm{H}^{*,0}_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})^{\wedge}_p/\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q)$ contains the image of V_p , hence K^* also contains the *p*-complete differential-graded ideal generated by the image of V_p . This shows $\overline{\mathbb{V}}^*_{p^{\alpha}} \subseteq K^*$.

It remains to show that $\overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \to K^*$ is surjective. We would like to use the decomposition from Lemma 4.15 to show this. Alas, this decomposition is not compatible with the Bockstein differential. But we can use a trick: It's enough to show that $\overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \to K^*$ is surjective modulo p, as both sides are p-complete. Thanks to Lemma 4.25, we know that modding out p commutes with taking cohomology for the complex q-Hdg $_{R/A,\square}^*/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$. But modulo p, we have a surjection

$$q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*/(p,q^{p^{\alpha+1}}-1) \longrightarrow q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A,\Box}^*/(p,(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)^2)$$

so the decomposition of q-Hdg^{*}_{$R/A,\square}/<math>(p, q^{p^{\alpha+1}} - 1)$ is, in fact, compatible with the Bockstein differential modulo $(p, q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)$.</sub>

So consider a two-term complex $K^*_{\alpha+1,e}$ as in 4.13, where $0 \le e \le \alpha + 1$. Put $\overline{e} := \min\{\alpha, e\}$ and $\overline{K}^*_{\alpha+1,e} := K^*_{\alpha+1,e}/(p, q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)$. Then $\overline{K}^*_{\alpha+1,e}$ is the two-term complex

$$\overline{K}^*_{\alpha+1,e} \cong \left(\mathbb{F}_p[q]/(q-1)^{p^{\alpha}} \xrightarrow{(q-1)^{p^{e}}} \mathbb{F}_p[q]/(q-1)^{p^{\alpha}} \right)$$

with cohomology $\mathrm{H}^{0}(\overline{K}^{*}_{\alpha+1,e}) \cong (q-1)^{p^{\alpha}-p^{\overline{e}}} \mathbb{F}_{p}[q]/(q-1)^{p^{\alpha}}, \mathrm{H}^{1}(\overline{K}^{*}_{\alpha+1,e}) \cong \mathbb{F}_{p}[q]/(q-1)^{p^{\overline{e}}}$. By a simple unravelling, the Bockstein differential $\overline{\beta}_{p^{\alpha}} : \mathrm{H}^{0}(\overline{K}^{*}_{\alpha+1,e}) \to \mathrm{H}^{1}(\overline{K}^{*}_{\alpha+1,e})$ coming from the surjection $K^{*}_{\alpha+1,e}/(p,(q-1)^{2p^{\alpha}}) \twoheadrightarrow \overline{K}^{*}_{\alpha+1,e}$ is given by

$$\overline{\beta}_{p^{\alpha}} \left((q-1)^{p^{\alpha} - p^{\overline{e}}} \omega \right) = (q-1)^{p^{e} - p^{\overline{e}}} \omega$$

for all $\omega \in \mathbb{F}_p[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$. For $e \leq \alpha - 1$, we conclude that every class in $\mathrm{H}^0(\overline{K}^*_{\alpha+1,e})$ is contained in the image of V_p , since they're all divisible by $(q-1)^{p^{\alpha}-p^{\alpha-1}} \equiv \Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q) \mod p$, and similarly that every class in $\mathrm{H}^1(\overline{K}^*_{\alpha+1,e})$ is contained in the image of dV_p . This shows that $\overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}} \to \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})^{\wedge}_p$ is a surjection in every direct summands except possibly $\mathrm{H}^{*,0}_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})^{\wedge}_p$. To analyse the situation for the latter, just observe that the kernel of

$$\mathrm{H}^{*,0}_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})_{p}^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^{*,0}_{R/A,\Box}(p^{\alpha})_{p}^{\wedge}/\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q)$$

is given by the classes divisible by $\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q)$. But every such class is in the image of V_p due to the relation $V_p \circ F_p = \Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q)$.

Proof of $(a_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (b_{\alpha})$. We wish to show that after *p*-completion, the canonical map from Theorem 4.28 for $m = p^{\alpha}$ becomes an isomorphism

$$(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{R/A})_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathrm{H}^*_{R/A, \Box}(p^{\alpha})_p^{\wedge}$$

(the left-hand side doesn't need to be (q-1)-completed since it is already *p*-complete and $(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ -torsion). To do so, let $\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \subseteq (q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/A}^*)_p^{\wedge}$ be the *p*-complete graded sub-A[q]-module generated by the image of V_p and dV_p . Now consider the diagram

The bottom row is exact by Lemmas 4.30 and 4.31. The top row is exact by passing to degree-wise *p*-completions in Lemma 4.6; this preserves exactness since (a_{α}) implies that all *p*-completions agree with the corresponding derived *p*-completions. By the five lemma, it will be enough to show that the left and the right vertical maps are isomorphisms.

Let's begin with the right one and verify that it really is the identity, as indicated. By the universal property of de Rham complexes it's enough to check this in degree 0. Now the diagram

commutes and the bottom row is injective, as we've checked in 4.10 and 4.11. This shows that we really get the identity in degree 0.

To complete the proof, let's shows that the left vertical arrow is an isomorphism. Using the inductive hypothesis $(b_{\alpha-1})$ as well as injectivity of the Verschiebungen V_p (which follows from $F_p \circ V_p = p$ combined with our *p*-torsion freeness results (a_{α}) and Lemma 4.25), we see that we get an isomorphism when restricted to the respective images of V_p . This immediately implies that $\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \to \overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ must be surjective. For injectivity, observe that $p\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ and $p\overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ are contained in the respective images of V_p since $p \, dV_p = V_p \circ d$ by Lemma 3.2. So $p\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \to \overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ must be injective. By *p*-torsion freeness we conclude that $\mathbb{V}_{p^{\alpha}}^* \to \overline{\mathbb{V}}_{p^{\alpha}}^*$ must be injective as well. \Box

Next we set out to prove the implication $(b_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (c_{\alpha})$. From now on, R is an arbitrary smooth A-algebra; the existence of an étale framing $\Box : A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \rightarrow R$ is no longer assumed.

4.32. A non-canonical quasi-isomorphism I. — Contrary to what we just said, assume that R admits an étale framing $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \to R$ and fix one such choice. We'll use it to construct a quasi-isomorphism as in Proposition 4.2, albeit a priori a non-canonical one (and compatibility with the \mathbb{E}_{∞} -A[q]-algebra structures is also not a priori clear). To do that, we consider the following diagram:

$$\begin{pmatrix} q - \Omega_{R/A,\square}^* \otimes_{A[q],\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1) \end{pmatrix}_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\phi_{\square/A}^{\alpha}} \eta_{(\Phi_p(q)\Phi_{p^2}(q)\cdots\Phi_{p^{\alpha}}(q))} \left(\begin{pmatrix} q - \Omega_{R/A,\square}^* \end{pmatrix}_p^{\wedge} \end{pmatrix}/(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1) \\ \downarrow \\ H^* \left(\begin{pmatrix} q - \mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\square}^* \end{pmatrix}_p^{\wedge}/(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1) \right) \xleftarrow{\simeq} \eta_{(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)} \left(\begin{pmatrix} q - \mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A,\square}^* \end{pmatrix}_p^{\wedge} \end{pmatrix}/(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)$$

Let us explain what happens here: The right vertical arrow is an isomorphism for obvious reasons, and the bottom arrow is the quasi-isomorphism from [Stacks, Tag 0F7T]. The top row comes from the map of complexes

$$\phi_{\Box} \colon \left(q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}\right)_p^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \left(q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}\right)_p^{\wedge}$$

which is constructed as in 4.29 except that we put $\phi_{\Box}(\mathrm{d}T_i) \coloneqq \Phi_p(q)T_i^{p-1}\,\mathrm{d}T_i$.^(4.4) By construction, the image of ϕ_{\Box} is contained in the subcomplex $\eta_{\Phi_p(q)}((q-\Omega_{R/A,\Box}^*)_p^{\wedge})$, hence the top row $\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha}$ of the diagram has the indicated form.

4.33. Lemma. — The morphism $\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha}$ from the diagram from 4.32 is a quasi-isomorphism.

Proof. This is a general feature of prismatic cohomology. If we consider $S := \hat{R}_p[\zeta_p]$ and the q-de Rham prism $(\hat{A}_p[\![q-1]\!], (\Phi_p(q)))$, then $(q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box})_p^{\wedge} \simeq \mathbb{A}_{S/\widehat{A}_p[\![q-1]\!]}$ by [BS19, Theorem 16.22]. As we'll check below, this identifies ϕ_{\Box} with the primsatic Frobenius. Now for any prism (B, J), [BS19, Theorem 15.3] shows that the relative Frobenius

$$\left(\mathbb{A}_{S/B}\otimes^{\mathbf{L}}_{B,\phi^{\alpha}_{B}}B\right)^{\wedge}_{(p,J)} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbf{L}\eta_{(J\phi_{B}(J)\cdots\phi^{\alpha-1}_{B}(J))}\mathbb{A}_{S/B}.$$

is a quasi-isomorphism, which is what we want.

To check that ϕ_{\Box} agrees with the prismatic Frobenius, first observe that with the same definition, one can define an endomorphism ϕ_{\Box} for any *q*-PD de Rham complex as in [BS19, Construction 16.20]. We claim that each of them computes the prismatic Frobenius. To show this, consider the cosimplicial complex $M^{\bullet,*}$ from the proof of [BS19, Theorem 16.22]. Applying our construction of ϕ_{\Box} for *q*-PD de Rham complexes yields an endomorphism $\phi_{\Box}: M^{\bullet,*} \to M^{\bullet,*}$. Restricted to $M^{0,*}$, this is the endomorphism we started with. Restricted to the cosimplicial $\widehat{A}_p[[q-1]]$ -module $M^{\bullet,0}$, we get the prismatic Frobenius, since in degree 0 the endomorphism ϕ_{\Box} is induced by the Frobenii of the *q*-PD envelopes involved (which are δ -rings).

4.34. A non-canonical isomorphism II. — Since $\phi^{\alpha}: A[q] \to A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ factors through the projection $A[q] \to A$, the top left corner in the diagram from 4.32 is isomorphic to $(\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))^{\wedge}_p$. By (b_{α}) , the bottom left corner is isomorphic to $(q-\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^*_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p$. This yields a quasi-isomorphism

$$s_{\Box/A} \colon \left(\Omega_{R/A} \otimes^{\mathcal{L}}_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)_{p}^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/A}\right)_{p}^{\wedge},$$

which has the desired form from Proposition 4.2. As we've already mentioned above, this quasiisomorphism is a priori non-canonical and compatibility with the \mathbb{E}_{∞} -A[q]-algebra structures is far from clear.

As we'll see now, the map $s_{\Box/A}$ from 4.34 is, in fact, canonical.

4.35. A functorial comparison map. — Let $\pi: P \to \hat{R}_p$ be any surjection from a *p*-completely ind-smooth $\delta - \hat{A}_p$ -algebra (see 1.10 for the terminology). Let $D(\pi)$ denote the divided power envelope of ker π . Then $D(\pi)$ has a canonical δ -structure by [BS19, Corollary 2.39]. We let $\Omega^*_{D(\pi)/A}$ and $\check{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A} \cong \Omega^*_{P/A} \otimes_P D(\pi)$ denote the ordinary and the PD-de Rham complex

^(4.4)Under the identification $\eta_{\Phi_p(q)}(q - \Omega^*_{R/A,\Box}) \cong \eta_{(q^p-1)}(q - \operatorname{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box})$, this agrees with applying $\eta_{(q-1)}$ to the Frobenius morphism from 4.29 (which sends $q \mapsto q^p$, so $\eta_{(q-1)}$ on the left-hand side corresponds to $\eta_{(q^p-1)}$ on the right-hand side).

of $D(\pi)$, respectively. Note that the crystalline Poincaré lemma [Stacks, Tag 07LG] shows that the canonical map $(\check{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A})^{\wedge}_p \to (\Omega^*_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p$ is an equivalence on underlying \mathbb{E}_{∞} -algebras.

Using 2.44 (for which we only need a Λ_p -A-algebra structure on $D(\pi)$, so the given δ -structure does it) we get a comparison map $s_{p^{\alpha}/A} \colon D(\pi) \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \to q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(D(\pi)/A)$ which induces a morphism of differential-graded A[q]-algebras

$$\Omega^*_{D(\pi)/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \longrightarrow q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{D(\pi)/A}$$

Now let $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \overline{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A} \coloneqq q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{D(\pi)/A} / (p^{\infty}\text{-torsion})$. Since $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \overline{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A}$ is *p*-local (because $D(\pi)$ is, see Corollary 2.19(*a*)) and *p*-torsion-free, its differentials must be PD-derivations. Therefore, we get an induced map $\check{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \overline{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A}$ and hence also a map

$$\left(\check{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A} \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)_p^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{D(\pi)/A}\right)_p^{\wedge}$$

where the completion is the degree-wise underived *p*-completion (following our convention from 1.10). Finally, since $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{R/A}$ is degree-wise *p*-torsion-free by (a_{α}) , the natural map $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{D(\pi)/A} \rightarrow q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{R/A}$ induces a morphism $(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \overline{\Omega}^*_{D(\pi)/A})_p^{\wedge} \rightarrow (q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}$ of differential-graded A[q]-algebras. Summarising, we obtain the following diagram of \mathbb{E}_{∞} -A[q]algebras

Since the left vertical arrow is an equivalence, the bottom dashed arrow s_{π} exists uniquely up to contractible choice.

We claim that s_{π} doesn't depend on the choice of $\pi: P \to \hat{R}_p$ (up to equivalence in the ∞ -category $\operatorname{CAlg}(\hat{\mathcal{D}}_p(A[q]))$ of *p*-complete \mathbb{E}_{∞} -A[q]-algebras). Indeed, let $\pi': P' \to \hat{R}_p$ be another surjection from a *p*-completely ind-smooth $\delta \cdot \hat{A}_p$ -algebra. If there exists a $\delta \cdot \hat{A}_p$ -algebra map $f: P \to P'$ such that $\pi = \pi' \circ f$, then it's clear that $s_{\pi} \simeq s_{\pi'}$ since the the whole construction is functorial with respect to $\delta \cdot \hat{A}_p$ -algebra maps. In general, let \mathcal{C}_R denote the category of surjections $(\pi: P \to \hat{R}_p)$ as above, with morphisms $\pi \to \pi'$ given by $\delta \cdot \hat{A}_p$ -algebra morphisms $f: P \to P'$ such that $\pi = \pi' \circ f$. Then \mathcal{C}_R has coproducts given by $\pi \sqcup \pi' = (\pi \otimes \pi': (P \otimes_A P')_p^{\wedge} \to \hat{R}_p)$, hence it is weakly contractible.^(4.5) Therefore, for arbitrary elements in \mathcal{C}_R , there's an essentially unique way to compare them, proving that they all give rise to the same map s_{π} up to equivalence.

Furthermore, this map can be made functorial in R. The easiest way to do so is to simply choose a functorial surjection $\pi_R \colon P_R \twoheadrightarrow \widehat{R}_p$ from a *p*-completely ind-smooth δ -ring; for example, one can take $P_R \coloneqq \widehat{A}_p\{W(\widehat{R}_p)\}_p^{\wedge}$ to be the *p*-complete free δ - \widehat{A}_p -algebra on the set $W(\widehat{R}_p)$ of *p*-typical Witt vectors, together with its canonical surjection

$$\pi_R \colon P_R \longrightarrow W(\widehat{R}_p) \longrightarrow \widehat{R}_p$$

Here $W(\hat{R}_p)$ is equipped with its \hat{A}_p -algebra structure induced via $\hat{A}_p \to W(\hat{A}_p) \to W(\hat{R}_p)$, using the δ -structure on \hat{A}_p . This yields the desired functoriality.

^(4.5)If \mathcal{C} is any ∞ -category with coproducts, the diagonal $\Delta: \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{C} \times \mathcal{C}$ has a left adjoint, which forces $|\Delta|: |\mathcal{C}| \to |\mathcal{C}| \times |\mathcal{C}|$ to be an equivalence. Then all $\pi_*|\mathcal{C}|$ must be singletons.

4.36. Remark. — A conceptually nicer way would be to consider the category C of all pairs $(R, \pi: P \to \hat{R}_p)$ together with its forgetful functor $U: C \to \text{Sm}_A$ into the category of smooth A-algebras. In 4.35 we've constructed a natural transformation

$$s_{(-)} \colon \left(\check{\Omega}_{D(-)/A} \otimes^{\mathcal{L}}_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \right)_{p}^{\wedge} \Longrightarrow \left(q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{-/A} \right)_{p}^{\wedge} \circ U \,.$$

One can show that $(\Omega_{-/A} \otimes^{\mathbf{L}}_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))^{\wedge}_{p}$ is the left Kan extension of the functor on the left-hand side along $U.^{(4.6)}$ Then the universal property of left Kan extension provides the desired natural transformation.

Armed with a functorial comparison map, we'll now prove the remaining two implications.

Proof of $(b_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (c_{\alpha})$. We need to prove that the natural transformation

$$\left(\Omega_{-/A} \otimes^{\mathbf{L}}_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)_{p}^{\wedge} \Longrightarrow \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{-/A}\right)_{p}^{\wedge}$$

constructed in 4.35 and Remark 4.36 is an equivalence. As both sides are étale sheaves by Corollary 3.33, it's enough to do this in the case where there exists an étale map $\Box: A[T_1, \ldots, T_n] \to R$. As in 4.10, we get a $\delta - \hat{A}_p$ -algebra structure on \hat{R}_p , thus making (id: $\hat{R}_p \to \hat{R}_p$) into an object of \mathcal{C}_R . The corresponding divided power envelope is just \hat{R}_p itself and so, with notation as in 4.35, s_{id} is a morphism of differential-graded A[q]-algebras

$$\left(\Omega_{R/A}^* \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)_p^{\wedge} \longrightarrow \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/A}^*\right)_p^{\wedge}.$$

We claim that this map coincides with the quasi-isomorphism $s_{\Box/A}$ from 4.32, which would finish the proof.

Both s_{id} and $s_{\Box/A}$ are given as explicit maps of differential-graded A[q]-algebras. By the universal property of de Rham complexes, it is thus enough to check that s_{id} and $s_{\Box/A}$ agree in degree 0. In fact, it's enough to check this after postcomposition with the comparison map $c_{p^{\alpha}/A}: q \cdot W_{p^{\alpha}}(\hat{R}_p/A) \to \hat{R}_p[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$, which we know to be injective as a consequence of (\mathbf{b}_{α}) . By construction, s_{id} is given by the comparison map

$$s_{p^{\alpha}/A} \colon \widehat{R}_p \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \longrightarrow q \operatorname{-W}_{p^{\alpha}}(\widehat{R}_p/A)$$

from 2.44 in degree 0, using the δ -A-algebra structure on \hat{R}_p . We've noted in 2.44 that $c_{p^{\alpha}/A} \circ s_{p^{\alpha}/A}$ is given by the linearised $(p^{\alpha})^{\text{th}}$ Adams operation of \hat{R}_p . But that's just $\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha}$! By unravelling 4.32, we see that $s_{\Box/A}$ in degree 0, postcomposed with $c_{p^{\alpha}/A}$, is also given by $\phi_{\Box/A}^{\alpha}$. This finishes the proof.

^(4.6)For any $R \in \mathrm{Sm}_A$, the value of the left Kan extension at R is given by $\mathrm{colim}(\mathcal{C}_{/R} \to \mathcal{C} \to \mathrm{CAlg}(\widehat{\mathcal{D}}_p(A[q])))$. Using that \mathcal{C}_R is weakly contractible, it will thus be enough to check that $\mathcal{C}_R \to \mathcal{C}_{/R}$ is cofinal. The same argument as in 4.35 shows that $\mathcal{C}_{/R}$ has coproducts. Thus, if we choose any $\pi_0 \in \mathcal{C}_R$, then the slice category projection $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})_{\pi_0/} \to \mathcal{C}_{/R}$ will be a right adjoint, with left adjoint given by $- \sqcup \pi_0$. In particular, $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})_{\pi_0/} \to \mathcal{C}_{/R}$ is cofinal. Now let $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})^{\mathrm{surj}} \subseteq \mathcal{C}_{/R}$ be the full subcategory spanned by those $((R', \pi') \in \mathcal{C}, (R' \to R) \in (\mathrm{Sm}_A)_{/R})$ for which $R' \to R$ is surjective. By inspection, the image of $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})_{\pi_0/} \to \mathcal{C}_{/R}$ lands in $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})^{\mathrm{surj}}$. The same adjointness argument then shows that $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})_{\pi_0/} \to (\mathcal{C}_{/R})^{\mathrm{surj}}$ is cofinal too, hence $(\mathcal{C}_{/R})^{\mathrm{surj}} \to \mathcal{C}_{/R}$ must also be cofinal. Finally, $\mathcal{C}_R \to (\mathcal{C}_{/R})^{\mathrm{surj}}$ is a right adjoint, hence cofinal: The left adjoint simply sends a surjection $\pi' \colon P \to \widehat{R}'_p$ to its composition with $\widehat{R}'_p \to \widehat{R}_p$.

Proof of $(c_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (d_{\alpha})$. The idea is to combine the equivalence from Proposition 4.2 with the Cartier isomorphism. Let $R \cong A[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$ be a polynomial ring; we equip \hat{R}_p with the identity *p*-completely étale framing $\Box: \hat{A}_p \langle T_1, \ldots, T_n \rangle \to \hat{R}_p$ and the corresponding $\delta - \hat{A}_p$ -algebra structure given by $\delta(T_i) = 0$. Furthermore, let

$$s_{\Box/A} \colon \left(\Omega_{R/A}^* \otimes_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)_p^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \left(q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/A}^*\right)_p^{\wedge}$$

be the explicit quasi-isomorphism from 4.32. We note that the left-hand side can be rewritten as $(\Omega_{R_0/\mathbb{Z}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))_p^{\wedge}$, where $R_0 := \mathbb{Z}[T_1, \ldots, T_n]$.

Now assume $\xi \in q$ - $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^{i}_{R/A}$ satisfies $d\xi \equiv 0 \mod p$. Letting $\overline{\xi}$ denote the image of ξ in q- $\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^{*}_{R/A}/p$; we see that $\overline{\xi}$ is a cycle. Since both source and target of $s_{\Box/A}$ are *p*-torsion-free (using (a_{α}) , which we already know), it induces a quasi-isomorphism

$$\overline{s}_{\Box/A} \colon \Omega^*_{(R_0/p)/\mathbb{F}_p} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} (A/p)[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \xrightarrow{\simeq} q \cdot \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega^*_{R/A}/p.$$

Consequently, we can write $\overline{\xi} = \overline{s}_{\Box/A}(\overline{\vartheta}) + d\overline{\xi}_0$, where $\overline{\vartheta}$ is a cycle in the base changed de Rham complex $\Omega^i_{(R_0/p)/\mathbb{F}_p} \otimes_{\mathbb{F}_p} (A/p)[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}} - 1)$. But cycles in the de Rham complex of a polynomial ring over \mathbb{F}_p can be very explicitly described using the Cartier isomorphism, or rather the ideas that lead to it. Namely, we can write $\overline{\vartheta} = \overline{\vartheta}_0 + d\overline{\vartheta}_1$, where $\overline{\vartheta}_0$ is an A[q]-linear combination of terms of the form $T_1^{pv_1} \cdots T_n^{pv_n}(T_{n_1}^{p-1} dT_{n_1}) \cdots (T_{n_i}^{p-1} dT_{n_i})$, where $v_1, \ldots, v_d \ge 0$ and $1 \le n_1 < n_2 < \ldots < n_i \le n$. Now choose lifts ξ_0, ϑ_0 and ϑ_1 of $\overline{\xi}_0, \overline{\vartheta}_0$, and $\overline{\vartheta}_1$, respectively. Then $\xi \equiv s_{\Box/A}(\vartheta_0) + ds_{\Box}(\vartheta_1) + d\xi_0 \mod p$. Both $ds_{\Box}(\vartheta_1)$ and $d\xi_0$ are in the image of $F_p: q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha+1}}\Omega^*_{R/A} \to q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^*_{R/A}$ since $F_p \circ d \circ V_p = d$. Furthermore, we've seen in the proof of $(b_{\alpha}) \Rightarrow (c_{\alpha})$ above that $s_{\Box/A}$ is induced by the comparison map $s_{p^{\alpha}/A}$ from 2.44. This map sends T_i to its Teichmüller lift $\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_i)$ since $\delta(T_i) = 0$. Hence $s_{\Box/A}(\vartheta_0)$ is an A[q]-linear combination of terms of the form

$$\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_1)^{pv_1}\cdots\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_n)^{pv_n}\left(\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_{n_1})^{p-1}\,\mathrm{d}\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_{n_1})\right)\cdots\left(\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_{n_i})^{p-1}\,\mathrm{d}\tau_{p^{\alpha}}(T_{n_i})\right),$$

which are also in the image of F_p . This finishes the proof.

§4.5. Proof of the main results II: The global case

In the previous section we've carried out the induction outlined in our battle plan 4.3. It remains to prove the global cases of Propositions 4.1 and 4.2 as wellas Theorem 4.28. Fortunately, these are all easily reduced to the p-typical cases.

Proof of Proposition 4.1. We show that $q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_R^*$ is degree-wise *p*-torsion-free using induction on *m*. The case m = 1 is covered by (a_0) . Now let m > 1. Using étale descent as in the proofs of Lemmas 4.6 and 4.7, we can reduce to the case where *R* is a polynomial ring, and then by base change and Lemma 3.16 we can reduce to the case $A = \mathbb{Z}$.

By Corollary 2.38 and Proposition 3.12(*a*), we see that $q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/\mathbb{Z}}$ is degree-wise finitely generated over the noetherian ring $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)$. By the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 3.23, it's therefore enough to show *p*-torsion freeness after applying each of the functors

$$(-)\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{p}\end{bmatrix}, \quad (-)^{\wedge}_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}, \quad \text{and} \quad (-)\begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{q^{m/\ell}-1} & \ell \neq p \end{bmatrix},$$

where ℓ ranges over all prime factors $\neq p$ of m. After localisation at p, the p-torsion freeness is trivial. After $(p, q^{m/\ell} - 1)$ -adic completion, both ℓ and $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}$ become units and so

$$F_{\ell} \colon \left(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^*\right)_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\cong} \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{m/\ell} \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^*\right)_{(p,q^{m/\ell}-1)}^{\wedge}$$

is a graded isomorphism with inverse $[\ell]_{q^{m/\ell}}^{-1}V_{\ell}$. By the inductive hypothesis, the right-hand side is *p*-torsion-free, hence so is the left-hand side. Finally, if α is the exponent of *p* in the prime factorisation of *m*, then $q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^* [1/(q^{m/\ell} - 1) \mid \ell \neq p]$ is isomorphic to a flat base change of $q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/\mathbb{Z}}^*$, as was argued in the proof of Lemma 3.23, so we're done by (a_{α}) . \Box

To prove Proposition 4.2, we first need a q-de Rham–Witt analogue of Lemma 2.29:

4.37. Lemma. — Let R be any A-algebra and let $m = p^{\alpha}n$ be an integer, where α is the exponent of p in the prime factorisation of m. Then there's an isomorphism of differential-graded $A_{(p)}[q]$ -algebras

$$\left(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A}\right)_{(p)} \cong \prod_{d|n} q-\mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}\Omega^*_{R/A} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1),\psi^d} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/\left(\Phi_d(q)\cdots\Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)\right),$$

where $\psi^d \colon \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \to \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/(\Phi_d(q)\cdots\Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q))$ is the map sending $q \mapsto q^d$.

Proof. Let us abbreviate the right-hand side by Π_m^* . We'll show that $(\Pi_m^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$ exhibits the same universal property as $((q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R/A}^*)_{(p)})_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. To do so, one must first construct the structure of a q-FV-system of differential-graded A-algebras over R on $(\Pi_m^*)_{m\in\mathbb{N}}$. Using Lemma 2.29 as well as $q-\mathbb{W}_m(-)_{(p)} \cong q-\mathbb{W}_m((-)_{(p)})$ by Corollary 2.19(*a*), we can equip each Π_m^0 with a $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R) \otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(A)} A_{(p)}[q]/(q^m-1)$ -algebra structure. To construct Frobenii and Verschiebungen, we proceed in the exact same way as in the proof of Lemma 2.29. It's straightforward to verify that these satisfy the conditions from Definition 3.1(*b*), Definition 3.6(*c*), and the Teichmüller conditions (τ_V) and (τ_F) . The existence of A[q]-linear Verschiebungen implies that the $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R)\otimes_{q-\mathbb{W}_m(A)} A_{(p)}[q]/(q^m-1)$ -algebra structure on Π_m^0 factors through a $q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)_{(p)}$ -algebra structure.

This finishes the construction of the desired structure on $(\Pi_m^*)_{m \in \mathbb{N}}$. To prove universality, one can use the same argument as in the proof of Lemma 2.29.

Proof of Proposition 4.2. According to Lemma 4.37, we can decompose $(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega_{R/A}^*)_p^{\wedge}$ into a product of base changes of $(q-\mathbb{W}_p^{\alpha}\Omega_{R/A}^*)_p^{\wedge}$ along $\psi^d \colon \mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \to \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/(\Phi_d(q)\cdots\Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q))$. These maps are flat, so the decomposition also works on a derived level. Similarly, we can decompose

$$\left(\Omega_{R/A} \otimes^{\mathbf{L}}_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/(q^m - 1)\right)_p^{\wedge} \simeq \prod_{d|n} \left(\Omega_{R/A} \otimes^{\mathbf{L}}_{A,\phi^{\alpha}} A[q]/\left(\Phi_d(q) \cdots \Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)\right)\right)_p^{\wedge}$$

The desired equivalence can now be constructed by matching up factors, using the *p*-typical case (c_{α}) . This also needs

$$A[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1),\psi^{d}}^{\mathbf{L}} \mathbb{Z}_{(p)}[q]/(\Phi_{d}(q)\cdots\Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)) \simeq A_{(p)}[q]/(\Phi_{d}(q)\cdots\Phi_{p^{\alpha}d}(q)),$$

which is straightforward to check.
Proof of Theorem 4.28. By Lemma 2.4, to check whether

$$(q-\mathbb{W}_m\Omega^*_{R/A})^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \to \mathrm{H}^*(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^m-1))$$

is an isomorphism, it's enough to do so after degree-wise application of the functors (-)[1/m]and $(-)_p^{\wedge}$ for all prime factors $p \mid m$. Furthermore, as both sides are degree-wise derived (q-1)-complete, the localisation can be replaced by $(-)[1/m]_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$ instead. We've seen in the proof of Lemma 4.25 that the complex q-Hdg^{*}_{R/A,□}/ $(q^m - 1)$ satisfies the conditions of Lemma 4.26. Hence the functors $(-)_p^{\wedge}$ and $(-)[1/m]_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$ commute with taking cohomology, and all completions can be computed as underived completions.

Let's consider *p*-completions first. Let α be the exponent of *p* in the prime factorisation of *m*. Both $F_{m/p^{\alpha}} \circ V_{m/p^{\alpha}} = m/p^{\alpha}$ and $V_{m/p^{\alpha}} \circ F_{m/p^{\alpha}} = [m/p^{\alpha}]_{q^{p^{\alpha}}}$ are invertible over $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q-1]]$, hence

$$F_{m/p^{\alpha}} \colon \left(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega_{R/A}^*\right)_{(p,q-1)}^{\wedge} \xrightarrow{\cong} \left(q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}} \Omega_{R/A}^*\right)_{(p,q-1)}^{\wedge}$$

(where we take the degree-wise derived completion) is an isomorphism. The same conclusion holds for $\mathrm{H}^*(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^m-1))^{\wedge}_p \to \mathrm{H}^*(q-\mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1))^{\wedge}_p$. So we're reduced to (b_{α}) , which we already know.

The argument for $(-)[1/m]_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$ is similar: Both $F_m \circ V_m = m$ and $V_m \circ F_m = [m]_q$ are invertible in $\mathbb{Z}[1/m][q-1]$, hence we're reduced to checking that

$$\left(q - \mathbb{W}_1 \Omega^*_{R/A}\left[\frac{1}{m}\right]\right)^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \longrightarrow \mathrm{H}^*\left(q - \mathrm{Hdg}^*_{R/A,\Box}\left[\frac{1}{m}\right]/(q-1)\right)$$

is an isomorphism. By Proposition 3.12(*a*), the left-hand side is just $\Omega^*_{R/A}[1/m]$, as is the right-hand side by inspection. The map between them is clearly the identity on R[1/m] in degree 0 and compatible with the differential-graded algebra structures by construction, hence it must be the identity on $\Omega^*_{R/A}[1/m]$ by the universal property of de Rham complexes. \Box

§5. A no-go result for functoriality of the *q*-Hodge complex

In this final section, we'll show the following result, which perhaps comes as an unwelcome surprise after our very promising Theorem 4.28.

5.1. Theorem. — Let A be a perfectly covered Λ -ring (in the sense of Remark 2.46). If A is not a Q-algebra, then there can be no functor

$$q$$
-Hdg_{-/A}: Sm_A $\longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{(q-1)}(A\llbracket q-1\rrbracket)$

from the category of smooth A-algebras into the ∞ -category of derived (q-1)-complete $A[\![q-1]\!]$ -modules in such a way that for all $m \in \mathbb{N}$ there's also a functorial graded $A[\![q-1]\!]$ -module isomorphism

$$(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{-/A})^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathrm{H}^*(q - \mathrm{Hdg}_{-/A}/^{\mathrm{L}}(q^m - 1))$$

and for all $d \mid m$ the canonical projection $q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{-/A}/^{\operatorname{L}}(q^m-1) \to q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{-/A}/^{\operatorname{L}}(q^d-1)$ induces the Frobenius $F_{m/d}$ on q-de Rham–Witt complexes.

5.2. Remark. — Over \mathbb{Q} , the q-derivatives from 4.8 can be expressed in terms of the usual derivatives; see the argument in [Sch17, Lemma 4.1]. Hence in this case the q-Hodge complex can be made functorial, but it's no more interesting than the usual de Rham complex itself.

5.3. Remark. — In [MW24], we'll explain how in certain situations a functorial *derived* q-Hodge complex can be constructed. This will constitute a partial fix for the non-existence result in Theorem 5.1.

We'll now start the proof of Theorem 5.1.

5.4. Derived q-Hodge complexes. — Suppose a functor as in Theorem 5.1 would exist. Let Ani(CRing_A) denote the ∞ -category of *animated A-algebras* in the sense of Clausen. It can be explicitly constructed as the ∞ -categorical localisation of the category of simplicial commutative A-algebras at all weak equivalences. Via left Kan extension from polynomial A-algebras (formerly known as forming the *non-abelian derived functor*), we can define a *derived q-Hodge complex*

$$\operatorname{Lq-Hdg}_{-/A}:\operatorname{Ani}(\operatorname{CRing}_A)\longrightarrow \widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{(q-1)}(A\llbracket q-1\rrbracket)$$

5.5. *q*-de Rham–Witt filtrations. — By left Kan extending (or non-abelian deriving) the Postnikov filtration $\tau^{\leq i}(q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{-/A}/^{\mathrm{L}}(q^m-1))$, we obtain for any animated A-algebra R an ascending filtration $\mathrm{Fil}_*^{q-\mathrm{W}\Omega}(\mathrm{L}q-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A}/^{\mathrm{L}}(q^m-1))$ which we call the *q*-de Rham–Witt filtration. Since the Postnikov filtration is exhaustive, we get

$$\mathrm{L}q\operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A}/^{\mathrm{L}}(q^m-1) \simeq \left(\operatorname{colim}_{i \ge 0} \operatorname{Fil}_i^{q \operatorname{-W}\Omega} \left(\mathrm{L}q\operatorname{-Hdg}_{R/A}/^{\mathrm{L}}(q^m-1)\right)\right)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$$

Furthermore, if a functorial isomorphism $(q - \mathbb{W}_m \Omega^*_{-/A})^{\wedge}_{(q-1)} \cong \mathrm{H}^*(q - \mathrm{Hdg}_{-/A}/^{\mathrm{L}}(q^m - 1))$ exists, then associated graded of the q-de Rham-Witt filtration is given by

$$\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{q-\mathbb{W}\Omega}\left(q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A}/^{\mathcal{L}}(q^{m}-1)\right) \simeq \left(\operatorname{L} q-\mathbb{W}_{m}\Omega_{R/A}^{i}\right)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}\left[-i\right]$$

Let us also remark that the 0th filtration step of the q-de Rham–Witt filtration is always given by $\operatorname{Fil}_0^{q-\mathbb{W}\Omega}(q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{R/A}/{}^{\operatorname{L}}(q^m-1)) \simeq q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)_{(q-1)}^{\wedge}$. Indeed, using the above description of the associated graded $\operatorname{gr}_0^{q-\mathbb{W}\Omega}$, we only have to show that $\operatorname{L} q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_m(R/A)$ is an equivalence. Base change along the faithfully flat map $A \to A_{\infty}$ and Lemma 2.45 reduce this to a question about absolute q-Witt vectors, which follows inductively from Proposition 2.14. Proof of Theorem 5.1. If A is not a Q-algebra, then we find a prime p such that $A_p \not\cong 0$. Consider $R \coloneqq (\mathcal{O}_C \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A)_p^{\wedge}$, where \mathcal{O}_C is the ring of integers in a complete algebraically closed extension of \mathbb{Q}_p . Note that $R \not\cong 0$ since \mathcal{O}_C is the p-completion of a free Z-module. We also note that \mathcal{O}_C is an integral perfectoid ring in the sense of [BMS18, Definition 3.5], so we can write $\mathcal{O}_C \cong A_{\inf}(\mathcal{O}_C)/\xi$ for some nonzerodivisor $\xi \in A_{\inf}(\mathcal{O}_C)$ such that $\delta(\xi)$ is a unit. Here δ refers to the usual δ -structure on $A_{\inf}(\mathcal{O}_C)$. If we define $W \coloneqq (A_{\inf}(\mathcal{O}_C) \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}} A)_p^{\wedge}$, then ξ is also a nonzerodivisor on and $W/\xi \cong R$.

As we'll see in Lemma 5.6 below, $(Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge} \simeq W[\![q-1]\!]$; in particular, it is static in the sense of 1.10. Similarly, $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}$ is static and flat over $\mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!]$. Hence all derived quotients $(-)/^L(q^m-1)$ can be identified with actual quotients. We'll now play around with the filtrations on $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/(q^m-1)$ and $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/(q^m-1)$ for m = 1 and m = p and derive a contradiction.

Case 1: m = 1. Consider the element $\xi \in W[\![q-1]\!] \cong (Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge}$. Since ξ vanishes under $q-\mathbb{W}_1(W/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_1(R/A)$ and the diagram

commutes, we see that ξ vanishes in $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/(q-1)$ and so ξ must be divisible by (q-1) in $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}$.

Case 2: m = p. Consider the element $\phi(\xi) - \Phi_p(q)\delta(\xi) \in W[[q-1]] \cong (Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge}$, where ϕ denotes the Frobenius of the δ -ring $A_{inf}(\mathcal{O}_C)$. Then the image of ξ modulo $q^p - 1$ agrees with the image of the Teichmüller lift $\tau_p(\xi)$ under $q-\mathbb{W}_p(W/A) \to (Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge}/(q^p-1)$. Indeed, this follows from an unravelling of first the proof of Lemma 5.6(a) and then the map from Lemma 2.33: We must check that $\varepsilon_p(\tau_p(\xi)) = -\delta(\xi)$, which follows from the fact that the section $s_p: A_{inf}(\mathcal{O}_C) \to \mathbb{W}_p(A_{inf}(\mathcal{O}_C))$ coming from the δ -structure on $A_{inf}(\mathcal{O}_C)$ satisfies $s_p(\xi) = (\xi, \delta(\xi)) = \tau_p(\xi) + V_p(\delta(\xi))$. Now the Teichmüller lift $\tau_p(\xi)$ vanishes under $q-\mathbb{W}_p(W/A) \to q-\mathbb{W}_p(R/A)$. Since the diagram

$$\begin{array}{ccc} q \text{-}\mathbb{W}_{p}(W/A) & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{Fil}_{0}^{q}\text{-}\mathbb{W}\Omega\left(\mathrm{L}q\text{-}\mathrm{Hdg}_{W/A}/(q^{p}-1)\right) & \longrightarrow & \left(\mathrm{L}q\text{-}\mathrm{Hdg}_{W/A}\right)_{p}^{\wedge}/(q^{p}-1) \\ & & \downarrow & & \downarrow \\ q \text{-}\mathbb{W}_{p}(R/A) & \longrightarrow & \mathrm{Fil}_{0}^{q}\text{-}\mathbb{W}\Omega\left(\mathrm{L}q\text{-}\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A}/(q^{p}-1)\right) & \longrightarrow & \left(\mathrm{L}q\text{-}\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A}\right)_{p}^{\wedge}/(q^{p}-1) \end{array}$$

commutes, it follows that the image of $\phi(\xi) - \Phi_p(q)\delta(\xi)$ vanishes in $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/(q^p-1)$ and so it must be divisible by (q^p-1) in $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}$.

We're ready to derive our contradiction. In the mod p reduction $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/p$, we see that $\phi(\xi) - \Phi_p(q)\delta(\xi) \equiv \xi^p - (q-1)^{p-1}\delta(\xi) \mod p$ is divisible by $q^p - 1 \equiv (q-1)^p \mod p$. Since ξ^p is also divisible by $(q-1)^p$ and $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/p$ is flat over $\mathbb{F}_p[\![q-1]\!]$, it follows that $\delta(\xi)$ is divisible by (q-1). In particular, $\delta(\xi)$ vanishes in $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/(p,q-1)$. By Lemma 5.6(c) we see that $\delta(\xi)$ already vanishes in R/p. Since $\delta(\xi)$ is a unit by assumption, this forces $R/p \cong 0$, hence $R \cong 0$ by the derived Nakayama lemma [Stacks, Tag 09B9]. This is the desired contradiction! The following technical lemma was used in the proof.

5.6. Lemma. — With notation as above, the following are true:

- (a) $(Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge} \simeq W[[q-1]].$
- (b) $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}$ is a static A[[q-1]]-module and flat over $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q-1]]$.
- (c) The map $R/p \cong q W_1(R)/p \to (Lq Hdg_{R/A})_p^{\wedge}/(p, q-1)$ induced by the 0th step in the q-de Rham–Witt filtration is injective.

Proof. It's well-known that the *p*-completed cotangent complex $(L_{A_{inf}(\mathcal{O}_C)/\mathbb{Z}_p})_p^{\wedge}$ vanishes. Hence the graded pieces of the *p*-completed *q*-de Rham–Witt filtration for $(Lq-Hdg_{W/A}/L(q-1))_p^{\wedge}$ are

$$\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{q-\mathbb{W}\Omega}\left(\operatorname{L} q-\operatorname{Hdg}_{W/A}/^{\operatorname{L}}(q-1)\right)_{p}^{\wedge} \simeq \left(\operatorname{L} \Omega^{i}_{\operatorname{A}_{\operatorname{inf}}(\mathcal{O}_{C})/\mathbb{Z}_{p}} \otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{\operatorname{L}} A\right)_{p}^{\wedge}[-i] \simeq 0$$

for i > 0. It follows that $(Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge/L}(q-1) \simeq q-\mathbb{W}_1(W/A)_p^{\wedge} \simeq W$. In general, for any derived (p, q-1)-complete object $M \in \widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{(p,q-1)}(\mathbb{Z}_p[\![q-1]\!])$ we have $M \simeq \operatorname{Rlim}_{\alpha \ge 0} M/^L(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$. Indeed, by the derived Nakayama lemma [Stacks, Tag 0G1U] this can be checked after applying $(-)/^L p$, and then $M/^L(p, q^{p^{\alpha}}-1) \simeq M/^L(p, (q-1)^{p^{\alpha}})$, so we recover the condition that $M/^L p$ is derived (q-1)-complete. In particular, we obtain a map

$$\operatorname{Rlim}_{\alpha \ge 0} q \operatorname{-W}_{p^{\alpha}}(W/A)^{\wedge}_{(p,q-1)} \longrightarrow \operatorname{Rlim}_{\alpha \ge 0} (\operatorname{L} q \operatorname{-Hdg}_{W/A})^{\wedge}_{p}/{}^{\operatorname{L}}(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1).$$

where the limit on the left-hand side is taken along the q-Witt vector Frobenii. Here's the only time we use our assumption that $Lq-Hdg_{W/A}/^{L}(q^{p^{\alpha}+1}-1) \rightarrow Lq-Hdg_{W/A}/^{L}(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)$ induces the Frobenii on q-de Rham–Witt complexes. Using Lemma 2.45 and Corollary 2.36, we get

$$\operatorname{Rlim}_{\alpha \ge 0} q - \mathbb{W}_{p^{\alpha}}(W/A)^{\wedge}_{(p,q-1)} \simeq \left(\operatorname{Rlim}_{\alpha \ge 0} W[q]/(q^{p^{\alpha}}-1)\right)^{\wedge}_{(p,q-1)} \simeq W[\![q-1]\!]$$

In summary, we've constructed a map $W[\![q-1]\!] \to (Lq-Hdg_{W/A})_p^{\wedge}$. By construction, after $(-)/^{L}(q-1)$ this map is the identity on W, hence it is an isomorphism by the derived Nakayama lemma. This finishes the proof of (a).

For (b) and (c), we argue as above to see that the graded pieces of the *p*-completed *q*-de Rham–Witt filtration for $(Lq-Hdg_{R/A}/L(q-1))_p^{\wedge}$ are

$$\operatorname{gr}_{i}^{q-\mathbb{W}\Omega}\left(\operatorname{Lq-Hdg}_{R/A}/\operatorname{L}(q-1)\right)_{p}^{\wedge}\simeq\left(\operatorname{L}\Omega_{\mathcal{O}_{C}/\mathbb{Z}_{p}}^{i}\otimes_{\mathbb{Z}}^{\mathbb{L}}A\right)_{p}^{\wedge}[-i]\simeq0$$

By a standard fact about perfectoid rings (see [BMS19, Proposition 4.19] for example), we have $(L\Omega^i_{\mathcal{O}_C/\mathbb{Z}_p})^{\wedge}_p[-i] \simeq \mathcal{O}_C$ for all $i \ge 0$. Hence the graded pieces above are all equivalent to R. In particular, they are all static and p-torsion free. Inductively, this implies that all steps in the p-completed q-de Rham–Witt filtration must be static and p-torsion free. Furthermore, the transition maps must be injective. The same conclusion holds modulo p, which immediately shows (c). For (b), we conclude that $(Lq-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p/^L(q-1)$ is the derived p-completion of a static p-torsion free \mathbb{Z}_p -module, hence it must be static and p-torsion free itself. In general, if $M \in \widehat{\mathcal{D}}_{(q-1)}(\mathbb{Z}[[q-1]])$ is derived (q-1)-complete and $M/^L(q-1)$ is static, then M itself is static. Indeed, the map $\mathrm{H}^i(M)/(q-1) \to \mathrm{H}^i(M/^L(q-1))$ is always injective; together with [Stacks, Tag 09B9] this implies $\mathrm{H}^i(M) \cong 0$ for $i \neq 0$, hence M must indeed be static. It follows that $(Lq-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p$ is static. Moreover, p-torsion freeness implies that $(Lq-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p$ is (q-1)-completely flat in the sense of 1.10. Since $\mathbb{Z}_p[[q-1]]$ is noetherian, it follows that $(Lq-\mathrm{Hdg}_{R/A})^{\wedge}_p$ is flat on the nose. This finishes the proof of (b).

References

References

- [Aom90] Kazuhiko Aomoto, q-analogue of de Rham cohomology associated with Jackson integrals. I, Japan Academy. Proceedings. Series A. Mathematical Sciences, vol. 66, no. 7, pp. 161–164, 1990.
- [BLM21] Bhargav Bhatt, Jacob Lurie, and Akhil Mathew, *Revisiting the de Rham-Witt complex*, Astérisque, vol. 424, pp. 1–165, 2021.
- [BMS18] Bhargav Bhatt, Matthew Morrow, and Peter Scholze, *Integral p-adic Hodge theory*, Publications Mathématiques de l'IHÉS, vol. 128, pp. 219–397, 2018.
- [BMS19] _____, Topological Hochschild homology and integral p-adic Hodge theory, Publications Mathématiques. Institut de Hautes Études Scientifiques, vol. 129, pp. 199–310, 2019.
- [BO78] Pierre Berthelot and Arthur Ogus, *Notes on crystalline cohomology*, pp. vi+243. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1978.
- [Bor11] James Borger, *The basic geometry of Witt vectors, I: The affine case*, Algebra & Number Theory, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 231–285, 2011.
- [BS19] Bhargav Bhatt and Peter Scholze, *Prisms and prismatic cohomology*, 2019. arXiv: 1905. 08229 [math.AG].
- [GSWZ] Stavros Garoufalidis et al., The Habiro ring of a number field, in preparation.
- [Hes15] Lars Hesselholt, *The big de Rham-Witt complex*, Acta Mathematica, vol. 214, no. 1, pp. 135–207, 2015.
- [HM03] Lars Hesselholt and Ib Madsen, On the K-theory of local fields, Annals of Mathematics. Second Series, vol. 158, no. 1, pp. 1–113, 2003.
- [Ill79] Luc Illusie, Complexe de de Rham-Witt et cohomologie cristalline, Annales Scientifiques de l'École Normale Supérieure, Quatrième Série, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 501–661, 1979.
- [Jac10] Frank H. Jackson, *q-Difference Equations*, American Journal of Mathematics, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 305–314, 1910.
- [Kat70] Nicholas M. Katz, Nilpotent connections and the monodromy theorem: Applications of a result of Turrittin, Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques. Publications Mathématiques, no. 39, pp. 175–232, 1970.
- [L-HA] Jacob Lurie, *Higher algebra*, 2017. Available at http://people.math.harvard.edu/ ~lurie/papers/HA.pdf.
- [L-HTT] _____, *Higher topos theory*, Annals of Mathematics Studies, vol. 170, pp. xviii+925. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2009.
- [LZ04] Andreas Langer and Thomas Zink, De Rham-Witt cohomology for a proper and smooth morphism, Journal de l'Institut de Mathématiques de Jussieu, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 231–314, 2004.
- [Mol22] Semen Molokov, Prismatic cohomology and de Rham-Witt forms, 2022. arXiv: 2008.04956 [math.AG].
- [MW24] Samuel Meyer and Ferdinand Wagner, *Derived q-Hodge complexes and refined* TC⁻, 2024. arXiv: 2410.23115 [math.AT].
- [Pri19] Jonathan P. Pridham, On q-de Rham cohomology via Λ-rings, Mathematische Annalen, vol. 375, no. 1-2, pp. 425–452, 2019.
- [Sch17] Peter Scholze, *Canonical q-deformations in arithmetic geometry*, Annales de la Faculté des Sciences de Toulouse Série 6, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 1163–1192, 2017.
- [SGA_{4/2}] Alexander Grothendieck et al., Théorie des topos et cohomologie étale des schémas, Tome 2, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, vol. 270. Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1972.

References

- [Stacks] The Stacks Project Authors, *The stacks project*, 2021. Available at http://stacks.math.columbia.edu.
- [vdKal86] Wilberd van der Kallen, Descent for the K-theory of polynomial rings, Mathematische Zeitschrift, vol. 191, no. 3, pp. 405–415, 1986.
- [W-Hab] Ferdinand Wagner, *Derived q-Hodge complexes over the Habiro ring*, in preparation.
- [Wag21] _____, On q-de Rham cohomology, M.S. thesis, University of Bonn, 2021. Available at https://guests.mpim-bonn.mpg.de/ferdinand/q-deRham.pdf.
- [Waß19] Nils Waßmuth, *Prismatic cohomology in characteristic zero*, M.S. thesis, University of Bonn, 2019.